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Preface

THE purpose and scope of this history were described by the
late Hilary Saunders and myself in our general preface,
printed in the first volume. Here it is perhaps sufficient if I
recall that the story is, for reasons of space, confined largely
to operations and the policy governing them : that it is not
part of the full-length Official History of the War, and is
intended for a somewhat wider audience : that it was, never-
theless, officially commissioned, and is based throughout on
official documents, to which the fullest access was given : and
that the authors, while gratefully acknowledging official help
and advice, are alone responsible for the statements made and
the views expressed.

For help with this volume, as with the others, our debt was
particularly great to the Air Ministry Historical Branch, under
Mr. J. C. Nerney. Indeed, without the assistance of that
admirable organization, always fully and freely at our service,
we could hardly have begun our task, let alone finished it.

The text of this volume, like that of volumes one and three,
was substantially completed during 1950. The first four and
the last four chapters were written by Hilary Saunders, the
middle eight by myself. My friend and collaborator, however,
did not live to read the printer’s proofs. Throughout the whole
period of his work on this history he was in fact struggling
against ill health. His premature death was assuredly a direct
result of his immense labours, from 1940 onwards, to bring
home to his fellow-countrymen the full measure of the achieve-
ment of those whose battlefield was the blue dome of air’.

D.R.
November 1953.
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CHAPTER 1
Japan Strikes

ON a bright morning in the early summer of 1925 three men, each of
them at the head of his branch of the profession of arms, were sitting
in conference in Whitehall Gardens. The subject of their discussion
was the defence of an island, about the size of the Isle of Wight,
situated more than eight thousand miles from the United Kingdom
near the eastern entrance of the Strait of Malacca. Upon its southern
shore lay a large, humid, opulent city, upon its northern the begin-
nings of a naval base which in course of years was to be variously
described as ‘ the Gibraltar of the Far East ’, ¢ the Greatest Arsenal
of Democracy in South Eastern Asia’, and ‘ an impregnable fortress’.
When completed at a cost of some £60,000,000 it was stocked with
naval equipment of every kind from a cap-band to a 15-inch shell and
off its granite and concrete quays floated a dry-dock, 1,000 feet long
and 132 feet wide, able to hold the largest battleship. In February,
1942, the base, the city and the island endured a siege of fifteen days.
At the end of it, 70,000 exhausted defenders surrendered to 100,000
Japanese and passed into a captivity, so rigorous and brutal, as to
bring about the death of more than half of them. The fall of Singapore
was as great a disaster as British arms had ever sustained.

All this was seventeen years in the future when the three men sat at
their deliberations that May morning in London. As they proceeded
it became evident that they were not in full agreement. The subject
of their discussion was how best to provide for the defence of
the slowly growing docks and arsenals of the new base. It had been
decided in 1921 to remove the main naval base in the Far East from
its remote and exposed position at Hong Kong, and the Committee
of Imperial Defence had had under scrutiny for two years the
strategic problem provoked by the greatly enlarged and continually
expanding navy of Japan. Should Great Britain and that country fall
to war, a more central and safer spot for the Far Eastern naval base
was essential. The Committee thought they had found it on the
island of Singapore and their choice was confirmed by the Imperial
Conference of 1923. Two years passed and still the experts debated
the best methods of defending it. The First Sea Lord and the Chief
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of the [mperial General Staff favoured that form of defence which a
heavy fixed armament of 15-inch guns, accompanied by cannon of
smaller calibre, could provide. It was well tried. In one form or
another it had stood the test of many wars. Sir Hugh Trenchard,
Chief of the Air Staff, preferred a more mobile and far-ranging
scheme. To the guns, the submarines, the light surface craft, should
be added a squadron of fighter aircraft, two of torpedo bombers and
a flight of seaplanes. The installation of immovable 15-inch guns in
a fortress where they could have no effect beyond their own range
and ‘ where, in many wars, they would exercise no effect whatsoever *
was, he maintained, a mistake if they were to be the only, or the
principal, form of defence. Why not use the air force to strike at the
enemy long before he came within their range? Torpedo bombers
could do so far out to sea, 150 to 200 miles from Singapore and the
great guns.

Such revolutionary notions provoked much discussion. A com-
promise was eventually adopted, and it was agreed that the first stage
of defence should be represented by three 15-inch guns and a
complement of ordnance of smaller calibre, and that the second
stage should make provision for torpedo aircraft.

For ten years from 1927, the pendulum swung uneasily between
guns and aircraft, economy and lavishness. By 1929 the floating dock
was in position, and more guns had been added to the defence, and
No. 205 Squadron, equipped with Southampton and later with
Singapore flying boats, was stationed at Seletar near the still uncom-
pleted naval base. In 1930, when large economies in expenditure on
armaments had become necessary, it was reinforced by No. 36
(Torpedo Bomber) Squadron. The completion of the defence scheme
as a whole, however, was postponed for five years. Then in 1931 the
outbreak of what amounted to war between China and Japan gave
rise to apprehensions which two years later led to the despatch of a
second Torpedo Bomber Squadron, No. 100, to Singapore, and the
leisurely construction of two airfields. At that time the Air Staff was
probably alone in believing that Singapore might be assaulted from
some other direction than from the sea. The enemy’s fleet—and it was
obvious to all that the potential enemy was Japan—was expected to
attack the base supported by carrier-borne aircraft. To combat this
form of assault reconnaissance squadrons were necessary, backed by
squadrons capable of a sustained offensive against shipping. They
would be provided.

With Singapore primarily in mind, a dual-purpose torpedo bomber
aircraft had been developed capable of employment both in frontier
warfare and coastal defence, In times of peace squadrons equipped
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with this new type would form the air garrisons of Iraq and the
northwest frontier of India, but should danger threaten in the Pacific,
they could be transferred at short notice along the great strategic air
route linking Baghdad and Singapore.

These then were the plans, drawn up and carried through by a
succession of Chiefs of Staff over a period of twenty years, which, it
was hoped, would be enough to guarantee the safety and fighting
efficiency of this very important base. By the autumn of 1939 a total
of three 15-inch (soon to be increased to five), six 9-2-inch and
fourteen 6-inch guns were in position to defend the fortress, their
arcs of fire covering a wide area of sea to the south-east, south and
south-west of the island. To aid them, four bomber squadrons of the
Royal Air Force, of which two were torpedo bomber, were ready
with two flying boat squadrons to conduct that long range and
flexible defence which Trenchard had so long and so strongly urged.

This situation endured through the opening months of the Second
World War. In the last week of June, 1940, howeyver, the surrender of
France caused a violent quickening of the tempo and events moved
in a direction very detrimental to Great Britain and the Common-
wealth, who found themselves carrying on the war unaided and
with resources strained to the uttermost. It was in those melan-
choly circumstances that the Chiefs of Staff met in July and upon the
last day of that month gave it as their considered opinion that the
defence of Singapore must, in the absence of a fleet urgently needed
elsewhere, depend primarily upon air power.

Germany controlled every European port and naval base from
Narvik to Bordeaux. With the entry of Italy into the war, the position
in the Mediterranean was precarious and the resources of the Royal
Navy, great though they were, had been stretched almost to breaking
point. This bastion of the Far East lay many miles outside the
immediate area of hostilities and was designed to stand against a foe
who had not yet declared his intentions and might, if fortune so
willed, never do so. Nevertheless, in planning, every possibility must
be considered, provision made for every contingency. To enable
Singapore to be a firm base from which a fleet could operate, aircraft
must, if possible, be provided for its defence. The Chiefs of Staff laid
down that by the end of 1941 the strength of the Royal Air Force in
the Far Bast should consist of 336 modern first-line aircraft, supported
by adequate reserves and the necessary administrative units. They
must be ready to operate from Hong Kong to Calcutta and also
from Ceylon. They were to assure the protection of all our interests
in the Far East.

This appreciation was considered by the authorities on the spot
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and judged by them to be insufficient. On 16th October, 1940, a
conference at which all Commands in the Far East were represented,
urged that the recommended establishment of 336 aircraft should be
increased to 566. This in its view was the minimum first-line strength
required to meet our Far Eastern commitments. With an increase in
air strength in Malaya, a corresponding increase in the army,
largely to provide for the defence of the many new airfields it would
be necessary to build, was also needed.

To put down requirements on paper, however, was one thing; to
translate them into fighters, bombers and reconnaissance aircraft was
another. The translation was never made. By 8th December, 1941, the
day on which war with Japan broke out, only 362 aircraft belonging
to the Royal Air Force had been gathered together. Of these 233 were
serviceable.

This weakness in the air, due first and last to the neglect of the
Royal Air Force in years of peace, was a reason, perhaps the main
reason, why the Japanese were able to achieve complete and over-
whelming victory in a campaign which lasted but seventy days.
Throughout that brief space of time the squadrons of the Royal Air
Force and the Royal Australian Air Force charged with the defence
of Malaya were at no moment capable of dealing adequately with
those opposed to them or with the naval and military forces of the
invader. They had no modern aircraft with which to perform this
task. That is the bald truth.

It may seem strange that so vital a bastion of the Empire as
Singapore, keystone of our Far Eastern defences, should have been

~ left to defend itself with outmoded weapons in an outmoded manner

against the assault of an enemy fully alive to the implications of
modern warfare and eager to translate theory into practice. That
Singapore was in this lamentable condition was due in the last
resort not to any failure in London to appreciate the significance of
the air weapon but to the inexorable pressure of events. It had always
been understood that, if Singapore were attacked, its defence from
the air was to be secured by a prompt use of that most valuable
quality of an air force, its flexibility. A chain of airfields, stretching
from England to the Far East through the Mediterranean and India
had been constructed, so that reinforcements of fighters and bombers
could be sent in a matter of days to the fortress. That the chain might

- be interrupted or that the Royal Air Force might be fully occupied
- elsewhere had either not been contemplated, or it had been decided,

quite rightly, to construct the chain while it was still possible to do
s0, in the hope that one day enough aircraft to make proper use of it
would be forthcoming. When the crisis came, they were not; and
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the loss of Singapore was part of the price paid for the incurable
habit of the English of allowing their armed forces in times of peace
to fall far below the lowest level of safety.

This was clear enough, among others, to Duff Cooper, the energetic
Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster who had been despatched by
the Prime Minister to Singapore and the Far East three months
before the war with Japan broke out. His orders were to report on
the general situation in those territories of the British and Dutch
Empires likely to be attacked, were Japan to join Germany. An
extensive tour showed him the inadequacy of the defence and the
difficulties facing the commanders on the spot. He did what he could
by making strong representations, some of them direct to the Prime
Minister, to remedy a state of affairs for which there was, in fact,
no remedy.

On 18th November, 1940, Air Chief Marshal Sir Robert Brooke-
Popham, a veteran of the First World War, took up his duties as
Commander-in-Chief, Far East. Placed in operational control of the
army and air forces, his instructions were on two points very definite.
He was to do all that was possible to prevent war with Japan—
¢ Avoidance of war with Japan is the basis of Far East policy and
provocation must be rigidly avoided’, telegraphed the Chiefs of
Staff in March 1941, and repeated this instruction in September—
and to rely for the maintenance of the defence of the Empire in the
Far East, ‘ primarily on air power °.

A brief study of the area covered by his Command, which included
Hong Kong, Borneo, Malaya, Burma, Ceylon and the Indian Ocean
as far as Durban and Mombasa, convinced Brooke-Popham that
the problem was, fundamentally, a naval one. Although the army
and air force together might be able to defend many important bases
and to repel an enemy, his ultimate defeat could not be brought
about unless control of communications by sea was continuous and
assured. To achieve this, air superiority over inshore waters was a
necessity, and it was here that, knowing the weakness of his air forces,
the Commander-in-Chief found himself in so grave a difficulty.
Shortage of aircraft, though the principal, was not the only cause of
his embarrassment. Problems connected with the attitude of the
Services towards each other, with the Intelligence Service, with
airfields, with the warning system, with air raid precautions, with
co-operation with the Dutch in Sumatra and Java, jostled each other
in his office. Compared with these, the fact that the headquarters of
the army were five miles distant from those of the air force, that the
Governor and other civil authorities were established in Singapore
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itself and the Naval Headquarters were thirty-five miles by road from
the city, was of minor importance.

Brooke-Popham set himself grimly to his grim task. It took him
very little time to discover that relations between the army and the
air force were by no means happy ; there was mutual jealousy and a
mutual determination to avoid co-operation. It was not until the
command of both Services had been placed in new hands and their
headquarters provided with a Combined Operations Room that
these troubles began to disappear. Relations on the other hand
between the navy and the air force were good. The fact was that all
three Services had yet to learn, or rather to remember, that success in
the conduct of a war, in which all three are involved, depends on
co-operation, mutual and unrestrained.

There was, too, an almost entire lack of what is known broadly as
Intelligence. In November, 1940, the Far Eastern Combined Bureau,
established with the object of supplying information to all three
Services, was in the charge of the Navy and located at Naval Head-
quarters. The information it produced had, not unnaturally, a degree
of naval bias.

The most important weapon in the defence of Malaya and
Singapore, the Royal Air Force, was in the hands of Air Vice-Marshal
C. W. H. Pulford, destined a few months later to die tragically of
exhaustion and malaria, a fugitive from a disaster he had been power-
less to prevent. His duties were taken over on 11th February,
1942, four days before the end of the siege, by Air Vice-Marshal
P. C. Maltby, who had been his assistant for some weeks, and who,
together with so many of his officers and men, was to spend the rest
of the war in a Japanese prison camp. Upon these two men fell the
responsibility of conducting the war in the air above the tangled
jungles of Malaya and the sultry seas that wash her coasts. One had
already almost reached breaking point, brought thither by nine
months of unremitting labour rendered even more arduous by a
severe shortage of trained staff ; the other was a newcomer constrained
to assume command in the midst of a campaign already lost.

Apart from a grave lack of suitable aircraft, Pulford was con-
tinually faced with the difficulty of constructing and maintaining
suitable airfields. For this, the topography of Malaya was largely
responsible. A rugged, heavily-forested mountain range runs down
the centre of the peninsula, dividing the eastern from the western
coastal belt and ending at Johore, opposite Singapore Island. The
coastal belts themselves are cut up by many broken hills, the plains
in between them covered by plantations of rubber or paddy-fields.
Rainfall is heavy throughout the year and persistent cloud forma-
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tions, clinging to the central range of mountains, are a severe !
handicap to the flight of aircraft from one side of Malaya to the
other. Many airfields had thus to be built on the exposed east coast
and several were sited in spots where their defence proved difficult,
if not impossible. In particular, the landing grounds at Kota Bharu
and Kuantan had been placed next to long and excellent sea beaches,
a fact of which the Japanese were to take full advantage.

Despite unceasing efforts the construction of airfields progressed
but slowly. There were eleven separate provincial government
authorities in Malaya, with all of whom negotiations for the acquisi-
tion of land had to be conducted. Only when emergency powers had
been invoked, were the delays thus caused brought to an end. Other
and even more exasperating obstacles were a shortage of mechanical
plant and of operators to drive and maintain the few machines
available, and a great lack of coolies. All labour was voluntary, and
though a permanent labour committee existed to check expensive
and wasteful competition between the Services and the Government
departments, it could exercise no control over civilian firms which
paid higher rates and showed little concern with problems of defence
and little desire to co-operate. It had been dinned into ears, perhaps
not as deaf as they seemed to be, that the production of rubber and
tin was of the first and last importance and the inevitable conclusion
had been drawn.

With such an attitude it is scarcely surprising that the Royal Airt
Force should have found the difficulties of airfield construction so
numerous and so great. Nevertheless, by the outbreak of war, nine
airfields were more or less fit for use in the north-west, three in the
north-east, one in eastern, three in central and six in southern Malaya,
though most of them still lacked facilities which in any other theatre.
of war would have been regarded as indispensable. There were in,
addition four on the island of Singapore itself, of which the mos
important was Seletar, close to the naval base. That at Tengah wa
completed on the day war broke out by the united efforts of officer:
and men stationed there. They laid 400 yards of metal paving in
twenty-four hours.

Of the airfields so built, fifteen possessed no concrete runways but
were surfaced with grass, a serious matter in a country where
tropical rainfalls are frequent and severe; several, such as that at
Alor Star, were out-of-date, with congested buildings close to the
runway and few facilities for dispersal ; very few were camouflaged,
so that they ‘stood out stark and bare against the surrounding
country’. Ground defences were inadequate or non-existent. The
Commander-in-Chief had laid down that each airfield was to be
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provided with eight heavy and eight light anti-aircraft guns. When
war broke out, not one possessed this number. Only seventeen per
cent of the quantity authorised had reached Malaya. The best
defended airfield was Seletar, which had eight Bofors; the worst
those in central and southern Malaya and a number in the northern
districts, which had no anti-aircraft defence at all.

Facilities for the repair and maintenance of aircraft were equally
deficient and such as did exist were concentrated in the workshops
at Seletar, where No. 151 Maintenance Unit was stationed. These
workshops, though equipped only to deal with the requirements of at
most two squadrons, were called upon to service the whole air force
in Malaya. As twenty-seven modifications had to be made in the
Brewster Buffalo fighter alone before it could be used in battle, the
magnitude of their task is apparent. Of the two additional Main-
tenance Units authorised—Nos. 152 and 153—the former never
progressed beyond the embryo stage whilst the latter though
possessed of personnel was lacking in equipment.

Radar units to detect the approach of hostile aircraft and ships
were also inadequate. On the east coast of Malaya, where the first
landings took place, only two, those at Mersing and Bukit Chunang,
were operational. The remaining five were still under construction.
On the west coast, one had been completed and two others were
approaching completion. Only on Singapore Island itself were all the
posts, to the number of three, in working order. With so poor and
thin a radar net, adequate warning was out of the question.

As with Radar Units, so with Signals. Teleprinter lines linked Air
Headquarters in Singapore with the airfields on the island, but not
with those in the Malay Peninsula itself, which were connected with
Headquarters by only two telephone lines from north-west Malaya
and one from the north-east and east. These had to be shared with
the army and the civil administration, they passed through the
ordinary exchanges, and there were no provisions for secrecy. On
one occasion the Commander-in-Chief, in the middle of an important
conversation, was informed by the operator that his three minutes
were up and was cut off.

Such were some of the administrative difficulties with which
Pulford, and behind him Brooke-Popham, had to contend. Their
principal preoccupation, however, remained from first to last the
shortage of aircraft and the inadequacy of those which were available.
Of these, the most modern, or, more accurately, the least out-of-date,
were the Blenheims flown by Nos. 27, 34, 60 and 62 Squadrons of
the Royal Air Force and the Hudsons of Nos. 1 and 8 Squadrons of
the Royal Australian Air Force. In addition, there were Nos. 36 and
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100 (Torpedo-bomber) Squadrons equipped with Vildebeests. This
was the whole bomber and reconnaissance force available, but to
them must be added the three Catalina aircraft of No. 205 Squadron
based at Seletar, No. 230 (Flying Boat) Squadron having been with-
drawn and sent to the Middle East in May 1940. Such a force was
woefully inadequate even if used for purely defensive purposes. Nor

- were the number and quality of the fighter aircraft more satisfactory.
No. 243 Squadron, No. 488 Squadron, Royal New Zealand Air

Force, and Nos. 21 and 453 Squadrons of the Royal Australian
Air Force constituted the fighter defence of Malaya. They were
armed with Brewster Buffalos and could match the Japanese Air
Force only in bravery. The Buffalo had ‘a disappointing perform-
ance’. It was heavy and under-powered and thus had a slow rate of
climb’. Compared with the Japanese Zero fighter it took 6-1 minutes
to reach 13,000 feet as against 4-3 minutes. Its speed at 10,000 feet
was not more than 270 miles an hour as against the Zero’s 315, and
it only approached equality of speed at 20,000 feet. In an effort to
increase its speed, 303 machine-guns were substituted for -5. Its

| fighting efficiency was further diminished by its radio instruments

which were obsolete and unreliable.
A total of eighty-eight reserve aircraft had been collected, of which

v fifty-two were Buffalos, twenty-one of them being temporarily out of

action. The number of Hudsons available for replacement was seven,

of Blenheims fifteen.

To a shortage of aircraft must be added a shortage of pilots, above
all of trained pilots. Most of those serving in Malaya had come from
Australia and New Zealand straight from Flying Training Schools,
and many of them had never flown any aircraft more modern than
a Hart and “ had no experience of retractable undercarriages, variable
pitch propellers, or flaps *. The Buffalo Squadrons had been formed
only a few months, and half of them had not reached operational
efficiency. That it required but little more than four months to bring
their pilots and those of the other squadrons to a condition in which
they could operate against the enemy, is a tribute at once to their
courage and their intelligence, and to the efficiency and drive of the
squadron commanders.

Against this inadequately equipped air force, the Japanese had

* before the opening of hostilities amassed a force of some 300 modern

land-based aircraft in Indo-China, not counting those which were
carrier-borne. For bombing and reconnaissance they relied on
Army Types ‘97 and “ 99’ twin-engired aircraft. In addition the
Navy Type ‘96° was used as a torpedo-bomber. Fighter aircraft
were represented by Army Types 1’ and ‘97’ and the Navy Type
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¢ 0’ —the Zero. This last aircraft proved the greatest surprise of the
campaign. It possessed a top speed estimated at some 350 miles an
hour, was armed with two 20-mm. cannons and two 7'7-mm.
machine-guns, and was extremely manceuvrable. Moreover, its range
was appreciably increased by the fitting of an additional petrol tank
which could be jettisoned when empty. Such a fighter was more than
a match for a Buffalo and also for the Hurricane Mark II, except at
20,000 feet. The Japanese had made use of the Navy Zero against the
Chinese in the spring of 1940. Some details of its performance had
been divulged by American newspaper correspondents stationed in
Chungking, who had seen it in action at that time, and in the same
year more details had reached the Air Ministry from other sources in ‘
that city. On 2nd September, 1941, this information was duly
forwarded to the Far Eastern Combined Bureau for transmission to
Air Headquarters. It never arrived there. Moreover, in addition to ;
the information on this fighter provided by the Air Ministry, a
detailed description of it, written in Chinese, reached Singapore in
July and was duly translated. What happened next is a matter for
conjecture since all records have been destroyed; but it seems
probable that this very important report formed part of the mass of
accumulated files with which the makeshift Intelligence Section, set
up at Air Headquarters in October 1941, attempted to deal. When
war broke out, they had by no means completed their task and the
report remained undiscovered. The result was a disastrous surprise
causing many casualties to pilots who had been informed that the
Buffalos they were flying were faster and better than any Japanese
fighter—not one of which, it was reported, could reach 20,000 feet—
and who had in consequence evolved a system of air tactics based on
this ill-founded assumption.

The Commander-in-Chief and his Air Officer Commanding strove
with might and main to remedy the deficiencies of their air force. On
30th June, 18th August and 20th August, 1941, urgent signals were
sent to Whitehall describing the condition of affairs and asking for
reinforcements. * At present °, said Brooke-Popham, ‘ not only is our
- ability to attack shipping deplorably weak, but we have not the
staying power to sustain even what we could now do. As our air
effort dwindles . . . so will the enemy’s chance of landing increase ’.
He ended by once more emphasising his main preoccupation. ‘I
have no doubt what our first requirement here is. We want to increase
our hitting power against ships and our capacity to go on hitting *.

His warnings did not by any means fall upon deaf ears, but the
Chiefs of Staff were at that time powerless to aid him. As they
pointed out, production of aircraft was disappointing—it had been
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intended to replace the out-of-date Vildebeests with Beauforts
manufactured in Australia, but they were not forthcoming; the air
forces in the Middle East had to be reinforced in certain expectation
of a German attack in the spring of 1942; and finally, and perhaps
most important of all, Russia, fighting desperately against a heavy
and concentrated onslaught, had to be assisted by every means and
to the greatest possible extent. At the end of 1941, there was on every
front a shortage of everything, from trained men to up-to-date
equipment. :

Such then was the general position of the air forces in Malaya on
the eve of war. They, together with the small Dutch Air Force of
twenty-two Glen Martin bombers and nine Buffalo fighters, were to
form the air cover and air support for the navy and army. The Navy
t received a strong reinforcement on 2nd December in the form of the
new battleship Prince of Wales and the older battle cruiser Repulse ;
the army was short of the troops and equipment considered to be the
minimum for a successful defence. On 8th December, 1941, the total
strength of the troops was just under 87,000 officers and men, very
few of them trained in jungle warfare. They were without tanks and
possessed only a small number of anti-tank weapons.

Behind the armed forces was the civilian population. Their
attitude was of importance, for it inevitably affected the spirit of the
fighting men. It must be noted with regret, therefore, that at every
turn the efforts of the Commander-in-Chief and his subordinate
commanders were, if not positively hampered, at least not actively
encouraged by the local population, both European and Asiatic. The
first had enjoyed many years of prosperity, not seriously impaired
even during the slump of the early 1930’s. They had behind them a
tradition of wealth, or at least of easy circumstances, more than a
century old. Yet comparatively few of them regarded Malaya as their
home. It was no Kenya nor South Africa nor New Zealand whither a
man could go to build his life and raise a family. This was not their
own, their native land—this rich, steamy country where a man’s
shirt stuck to his back all the year round, and where ‘ the showroom
of the house was the cold room . . . the daily retreat from the humid
heat’. No doubt the uncomfortable climate was greatly responsible
for their lack of energy and determination. Be that as it may, the
help and comfort afforded to the fighting forces by men of the same
race whose lives and property they were called upon to defend, was
far smaller than it should have been.

While relations between the Services and the civilian communities
up-country were good and in many places cordial, the planters doing
all they could to help the soldiers and airmen, the reverse was so in
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Singapore. In that city ‘the civilian community’, reports the
Commander-in-Chief, ¢ on the whole seemed to resent the presence
of the Services as disturbing their ordered way of living’. The
Japanese were to disturb it even more. This habit of ease remained
with them to the end. Less than a week before the city surrendered,
an observer could note that ‘ there were queues outside the cinemas °.

The attitude of the Asiatic population was, for the most part, one
of indifference. The largest part of it was Chinese, but even though
their compatriots in China had been fighting for four long years and
more against Japan, few recruits from them were forthcoming and it
is hard to escape the conclusion that the British administration had
not sufficiently explained to them that, were war to break out, Great
Britain and China would find themselves allies against a common foe.
When this came to pass, the Chinese in Singapore showed themselves,
particularly in the Air Raid Precautions organisation, to be calm
and steadfast. They never gave way to panic even during the worst
raids. The Malays were even more indifferent than the Chinese. The
several thousand Indian labourers, mostly Tamils, had been drawn
to Malaya by the prospect of high wages. Like their British masters,
they had no particular love for the country and intended, like them,
to return home as soon as they had made sufficient money.

In passive defence against air raids the inhabitants of Singapore
and of Malayan towns in general were especially ill-prepared.
Everywhere precautions were primitive and for the most part
ineffectual. To achieve a satisfactory black-out was difficult, for to
mask lights was to mask ventilation, and in the climate of Malaya
the consequences were disagreeable or worse. A ‘ brown-out ’ rather
than a ‘ black-out > was therefore adopted and proved on the whole
not unsatisfactory. The provision of air raid shelters, however, was a
different matter. In Singapore, where the water level is close to the
surface, the digging of slit trenches was not only useless but danger-
ous, because they soon became filled with water and formed breeding
places for mosquitoes. The medical authorities were against the con-
struction of surface shelters which they maintained would interfere
with the circulation of air and therefore be the cause of epidemics.
Such views were doubtless correct in theory, but when the moment
came and Singapore found itself subjected to a series of air attacks,
which by the standard of 1941 and 1942 must be described as severe,
the casualties caused by lack of adequate shelters were unduly high.

Brooke-Popham had not been in command two months before the
entry of Japanese forces into Cambodia and Cochin China, often
rumoured, became an accomplished fact. At that time, however, and
during the months that followed, it was not easy to decide whether
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this move was intended to prepare the way for an attack on Siam or
on Malaya; but by November, 1941, indications that an attack on
one or the other was imminent began to multiply. Four Japanese
cruisers and some destroyers were reported in the South China Sea;
the 5th Japanese Division, highly trained in landing operations, had
moved into southern Indo-China and the number of Japanese air-
craft there had increased from 74 to some 300 in the space of a month.
They did not remain inactive upon their newly seized or constructed
airfields, but with increasing frequency carried out long-range
reconnaissance flights over Malaya. One of their airborne cameras,
which had become detached from its mounting, was picked up in
Ipoh about this time. The Royal Air Force did their best to do like-
wise, but the enemy’s main sea base at Kamranh was out of range,
and the Commander-in-Chief was unable to persuade General
MacArthur, commanding in Manila, to send a Boeing Fortress,
which had the necessary range and ceiling, to photograph that
harbour. Orders from Washington, said the General, prevented him
from carrying out this request. At the time, America, it seemed, was
as reluctant as was Great Britain to provoke Japan.

On 28th November, information arrived from Saigon to the effect
that it was the intention of the Japanese to land troops in southern
Siam on 1st December. The report was not taken very seriously, but
as a precaution Air Headquarters were ordered to maintain a daily
reconnaissance seaward in an easterly direction ; though, in pursuance
of the strict injunctions of the Chiefs of Staff, it was made clear that
¢ a striking force will not be ordered to attack the convoy, if found °.
The aircraft flew daily on their appointed courses, but saw nothing
upon the wide spaces of the sea until 3rd December, when two large
cargo boats were sighted.

It was at this juncture when a Japanese invasion of Siam appeared
to be imminent that Brooke-Popham was faced with a most difficult
decision. Was this the moment to launch operation ¢ Matador ’? As
a planit had long been matured and did not lack boldness. An advance
was to be made into the Kra Isthmus and a line occupied to the north
of Haad Yai junction in the area of Singora. From a military point
of view such a position was the easiest to occupy and to defend. It
would make it possible to attack the enemy when he would be at his
most vulnerable, at the moment of landing, and it would add to the
number of airfields available and deny them to the Japanese. From
the air force point of view this would obviously be a great advantage.
The squadrons would be closer to the battlefield and therefore in a
better position to support the land forces. They in their turn would
be able to protect the air force.
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There was, however, a political consideration. The Kra Isthmus is
situated not in northern Malaya, but in Siam (Thailand), an ostensibly
neutral country. This neutrality would have to be violated, and had
not the Commander-in-Chief been directed most firmly to do
everything he could to avoid war with Japan? Such a violation
would almost certainly lead to immediate war and would do grave
harm to our cause in America.

Brooke-Popham proceeded with caution. Detailed plans for
operation ‘ Matador * were drawn up but were kept very secret and
for weeks a ban, which could be lifted only by the War Cabinet, was
placed on their execution. Two days before the Japanese attack,
however, the Commander-in-Chief was informed by Whitehall that
he was free to launch the operation if he had reason to believe that
the Japanese intended to land on the Kra Isthmus, or if they had
already violated _any other part of Siamese territory.

To take part in operation ¢ Matador ’, Air Headquarters formed \
Norgroup, consisting of two Blenheim bomber squadrons, Nos. 62 |
and 34, one fighter squadron, No. 21 of the Royal Australian Air
Force armed with Buffalos, and one night-fighter squadron, No. 27, /

flying Blenheims, to work in conjunction with the III Indian Corps.!
When the preliminary order was issued on 22nd November, No. 21:
Squadron joined No. 27 Squadron at Sungei Patani; No. 62
Squadron was at Alor Star and No. 34 Squadron at Tengah :

With each day that passed it became increasingly obvious that the ‘
situation was moving from bad to worse, and moving rapidly. More :
and more Japanese movements were reported and it presently became !
plain to the Commander-in-Chief that a decision whether to launch
operation * Matador ’ or not could not be further delayed. On 29th
November the period of warning was reduced from seventy-two to
twelve hours. A week went by and then at two o’clock in the afternoon
of 6th December the curtain lifted. Hudsons flown by No. 1 Squadron,
Royal Australian Air Force, based on Kota Bharu, reported sighting,
cighty miles east-south-east of the most southern point of Indo-
China, two convoys steaming west. One was composed of twenty-two '
merchant vessels of an average burden of 10,000 tons, escorted by
one battleship, probably the Kongo, five cruisers and seven destroyers ;
the other was made up of twenty-one merchant ships escorted by two
cruisers and ten destroyers. Farther to the westward, one Japanese
cruiser and three merchant ships were also sighted steering north-
west. The achievement of the squadron in finding these ships, more
than 300 miles away from the Malayan coast, was a tribute to their
training and persistence. The pilots had evidently well digested the
first part of the general order issued to the Royal Air Force ‘to find

—
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the enemy at sea as far away from Malaya as possible’. Was the
second part, ‘ to strike hard and often’, now to be put into operation?

The Commander-in-Chief hesitated, as well he might, for until he
was aware that the Japanese were apparently moving by sea against
the Kra Isthmus or ‘ had violated any other part of Thailand °, he
had been forbidden to attack them. He consulted his naval colleagues :
Vice-Admiral Geoffrey Layton, Admiral Sir Tom Phillips, who had
just arrived flying his flag in the Prince of Wales, and Rear Admiral
Palliser, his Chief of Staff. These officers were in doubt about the
future course of the convoys. Would they continue to sail onwards
and thus reach the Kra Isthmus, or would they turn and seek
anchorage for the night somewhere on the west coast of Indo-China ?
The matter was earnestly debated and the conclusion presently
reached that this second possibility was the more probable.
Brooke-Popham and the naval chiefs were inclined to think that the
Japanese expeditions would enter Siamese waters in the hope of
being attacked and thus of providing a casus belli. In the circum-
stances, the Air Chief Marshal decided not to launch operation
‘ Matador ’ but to wait until further reconnaissance should put the
destination of the convoys beyond reasonable doubt. At this point
the weather intervened.

The Hudsons had found the convoys at the extreme limit of their
range and had not been able to remain in contact with them. A
Catalina flying boat of No. 205 Squadron was despatched to shadow
the convoys throughout the night. The hours went by, but no signals
were received from it, and a second Catalina sent on the same
mission was equally silent. The first eventually returned having seen
nothing of the enemy. The second was shot down by the air escort of
the Japanese convoy based on Phu Kok off the west coast of
Cambodia where an airfield had been constructed in less than a
month. As soon as day dawned on the 7th Pulford sent out another
reconnaissance of Hudsons with orders to regain contact with the
convoys and keep them in view. At the same time all the air forces
were brought to ¢ No. 1 degree of readiness ’, which meant that they
were to be prepared for immediate operations against the enemy.
But the Hudsons failed to repeat their success of the previous day.
Two out of the three despatched returned because of bad weather ;
the third ranged the Gulf of Siam, but in the low cloud and rain
prevailing, saw nothing. The Air Officer Commanding now relied
upon the Catalinas of No. 205 Squadron to regain contact with the
convoys. They, too, failed, and the approach of the Japanese towards
Singora remained, in consequence, undiscovered. Most of their
transports had, in fact, made for that Siamese port, sailing a some-
what devious course to reach it. Only eight and a cruiser ultimately
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made for Kota Bharu. It was, perhaps, part of this force which was
seen by a Hudson late that afternoon. Fire was opened upon it by an
enemy warship.

All this, however, was unknown to Brooke-Popham, and a final
decision concerning operation ‘ Matador ’ had still to be taken. To
launch it too late would be useless, for the troops must be in position
at least twenty-four hours ahead of the Japanese, and this would be
impossible if the convoys were making for Singora and had not
turned north-west. The Commander-in-Chief was in a position of the
greatest difficulty. Not to move the troops and the air force behind
. them into the Kra Isthmus would be to lose all hope of gaining the
initiative, if war were to break out. On the other hand, to be the first
into Siam would almost certainly provoke war. At this juncture a
telegram, in which it is difficult not to detect a note of hysteria,
arrived from Sir Josiah Crosby, British Representative in Siam.
‘For God’s sake’, wired the Minister, ‘do not allow British forces
to occupy one inch of Thai territory unless and until Japan has struck
the first blow at Thailand’. Sir Josiah went on to state that the
attack of the Japanese on Thailand had been planned for 3rd
December, had then been postponed, but was due to take place in
the immediate future. It was in fact taking place at that moment.
But at that moment, too, the Commander-in-Chief decided to
cancel operation ‘Matador’. His reasons, he explained afterwards,
were both political and strategic. If the conclusions drawn from an
incomplete reconnaissance, not subsequently confirmed, were
incorrect, then Britain would be the first to infringe Siamese neutrality,
and this was precisely what the Japanese desired. If they were correct
and the Japanese were landing at Singora, it would be too late to
take up the chosen line.

As that Sunday dragged on, and no news of Japanese aggression
arrived—Pearl Harbour was bombed that day but no report of this
reached Singapore until the following morning—Brooke-Popham
and the other commanders became more and more convinced that
the Japanese, by entering the Gulf of Siam, were doing their utmost
to provoke an incident which would give them the excuse for war
they needed. The final decision to abandon operation ‘Matador’
was not taken until nine o’clock that evening, after a report had been
received from the pilot of a Hudson that three small Japanese ships
had been seen passing Singora, heading south. Four and a half hours
later the roar of guns off the coast at Kota Bharu, and an hour and a
half after that the loud voices of exploding bombs in the streets of
Singapore, scattered the clouds of uncertainty once and for all.’
Japan had struck. War had come to Malaya and the enemy had
gained the initiative. R



CHAPTER 1II
The Fall of Singapore

THE first of the armed forces to go into action on that morning of
7th December, 1941 was the Allied Air Force, whose pilots soon
found themselves in close combat with skilful and resolute men of
long experience in the Chinese war, flying far superior aircraft. At
that time the Japanese Air Forces were allowed a wide measure of
freedom in their choice of methods, but were regarded as less than
the equal of the Japanese Army and Navy, to which they served as
an auxiliary. For this purpose there were two air forces. The Army
Air Force was designed to strike fast and hard in close support of
the armies in the field. The duty of the Naval Air Force was to
attack shipping, to bomb suitable targets on shore, and to cover
naval units. In other words, the Japanese air arms were almost
entirely tactical and their duty was to secure for the two other arms
the highest measure of freedom in action. They were not regarded
as wholly independent, and were not therefore used strategically as
a general rule, though on occasion they could be and were. In this
conception lay a hidden defect. The Army Air Force and the Navy
Air Force being kept apart, performed each a different service and
were not interchangeable; there was little co-operation between
them.

Units of the 3rd and 5th of the five Air Divisions which made up
the Army Air Force were used in the attacks on Kota Bharu, Alor
Star and the other airfields of northern Malaya. Of the three re-
maining Divisions, the 1st never left Japan and the 2nd and 4th
did so only towards the summer of 1944. Each Air Division was
divided into two Air Brigades and two Air Sectors. A Brigade was
composed of Flying Regiments of three squadrons made up of
sixteen aircraft each. The Sectors were manned by an average of
ten Airfield Battalions responsible for construction and maintenance.
This was the basis of their organization, the flexibility of which made
it possible to meet emergencies. It approximated to that of the
Luftwaffe.

There was a firm bond between the Navy and the Naval Air
Force, whose task it was to control both the skies and the seas. The

.
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Japanese were fully persuaded that, to quote from one of their
appreciations, * The main role in control of the sea has passed from
the surface forces to the air forces. Air battles which were formerly
considered to be the preliminary skirmishes before the decisive
battle of the fleets have themselves become decisive battles . . .
Because control of the air precedes control of the sea, it is no longer
possible to win and maintain control of the sea only by destroying
enemy surface forces in a decisive battle . . . Air power will from
now on be the mainstay of the navy . . . It is necessary to discard
the relics of the outmoded tactical idea founded on previous theories
which stakes everything on a decisive fleet engagement °.

The Japanese Naval Air Force consisted of about ninety Air
Groups, with complementary forces beneath them on the ground or
on the sea. The groups were not all of equal size and the largest
comprised some eighty-four aircraft, manned and maintained by
about 2,000 officers and men. Between forty and fifty Groups were
organised into Air Flotillas and Fleets, and of these it was the
22nd and 23rd Air Flotillas, part of the 11th Air Fleet, which
operated with those units of the Japanese Navy ordered to take part
in the invasion of French Indo-China, Malaya and the Dutch East
Indies.

The armament used by both air services was more or less identical.
Bombs ranged in weight from 15 to 1,000 kilograms. Neither Service
used bombers for minelaying, and generally, in bombing attacks,
bombs were released simultaneously on a signal from the leading
aircraft. In raids on airfields or carriers, aircraft on the ground or
on the deck were considered to be the most important targets. When
attacked by Allied fighters, bombers would tighten their formation
and usually increase speed, but did not lose height. Their pilots had
obviously studied the war in Europe very carefully and could cope
adequately with all the more usual forms of attack. After a month
or two, however, pilots of the Royal Air Force discovered that by
varying their tactics and making use of unexpected manceuvres
the Japanese bombers were thrown into confusion, of which the
first sign was a loud outbreak of conversation on the radio telephone,
followed by a breaking up of the formation into individual units
which could be dealt with piecemeal.

When bomber formations were given escort, the fighters normally
flew in three groups, two at 3,000 feet below, one to port, the other
to starboard of the bomber formation and the third at 3,000 feet
above it, and slightly to the rear. Three to one was considered to be
the ideal ratio of fighters to bombers.
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At the outbreak of war the standard formation for bombers was
made up of thirty-six aircraft. This number soon fell to twenty-
seven, then to eighteen and finally to three. The ‘ box ’* formation
was thought to be the best protection against fighter attacks and
evasive action to counteract anti-aircraft fire was rarely taken. As
the war progressed, suicide pilots, all volunteers, were recruited.
In the Army Air Force they were known as Tokkatai and in the
Navy as Kamikaze and were sworn to fly their aircraft into the
chosen target, there to perish with it. Had it proved necessary for
the forces of Mountbatten to carry out the invasion of Japan, plans
had been made by the Japanese to use about 1,000 suicide pilots in
the Tokio area and about 3,000 in Kyushu. Such were the formidable
enemies which the Royal Air Force with the Royal Australian Air
Force and their brothers in arms, the American Army and Navy
Air Forces and the Dutch Air Forces, were called upon to fight.

The campaign opened with an attempt on the part of the Hudsons
of No. 1 Squadron, Royal Australian Air Force, to interfere with
the landings of the Japanese Army at Kota Bharu. The weather on
the 7th had cleared about midnight over this station, but the surface
of the airfield was boggy as the result of recent heavy rain. All was
quiet until about one o’clock, when a Japanese cruiser began to shell
the coast. At the same time eight to ten transports were observed to be
anchored off shore and landing craft to be moving from them
towards the beaches. These ships were part of the main convoy, of
which the remainder had made for Singora. For the political reasons
mentioned in the last Chapter, they had been allowed to approach
unmolested, and the Station Commander, mindful of his instructions
not to assault the enemy at sea without express orders, had to wait
some forty minutes until new orders arrived before attacking the
transports. Altogether that night seventeen sorties were made by
the Hudsons, which were able to destroy one transport and to
damage severely two others. Landing barges were also attacked and
the estimated casualties among the Japanese were 3,000. In this
affair, two Hudsons were lost. At dawn, Vildebeests of No. 36
Squadron, Royal Air Force, flying from Gong Kedah in heavy rain,
unsuccessfully attacked the cruiser with torpedoes. By then the
situation at Kota Bharu appeared to be in hand, for the Japanese
naval force was withdrawing. It had accomplished its immediate
object and was soon to return, reinforced. The attack on Kota
Bharu was a secondary operation but its effect was very grave for
it lured all the squadrons of Norgroup but one towards that area.

Meanwhile, the main Japanese landings were taking place, un-
molested, in Singora, in Siam, the Government of which had
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surrendered immediately. These were discovered by the only Beaufort
in Malaya. On its return, badly damaged, to Kota Bharu, the pilot
reported a large concentration of Japanese vessels from which
troops were pouring on to the beaches at Singora and Patani. More
ominous still, the photographs taken revealed the presence of some
sixty aircraft, mainly fighters, on Singora airfield. Tactical surprise
had been achieved.

While a fierce and not unsuccessful action was being fought at
Kota Bharu, the town of Singapore itself was recovering from its
first air raid. This had taken place at four o’clock that same morning,
the eighth, and bombs had fallen close to the airfields and the
harbour. They caused little military damage but killed sixty-one
civilians, mostly Chinese, and injured 133. The defence had received
thirty minutes’ warning from the radar and observer posts and duly
went into action. Although three Buffalos of No. 453 Squadron,
Royal Australian Air Force, at Sembawang, were at once warmed up,
permission to take off was not granted, to the chagrin of their pilots,
one of whom described the oncoming Japanese bomber formation as
‘the most perfect night-fighter target which I have ever seen’. Air
Headquarters preferred to leave the guns to deal with the raiders.
This may, or may not, have been a mistake, but about the behaviour
of the Air Raid Precautions organisation there can be no doubt. Its
headquarters were not fully manned and no reply was received to
repeated summonses by telephone to go into action. Not until a
direct approach was made to Sir Shenton Thomas, the Governor,
- did the air raid sirens sound, and even then the brilliant street
lighting of the city was not extinguished. This omission was not so
serious as might appear, for there was a full tropic moon that night
in the rays of which Singapore in all its detail was clearly visible.

On the following day, the ninth, while its inhabitants were gaping
at the bomb-holes—their behaviour was very similar to that of other
unhappy citizens in other unhappy cities in other zones of war—the
fighting at Kota Bharu was still continuing. By four o’clock in the -
afternoon, the Japanese had landed in force and reached the
boundaries of the airfield. The small military force covering the
beaches, fighting with the greatest desperation and heedless of
casualties, was driven back and the station could no longer be
defended. Its evacuation was ordered and five Hudsons and seven
Vildebeests retired successfully to Kuantan. To enable them to do
so a stout resistance was put up on the airfield itself, both by the
remnants of the Army elements of the 11th Indian Division, and the
air force ground staff. ¢ We fought with rifles and tommy-guns, from
billet to billet °, says Aircraftman H. G. Edwards, who that day was
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seeing action for the first time. * The Japanese would be in one, we
in the other, and the range was twenty yards. Very soon all aircraft
which had not got away were a burnt mass of twisted metal, and
still the Japs came on ’. The ground staff held out till the next day
and eventually, under cover of the ¢ merciful rain’, got away, first
to Kuala Lipis, then by rail to Singapore.

The quality of the pilots engaged in this, the first action of the
war in Malaya, may be judged from the bearing of an unknown
Blenheim pilot who, his aircraft on fire, disdained to take to his
parachute and dived into a landing craft destroying it and its
occupants. A Japanese, subsequently captured, testified to the
admiration caused in the ranks of the enemy by this gallant sacrifice.

Before the Royal Air Force bombers could be switched to what
should have been the main objectives at Singora and Patani, our
airfields in northern Malaya themselves became subject to heavy and
continuous attacks from Japanese bombers escorted by fighters.
. Throughout 8th December Sungei Patani, Penang, Alor Star and
i Butterworth were assaulted by formations varying in size from
. twenty-seven to sixty. The bombs used were anti-personnel and

fragmentation, and they did serious damage to aircraft and men,
, but none to the surface of the airfields. These the Japanese were
- anxious to use as soon as possible, and they wished to capture them
in good condition. It was neticed that the raids very often took
place when our own squadrons were either landing or taking off,
and evidence that information of aircraft movements was reaching
the enemy was presently discovered. The most serious of these
attacks was that delivered at Alor Star by twenty-seven Japanese
aircraft, which succeeded in destroying all but two of the Blenheims
of No. 62 Squadron. Two other Squadrons, No. 21 (Fighter)
Squadron, Royal Australian Air Force, and No. 27, the night-
fighter Blenheims, were reduced, while still grounded, each to four
serviceable aircraft. The guns of the Buffalos had proved defective
and all were unserviceable.

By the evening of that disastrous day, out of 110 aircraft available
in the morning for combat in northern Malaya, only 50 remained
in a serviceable condition. It was obvious that the cancellation of
operation ‘ Matador * was to have a far-reaching influence on the
operations of the Royal Air Force in northern Malaya. The airfields
at Singora and Patani were in the hands of the enemy; more, they
were already being used by him. To attack them without delay was
essential if the position was to grow no worse. Accordingly on the
next day, the 9th, the two depleted bomber squadrons, Nos. 34 and
62, reinforced by a Blenheim squadron from Kuantan, attempted two
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oounter-attacks. The first, carried out in the afternoon with the loss
of five aircraft, was markedly successful and the congested airfield
at Singora was repeatedly hit. The second was never launched. As
the remnants of the two squadrons were about to take off from
Butterworth, the Japanese made a high level bombing attack,
followed by low level machine-gun attacks. So successful were these
—every aircraft but one was put out of action—that a single
Blenheim only, piloted by Flight Lieutenant A. S. K. Scarf, was able
to leave the ground. Heedless of the fact that he was alone, he pressed
on towards his objective. Over Singora he was attacked by enemy
fighters, but dropped his bombs, and turned for home hit in the
back and left arm, and mortally wounded. Still conscious, he
maintained a running fight until the Malay border was reached.
Then, almost dead from loss of blood, he landed successfully in a
paddy-field near Alor Star. His navigator was unhurt, but he himself
died that night. Five years later he was posthumously awarded the
Victoria Cross, the first to be gained in Malaya.

The losses sustained in bombers were so heavy that Pulford
reluctantly decided to make no more attacks by day. Already then,
before the war was two days old, the situation of the Royal Air
Force in northern Malaya, and therefore of the country as a whole,
always weak, had become gravely compromised. Further blows were
soon to follow, the heaviest of them within twenty-four hours.

It will be remembered that H.M.S. Prince of Wales, the latest of
our battleships of 35,000 tons displacement and armed with ten
14-inch guns, had arrived in Singapore accompanied by the Repulse,
an older battlecruiser of 32,000 tons recently reconditioned and
armed with six 15-inch guns. These two powerful units had been
sent to Singapore to reinforce our Far Eastern defences. By 2nd
December, therefore, it could no longer be said that these consisted
of a naval base without a fleet. The two great ships, with their escort
of four destroyers, reached Singapore six days before the outbreak
of hostilities, under the command of Admiral Sir Tom Spencer
Vaughan Phillips. Hardly had the first Japanese shells fallen on
Kota Bharu, when this short, slight man, in whom the spirit of
Drake and Nelson burned with a fierce fire, decided to put to sea
with all his force. His purpose was to move north-west up the east
coast of Malaya and inflict all the hurt he could upon the Japanese
ships, busily engaged in landing troops and equipment in the
Singora area of Siam. That such an enterprise was hazardous he
well knew, for though there were two powerful ships under his
command, either of which was capable of dealing with the Japanese
naval escort, there was that unknown quantity, the Japanese Air
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Force. Concerning its strength, disposition and efficiency very little
was known in Singapore. Admiral Phillips was aware that both the
Royal Air Force and the Regia Aeronautica possessed torpedo-
carrying aircraft with a theoretical range of 500 miles. He was
equally aware that no attacks by such aircraft had been made
beyond a distance of 200 miles. The best information available led
him to believe that the Japanese air forces, both naval and military,
were of much the same quality as the Italian and markedly inferior
to the Luftwaffe. Provided, therefore, that his ships came no .
nearer than 200 miles to a Japanese air base, they would be immune
from dive bombing or torpedo attacks. Bombing from a high level,
which he expected, did not unduly trouble him. His ships would be
moving at high speed.

The question whether his fleet, which was known as Force ‘Z°,
should be provided with fighter cover and air reconnaissance had
been discussed with Pulford, to whom Phillips made three requests.
They were, first, that the air force should carry out a reconnaissance
a hundred miles to the north of his ships from dawn on Tuesday,
9th December ; secondly, that they should reconnoitre Singora at an
average distance of ten miles from the coast, the reconnaissance to
begin at first light on 10th December; and thirdly, that fighter
protection off Singora should be provided from daylight onwards
on that same day. At a meeting held soon after noon on 8th Decem-
ber, the Admiral told his Captains that if he could achieve surprise
and was granted fighter protection, there was a good chance of
¢ smashing the Japanese forces ’ of invasion. He proposed, he added,
to attack them soon after dawn on 10th December. Force ‘Z’
sailed at 1735 hours on 8th December.

It will be noted that at this meeting Phillips made it clear that
success depended on the provision of fighter support. For capital
ships to enter without it an area dominated by the air power of the
enemy would be to run a grave, almost certainly a mortal, risk.
Yet it was precisely fighter support which Pulford could not
guarantee, and said so. Reconnaissance to the north of Force ‘Z°
could be provided on the 9th; so, he thought, could reconnaissance
up to Singora on the 10th ; and in point of fact he was able to provide
both on the appointed days and at the appointed hours. Fighter
protection, however, could only be given in that area by aircraft
flying from airfields situated in northern Malaya. When, on 8th
December, Phillips first approached him, Pulford was unaware of
the exact situation there, though he knew it was grave. Reports
from Kota Bharu showed that it was under heavy attack from sea,
land and air ; Sungei Patani, Butterworth and Alor Star all reported
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heavy bombing attacks and great damage. It was, therefore, in the
highest degree improbable that fighter squadrons could use them.
Since, however, the Brewster Buffalo with which they were armed
had a very short range, it was useless, or almost useless, for them
to operate over Singora from airfields situated in central and
southern Malaya. If they did so, they could give only negligible
protection, for they would be unable to remain over the area of
operations for more than a few minutes.

Before the day was out, Pulford knew that his fears were realized.
The northern airfields had all been put out of action, and the nearest
which might possibly be used was that at Kuantan, more than 300
miles to the south of Singora. There could be no fighter cover.

All this Pulford explained to Rear Admiral A. F. E. Palliser,
Phillips’ Chief of Staff, who had remained behind in Singapore and
was in touch with the Commander-in-Chief. By the time he had
heard what Pulford had to say, Force ‘Z’ had sailed. Palliser
immediately sent Phillips a signal, of which the relevant passage
read: ‘ Fighter protection on Wednesday 10 will not, repeat not, be
possible °. It was received at 0125 hours on 9th December. There is
evidence that the Governor of Singapore urged the retention of
fighters for the defence of the port and the island and that his views
were accepted. Certainly Admiral Palliser sent a signal on the next
day, received by Phillips at 2302 hours, reporting bad news of the
fighting in northern Malaya and the presence of enemy bombers
* in force and undisturbed ’ in southern Indo-China. The signal also
stated that the Commander-in-Chief was contemplating the con-
centration of all * the air effort * on the defence of Singapore. This
would seem to confirm the view that the counsels of Sir Shenton
Thomas had prevailed. Long before this second signal had reached
him, however, Phillips had decided to press on.

Under low clouds the great ships, with their attendant destroyers,
ploughed the wastes of ocean. No word came from them until, in
the early hours of Wednesday, 10th December, a signal was received
in Singapore indicating that they might return sooner than had
originally been planned. Then the curtain of silence fell once more,
only to be torn apart at 1219 hours, when a report was received
from the Repulse that she and the Prince of Wales were under air
attack in a position about sixty miles east of Kuantan. Six
minutes after receiving this message, eleven Brewster Buffalos of
No. 453 Squadron, which had been specially detailed for the defence
of the fleet, took off, led by Flight Lieutenant T. A. Vigors. They
reached the scene just in time to see the dark, smoke-enshrouded
c
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bulk of the Prince of Wales plunge beneath seas already disfigured
by patches of oil and crawling with survivors. Of the Repuise there
was no sign. What had happened was this.

On reaching the open sea, Force ‘Z’ sailed first towards the
Anambas Islands and then, having passed them, turned to the
northward. Throughout the next day, the 9th, weather conditions
were excellent for its concealment. Rainstorms were frequent and
heavy clouds drifted low above the waves. As the afternoon drew
on, however, a breeze sprang up and drove them away. By 1700
hours the weather had cleared, and soon after, what were thought
to be three Japanese naval reconnaissance aircraft, were sighted
from the Prince of Wales. Captain L. H. Bell, who was with the
Admiral on the bridge, had no doubt that they were what he has
described as  Japanese float planes ’. They kept company for some
time with the British vessels but presently flew away. Not un-
naturally, Phillips felt certain that they had reported the presence of
his fleet at sea and that all chance of surprising the enemy at dawn
on the 10th at Singora was lost. Most of the Japanese vessels would
now have ample time in which to withdraw. Moreover, if he held
on his present course, he would assuredly be exposed to heavy air
attack, for he would come well within 200 miles of Japanese bombers
and torpedo aircraft. Reluctantly, therefore, he abandoned the
enterprise and at 2015 hours on the 9th set course for Singapore.

At the moment when the float planes disappeared in the gathering
darkness, Phillips could not possibly have been aware that in fact,
they had sent no message. Yet this was so: they had remained silent.
Captain Sonokawa, Commander of the Genzan Group which sank
the Prince of Wales and the Repulse was quite clear on this point
when questioned after the war. No Japanese reconnaissance aircraft
were in the air at the time. The float planes were in all probability
acting as air escort to two Japanese warships, the Kongo and the
Haruma which, unknown to Force ‘ Z’, were in the neighbourhood.
In the uncertain light the Japanese pilots seem to have mistaken
Force ‘ Z~ for these warships. This explanation may appear extra-
ordinary but, having regard to the fact that they made no report,
what other is possible ?

Yet though Force ‘ Z* had not in fact been seen from the air,
Admiral Phillips had nevertheless taken the right decision, for his
ships had been sighted by a Japanese submarine, which at 1400 hours
that afternoon had reported their position as 7° north 105° east,
steering north. The Japanese naval bombers at once prepared to
attack them, but it was not until darkness was falling that these
aircraft had finished exchanging the bombs, with which they were
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being loaded when the submarine’s signal arrived, for torpedoes.
This operation completed, they set off hoping to have the aid of the
Kongo and Haruma in destroying what was obviously a grave threat
to the invasion fleet lying off Singora. For six hours they searched
in vain the night-shrouded sea and then returned, balked, to their
base at Saigon. That they should have failed to find the British ships
is not surprising, for the commander of the Japanese submarine had
miscalculated and reported Admiral Phillips to be 140 miles north-
northwest of his actual position when sighted. In the early hours of
10th December a second Japanese submarine sighted Force *Z°
and sent a signal which showed that it was now heading south,
presumably returning to Singapore. This assumption was correct
and was to prove fatal to the British fleet.

For nearly four hours it had held on its southerly course when
shortly before midnight Phillips received a signal stating that
Kuantan was being attacked. This place and its airfield, situated on
the east coast some 200 miles from Singapore, was considered a key
military position in the defence of Malaya, and to reach it only a
small deviation of course was necessary. The Admiral did not
hesitate. Though fate had denied him the chance of engaging the
main forces of the enemy in the north, he might still strike a blow
farther south. He arrived off Kuantan at eight o’clock on the
morning of the 10th ready to engage any enemy who might there
be found. None was to be seen and one of the destroyers, H.M.S.
Express, which made a tour of the harbour, reported ¢ complete
peace ’.

The ‘ complete peace’ in Kuantan discovered by the navy at
0800 hours was already known to the Air Staff in Singapore, for
Hudsons arriving in the area at dawn had reported no evidence of
the enemy’s presence and no signs of battle. What the Air Staff did
not know, however, when this report was received soon after dawn,
was that Admiral Phillips and his fleet were approaching Kuantan
from the north at twenty-five knots ; for he had not informed Singa-
pore of his change of plan, nor did he do so after his fruitless
examination of this small port. As soon as the Express had rejoined
him, he turned east to avoid a suspected minefield and to investigate
a number of small vessels observed on the horizon. He was much
pre-occupied with the possibility of being attacked by submarines
and had no intention of betraying his presence by breaking wireless
silence in order to inform Pulford in Singapore of his whereabouts.
Of air attacks he had no fear, for being some 400 miles from the
nearest enemy air base, he considered himself out of range.
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Since Pulford received no signal, he was given no chance to
provide the air cover soon so sorely to be needed. Had the Air Vice-
Marshal known that Force ‘Z°’ was returning, he could have
despatched No. 453, acting as Fleet Defence Squadron, to Kuantan
in the early morning of the 10th and it would have been ready to
operate at least an hour before the Japanese made their attacks
upon the capital ships. True, Kuantan was being subjected to inter-
mittent bombing, but who can doubt that the Air Officer Com-
manding would have accepted this risk and sent his fighters there
had he known that the fleet was to pass so close to that air base?

Meanwhile the Japanese were doing their utmost to put into the
air a large striking force. Three groups—the Genzan, the Mihoro
and the Kanoya—comprising the 22nd Air Flotilla, and numbering
in all eighty-eight aircraft of which twenty-seven were bombers and
sixty-one torpedo-bombers, were brought to immediate readiness
before dawn. Without awaiting a sighting report from reconnaissance
aircraft, they took off from their bases in Cochin China and flew
southwards in nine flights along the 105th meridian. They were
preceded by nine reconnaissance aircraft which carried out a sector
search, for some hours in vain. Not until 1100 hours, when they
were on the last leg, did the pilot of one of them catch sight of
Force ‘Z’. He at once sent a sighting report and twenty minutes
later the first flight of the bombers were over their targets. They
attacked the Repulse and scored one hit, a bomb falling upon the
port hangar and bursting on the armour below the marines’ mess
deck. A fire broke out on the catapult deck but was soon under
control. The first round had been inconclusive. There was a pause
of twenty minutes and then nine torpedo bombers which had been
seen dodging behind clouds came in on the port beam, and ‘in no
way perturbed by our gunfire ’ carried out their attack with great
coolness. By skilful use of the helm the Repulse avoided their
torpedoes; but the Prince of Wales was less fortunate. She was hit
twice, once on the port side aft of the bridge and once in the stern.
It was this second torpedo which made her fate certain, for it badly
damaged the steering gear and propellers. The balls signifying that
the Prince of Wales was not under control were hoisted and the
Repulse immediately began to close, reporting in her turn that she
had escaped all the torpedoes fired at her to the number of nineteen.
She did not remain unscathed for long. Low on the horizon eight
enemy aircraft were coming in again with torpedoes. They split into
two formations and dropped them from a distance of about 2,000
yards. Approaching as they did from two opposite directions, it was
impossible for the Repulse to elude them. She was hit amidships on
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the port side but still maintained her speed. Almost immediately, a
fifth attack, also by torpedo bombers, was made and she was hit
four times more. These blows were mortal. She at once took a heavy
list to port, and sank in six minutes at 1233 hours, taking with her
444 officers and men. As the remainder struggled in the viscous
embrace of the fuel oil pouring out of the gaps in her hull, they
beheld the end of the Prince of Wales. Ten minutes earlier she
had received three torpedoes, two in the afterpart of the ship near the
stern and a third on the starboard side under the compass platform.
Mortally hit already, these were the coup de grace, though even then
her modern construction kept her afloat for almost an hour, during
which a signal asking for tugs was sent to Singapore. At 1320 hours
the Prince of Wales, capsizing to port, went down. Admiral Phillips
and Captain Leach went with her and with them 215 of her crew.
1,285 officers and ratings were picked up.

The Japanese pilots had shown skill, daring and resolution of
a high order. The fiercest anti-aircraft fire, which both great ships
developed to the full extent of their armaments, had not deterred
them, and they accomplished their task with the probable loss of
only four aircraft. On quitting the scene of their triumph, they left
behind them a number of reconnaissance aircraft, which made off
on the appearance of the Buffalos of No. 453 Squadron. Beneath
them the destroyer escort, which had not been attacked, was engaged
in the work of rescue. The survivors, officers and men of the Royal
Navy, had maintained its traditions with unbroken spirit. * I passed
over thousands’, records Flight Lieutenant Vigors in his official
report, ‘ who had been through an ordeal, the greatness of which
they alone can understand. . It was obvious that the three
destroyers were going to take hours to pick up those hundreds of
men clinging to bits of wreckage and swimming around in the
filthy oily water. . . . Yet every man waved and put his thumb up
as I flew over him. . . . Here was something above human nature ’.

The loss of His Majesty’s Ships Prince of Wales and Repulse,
together with the virtual destruction of the American fleet at Pearl
Harbour, gave the Japanese undisputed command of Far Eastern
waters within two days of the outbreak of war. It also marked the
end of sea power as Mahan preached and Nelson had practised it.

Hardly had the inhabitants of Singapore recovered, if they ever
did recover, from the shock caused by the loss of these two ships,
when news came that Georgetown on the island of Penang had been
severely bombed by Japanese aircraft some eighty strong. The first
attack made on 8th December had achieved little result. The second,
however, caused heavy casualties among the population, especially
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among the Asiatics who, with tragic curiosity, swarmed the streets
to watch what they thought was to be a repetition of the first which
had been carried out against the airfield. In neither case was there
any opposition either from the ground or in the air. Such anti-
aircraft guns as were available in Malaya had been allotted for the
protection of more important targets—the naval base, airfields in
general, the harbour of Singapore, and Kuala Lumpur, the Federal
capital. No fighters appeared over Penang, for by then the first
phase of the Japanese attack, of which the success was hourly more
pronounced, was in full development,

Well aware of our weakness in the air, the Japanese commander
" had decided to strike hard and often against our airfields. The
scale of his efforts on the 8th, 9th and 10th December, though small
~ by the standards of the war in Europe, was more than enough to
achieve his purpose. A daily average of some 120 sorties sufficed
to render all the airfields in north-east and north-west Malaya un-
tenable. Despite the arrival on the 9th of twenty-two Dutch Glen
Martins and one Dutch fighter squadron of nine Buffalos from the
Netherlands East Indies, in accordance with an agreement for
mutual aid concluded before war broke out, the air defences of
Malaya were already so gravely depleted as to make withdrawal
- essential. From Butterworth in north-western Malaya No. 62
- (Bomber) Squadron, reduced in numbers to two aircraft, was
brought back to Taiping, and No. 21 (Fighter) Squadron, Royal
* Australian Air Force, with six dubiously effective Buffalos, to Ipoh.
. No. 27, the night-fighting Blenheim Squadron, did not leave Butter-
. worth. It had no aircraft left in which to do so.

Though the attitude of the pilots towards these heavy losses of
aircraft it was their duty to fly was, in general, one of determination
to get at grips with a hard-hitting enemy, the demeanour of the
ground staff was not always so firm. Some, such as those at Kota
Bharu, fought, as has been related, with great courage, abandoning
their airfield only when the enemy was upon it. Others showed less
stoutness of heart. They became discouraged and more and more
inclined to lend an ear to rumours of defeat and disaster, which
buzzed about like cockchafers. This attitude can for the most part be
traced to the prevailing conditions and to the feeling of helplessness
engendered by the frequent bombing of airfields scantily protected.
At some stations, such as Butterworth, there was no more effective
warning system than that provided by an aircraftman standing on
the perimeter and waving a white handkerchief on the approach of
hostile aircraft. Nevertheless, the majority of the ground crews
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continued to carry out their duties in circumstances which grew
worse and worse with every day that passed, and to serve a steadily
diminishing band of pilots who, flying aircraft markedly inferior to
those of the enemy, entered upon the campaign with odds against
them of six to one, and still did not falter when at the end of it these
had lengthened to fifteen to one.

The misfortunes of the air force were increased by the behaviour
of the native labourers, who fled the airfields as soon as the bombing
began and did not return. For this they can scarcely be blamed.
They did not feel the quarrel to be theirs. Such stores and equipment
as had been left intact after the bombing attacks would not have
been brought back to the south had it not been for the efforts of
a number of the ground staff who maintained the railway in opera-
tion when the native drivers bad departed. They were in the charge
of Flight Lieutenant R. D. I. Scott, who drove a locomotive himself.

Not only had the hard-pressed units to evacuate the northern
airfields, they had also to render them unserviceable, if they could.
This task was exceedingly difficult, and all their efforts did not
retard by more than a few hours the use of the airfields by the
Japanese. Bombs were hastily dug into the surface of the runways
and exploded (in this the Royal Engineers gave great assistance)
and petrol dumps set on fire everywhere except at Sungei Patani,
where 200,000 gallons were left behind to the great satisfaction of
the enemy. The stocks of road metal accumulated beside each
perimeter were used immediately by the Japanese to fill in the
craters, native labour being ruthlessly rounded up and employed
for this purpose. The attempted destruction of airfields by Norgroup
had inevitably a depressing effect on the spirits of the army who,
holding positions in front of them, had but to turn their heads to
see large fires and columns of smoke in their rear, a truly discon-
certing spectacle. Penang had to be abandoned and the army, .
fighting in northern Malaya, to be robbed of air support. After
the bombing of the town on 11th December, the position there grew
rapidly worse until it became out of hand. Law and order dis-
appeared; ‘ The friendless bodies of unburied men’ strewed the
streets and their stench ‘in the tropical heat was indescribable.
Rats left godowns where they usually operated for the more
lucrative field of the open streets, where food in the shape of dead
humans was plentiful’.? About 600 persons were killed and 1,100
wounded in the air raids. On 13th December orders were given to
evacuate the European and Indian populations, but only Europeans,
to the number of about 520, got away.

1 In Seventy Days. E. M. Glover—Frederick Muller.
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While these scenes of confusion and horror were being enacted
in that lovely city of tall trees, exotic flowers and baroque buildings,
where peace and plenty had reigned for more than a century, the
army, almost entirely deprived of air support, was struggling back
through the jungles. Two or three Buffalos of No. 21 Squadron,
Royal Australian Air Force, based at Ipoh, sought to give aid to the
hard-pressed 11th Indian Division. These were reinforced by No. 453
Squadron, Royal Australian Air Force, three days after it had
witnessed the end of the Prince of Wales and the Repulse. On arrival
at Ipoh they went straight into action, attacked Japanese convoys on
the roads and carried out tactical reconnaissance with some effect, for
they claim to have shot down five Japanese aircraft over Penang.
Six Buffalos of No. 21 Squadron joined them on the 15th, five
having made forced landings on the flight from Singapore. The
rate of wastage, however, soon proved so high, that Air Head-
quarters was forced to order the squadrons based on Ipoh to confine
themselves to the work of reconnaissance. This task they continued
from Kuala Lumpur, to which enemy attacks had driven them on
19th December. While .he efforts of the air force to give close support
to the army achieved very little success, the attempts to bomb the
Japanese Air Force on the northern airfields, which they had seized,
had even less. The enemy had enough reserves immediately to
replace the small casualties which were all our attentuated squadrons
could hope to inflict. As the days went only too swiftly by and the
army struggled back, first from Kedah Province to the Krian river,
then to the strong Kampar position, then to the line of the Slim
river and finally to the northern frontier of Johore, less than a
hundred miles from Singapore, the lesson, that airfields which cannot
be defended are a liability and not an asset, was driven remorse-
lessly home. Those which had been so laboriously, and with such
difficulty, constructed in the months preceding the outbreak of war
had now to be held by the army, not in order that the Royal Air
Force might operate from them—that had already become im-
possible—but so that the Japanese Air Force might be denied their
use. The effect of this task on the spirit of the troops can easily be
imagined.

Throughout this period, and indeed until the fall of Java wiped it
out, the air force was served with great gallantry by the Malayan
Volunteer Air Force, which, as its name implies, was manned by
volunteers, both British and Malay. This small force had been
formed in September 1940, and its pilots had carried out their
training on Avro Cadets, Tiger and Leopard Moths and other light
ajreraft, of which none could ﬂy faster than 100 miles an hour; nor
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were any of them armed. When war broke out they were all that were
available for the Volunteer Force, which had taken them over from
various flying clubs and unhesitatingly took them into battle. They
were used principally to maintain communications, but they also
carried out many reconnaissance flights and helped in the work of
jungle rescue. The little Moths flew only just above the treetops
and, being camouflaged, they were not easy to see. This was as well
since camouflage was their only protection. Sometimes, in addi-
tion to being bombed on the ground, they found themselves attacked
by their own side. On 8th December, for example, a Dragon Rapide
arrived with a cargo of explosives at Butterworth during a raid. By
flying very low behind the coconut palms, its pilot escaped detection,
landed and rid himself of his dangerous cargo. Before he could take
off, however, another attack developed and he returned to his Rapide
from a nearby machine-gun post to find two burning Blenheims on
either hand. The pilot taxied to the runway on one engine, induced the
second one to start and was half-way down the runway on the take-
off when a Buffalo, cleaving the pall of smoke which hung over the
airfield, struck the ground immediately in front of him. The wheels of
the Rapide scraped the wreckage, but the machine remained air-
borne, to be fired at a moment later by a returning Blenheim which
in the murk mistook it for a Japanese. The instrument panel was
shattered and one engine put out of action, but the Rapide was
successfully flown to Ipoh on the other. These volunteer pilots flew
between 1500 and 2000 hours during the eleven weeks of fighting
and earned the respect and admiration of their more professional
brethren.

With matters in such poor shape in Malaya, it is not surprising
that the Japanese attack on Borneo, mounted in the third week of
December, should have been immediately successful. During that
week a convoy of more than a hundred ships was discovered crossing
the South China Sea and by 24th December it was obvious from the
frequent reconnaissances made that the Japanese were heading for
Kuching in British Borneo. To that island, as to Hong Kong, no air
forces had been allotted for defence. With the capture of Kuching on
26th December, Borneo fell into Japanese hands : Hong Kong had
been taken by them twenty-four hours before.

It was at this juncture, with the army stumbling back through the
thick jungles of Malaya, unable to find any position at which to make
a prolonged stand, that the Commander-in-Chief, Air Chief Marshal
Sir Robert Brooke-Popham, was replaced by Lieutenant General
Sir Henry Roydes Pownall. The new Chief fared no better than his
predecessor. He took over at a time when the sitpation was steadily
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growing worse. Reinforcements, it was true, were close to hand, and
a few aircraft had already arrived, but their numbers were quite
inadequate. By Christmas Day, 1941, only six Hudsons and seven
Blenheims had reached Malaya but there was a promise of fifty-one
Hurricanes in crates and twenty-four pilots. They landed on 3rd
January, but on the 18th, excluding the Hurricanes which were still
being unloaded, the total stength of the air force was only seventy-
five bomber and reconnaissance aircraft and twenty-eight fighters.
Moreover the new pilots were quite unaccustomed to local conditions ;
they had arrived either after a long and arduous flight from as far
away as Egypt, or after along and perilous sea voyage. Circumstances,
however, made it necessary to throw them immediately into the
fight, where they made up for their deficiencies in experience by the
stoutness of their conduct.

Their task was truly formidable. If the aircraft allotted to them were
Hudsons or Blenheims, they were required to carry out long recon-
naissance flights over the South China Sea and bombing attacks by
night, such operations in daylight having been abandoned for lack
of fighter cover. If they flew fighter aircraft, they were called upon to
protect Singapore, to co-operate with the hard-pressed army on the
ground and to give protection to convoys approaching with
reinforcements. In view of the ludicrously small number of aircraft
available, this programme, which would have taxed the whole
strength of the Royal Air Force at that time, was necessarily ful-
filled in an imperfect and haphazard manner. The reconnaissance
squadrons, aided by the small but efficient Dutch Air Force, made
numerous flights over the South China Sea in order to discover any
surface vessels which might be moving against Singapore. They also
helped the fighters to cover the Banka Strait along the coast of eastern
Sumatra, through which ran the route followed by our convoys of
reinforcements. Such a task involved daily sorties by at least two
Catalinas, six Hudsons and four Glen Martin aircraft, a force far too
small but all that could be spared. The remainder had to be kept at
short notice to go to the rescue should the convoys be attacked.

The result of this policy of protecting the convoys, indispensable
though its adoption was, soon became painfully apparent. After the
loss of the Prince of Wales and the Repulse, no effective aid could be
rendered by the Navy, and the task of covering the ships until they
reached port fell, therefore, entirely on the Royal Air Force, which
could only fulfil it at the expense of the struggling armies in the jungle.
They were wholly deprived of air support, and in consequence
suffered heavily. All the convoys of reinforcements reached Singapore
in safety. Their arrival momentarily raised the drooping spirits of the
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population, for it was known that fighter aircraft, superior in per-
formance to the Buffalo, were on board. ‘ It is difficult °, reports Air
Vice-Marshal Maltby, who was himself but newly arrived from
England, ‘ adequately to convey the sense of tension which prevailed
as these convoys approached Singapore, and the sense of exaltation
at their safe arrival. The feeling spread that at last the Japanese were
going to be held on the ground, if not driven back, whilst it was
confidently expected that the Hurricanes would sweep the Japanese
from the sky". '

The Hurricanes, from which so much was hoped, took part in the
defence of Singapore for the first time exactly one week after their
arrival. On 20th January, 1942, twenty-seven unescorted Japanese
bombers appeared over the city. The Hurricanes shot down eight of
them. To the inhabitants, who had not quite recovered from the news
that the Army had withdrawn from Kuala Lumpur and Port Swetten-
ham, it seemed that at last the tide was beginning to turn. The next
day brought disillusion. Once more Japanese bombers attacked
Singapore in daylight, but this time they were accompanied by
Zero fighters, which forthwith showed their superiority over the
Hurricanes by shooting down five of them without loss to themselves.
Though not so fast as the Japanese Navy Zero at low heights, the
Hurricane possessed the advantage in speed, rate of climb and dive at
heights of 20,000 feet and over. Unfortunately, the Japanese often
preferred to attack at lower levels. Moreover, as the Hurricanes had -
been destined originally for the Middle East, their engines had been -
fitted with special desert air-intake filters which reduced their speed
by as much as thirty miles an hour. :

Though by then the Air Staff in London was aware of the perform-
ance of the Japanese Navy Zero fighter, they were unable to send any
type of aircraft better than the Hurricane to meet it. Spitfires were
still regarded as essential for the defence of Great Britain and not
even the air forces in the Middle East could obtain an adequate
number. Outclassed as they were in many respects by the Zero
fighters, the Hurricanes none the less contrived to cause losses to the
Japanese bombers by adopting tactics which were novel. Such
efforts were, however, constantly hampered by the increasing short-
ness of the warning period. Never at the best more than thirty
minutes, it presently fell to twenty, and before the end of the siege
almost to nothing. This lack of warning was due to the loss of the
radar stations, which were overrun one by one or were dismantled
before the enemy reached them. The closing down of the station at
Mersing, which took place about the middle of January 1942, some
time before the site was lost to the enemy, was of even graver
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consequence to the depleted Buffalo squadrons than to the
Hurricanes. With ammunition reduced to 350 rounds, petrol to 84
gallons and the substitution of the -303 machine-guns for the -5, the
rate of climb of the Buffalo aircraft still remained far too slow. It took
somewhat more than half an hour to reach 25,000 feet, the average
height at which, before the arrival of the Hurricanes, the Japanese
bombers and their escort carried out many of their raids, and those
who had the misfortune to fly the machine were, after the closing
down at Mersing, at a great tactical disadvantage, for they were
always beneath the enemy. Despite this very grave hardship, ‘it says
much for the quality of the pilots’, reports Squadron Leader Clouston
commanding No. 488 Squadron, ‘that there was no weakening of
morale’.

As the campaign developed, and the army reeled back ever faster
in face of an implacable attack sustained by highly trained and
fanatical troops, the raids on Singapore increased in numbers and
severity, though they never approached the proportions which
London had endured without flinching a year earlier. Most of them
were carried by formations of twenty-seven bomber aircraft and the
maximum number of Japanese bombers which attacked the area of
Singapore in any one day was not more than 127. Endeavours, which
can only be described as frantic, to provide shelters against the
raids, were made by the civil authorities goaded too late to take
decisions which should have been reached months before. The
original scheme, under whichin the event of an airraid theinhabitants
were to leave their houses and enter evacuation camps erected in the
outlying districts of the city, broke down with the falling of the first
bombs. It could, indeed, scarcely have been otherwise. How the
inhabitants of a congested city could successfully leave their homes
on a dark night and make their way a considerable distance to an
unbuilt-on area or a rubber plantation in the brief space of half an
hour, was not explained to them. It is hardly surprising that when the
moment came they ignored such dubious provisions for their safety.

‘The raid took place at eleven o’clock’, says an eye witness present
throughout the siege of Singapore, ‘and resulted in the complete
destruction of forty-seven shops and tenement houses. . . . There
were no slit trenches, dugouts or bunding in this area, and there were
few buildings sufficiently strong to warrant being turned into air raid
shelters. Slit trenches were, of course, out of the question. . . . They
(the authorities) tried to erect shelters, and even went so far as to
buy or requisition concrete-spun pipes, six feet in diameter, and
these they placed end to end in the street. . . . They afforded some
measure of protection, . ., , The Japanese used anti-personnel bombs
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almost exclusively. . . . I counted eight decapitated bodies in one
narrow street. These bombs were made for streets and open places;
it almost seemed as if they had been specially designed for Singapore
slums, slums which contained no shelters. . . . I looked at the drains
on each side of the narrow street. They were full of water—bloody
water’. Scenes such as these were soon to become a part of the daily
life of Singapore.

With every day, almost with every hour, the war drew closer and
closer to Singapore. Whenever the troops in the field attempted to
hold a defensive position for any length of time, they were im-
mediately outflanked, either by a swift and silent penetration of a
supposedly impenetrable jungle or by landings further down the
mangrove-fringed west coast. Moreoever they had to endure attacks
from the air of a kind similar to those made by the Luftwaffe upon
the armies of Poland two years before, deprived, like themselves, of
all means of defence against them. On 26th January the Japanese
landed at Endau on the east coast of Malaya and moved at once to
join with their forces on the west. The Royal Air Force made a
desperate effort to prevent them. At one o’clock in the afternoon,
nine aircraft of No. 100 Squadron and three of No. 36 Squadron,
flying the obsolete Vildebeests with a top speed of 137 miles an hour,
accompanied by a small force of Hurricane and Buffalo fighters,
attacked the Japanese transports and landing craft off the small port.
Zero fighters were there in plenty, but the Vildebeests held on their
course, going in to bomb and losing five of their number, including
the aircraft flown by Squadron Leader I. T. B. Rowland, leader of
the attack. The pilots, who had spent the previous night on
operations, did their best to dive-bomb the Japanese shipping but
without very much effect. Two hours later the attack was repeated,
this time by No. 36 Squadron with a fighter escort, and eight aircraft
were shot down, among the pilots lost being Squadron Leader
R. F. C. Markham, its commander. The fighter escorts to these
assaults did all they could to drive away the Japanese Zero fighters;
but they were outmatched by the numbers of the enemy and by the
superiority of these aircraft. These two attacks were typical of the
attempts made at that time by men who, to quote Major General
Percival’s Despatch, ‘throughout the later stages of the Malayan
campaign, went unflinchingly to almost certain death in obsolete
aircraft which should have been replaced many years before’.

The landing at Endau meant that any further defence of the
Malayan Peninsula was out of the question. From the 28th to
31st January Percival’s exhausted troops, their confidence shaken by
the supremacy of the enemy on the sea and in the air and by the
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numbers of armoured fighting vehicles used against them, wound
their way across the eleven hundred yard granite causeway into the
island of Singapore itself. There they took up defensive positions
outside the city and on the edge of the docks. The Japanese immedi-
ately increased their air attacks and carried them out by day and
night. Their continual pounding, to which shellfire was soon added,
made it exceedingly difficult to keep the airfields in serviceable
condition. That at Kallang, which was built on reclaimed land, was
soon more or less permanently out of action, for the mud oozed up
through the bomb craters. Conditions at Tengah were little better.
To repair the airfield there was almost impossible, for all native
labour had long since vanished. On 7th January, the Singapore War
Council, of which Duff Cooper was the Chairman, appointed a
Director of Labour, a post which might with advantage bave been
created months, if not years, earlier. This step was of little avail, for
there was no one left to direct.

The harassed, indomitable Pulford was now faced with the grim-
mest decision of all. There was nothing for it but to order evacuation.
The air force had done its utmost to help the army. The fighter
squadrons in particular had been employed far beyond wastage point
in an unceasing effort to support the troops in the field, to protect
the incoming convoys and to try to drive Japanese bombers away
from Singapore. The meagre reinforcements of Hurricanes had done
their best, but by 28th January, of the fifty-one aircraft torn from
their crates and hastily erected barely a week before, seventeen had
been destroyed, thirteen were under repair and only twenty-one still
remained serviceable. At that date the number of Buffalos was six,
made up of the remnants of Nos. 21 and 453 Squadrons of the Royal
Australian Air Force. The bombers and reconnaissance aircraft had
for weeks been reduced to a ‘token’ force. They were the first to be
withdrawn from Malaya, and by 27th January all had left it for
Sumatra where they were presently joined by a small number of
Hudsons just arrived as belated reinforcements. The three Catalina
flying boats, which had come in on 7th January, were also sent away,
and by the last day of that month, apart from the fighters, only
three Swordfish under army control, for the purpose of spotting
for the coast defence guns, were left on the island. At that date,
such fighter squadrons as remained were pinned to the four main
airfields. Three of them, Tengah, Sembawang and Seletar, were
on the northern edge of the island and could be shelled from the
mainland at a range of 1,500 to 2,000 yards. Every effort was still
being made by the ground staff to maintain them in operation.
On one occasion a bush fire on the edge of the airfield at Tengah
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was extinguished by the driver of a bulldozer who, at imminent
risk to his life, succeeded in creating a fire break between the burning
bushes and the petrol and ammunition dump. But with the Japanese
artillery in Johore it was impossible to make any further use of
these airfields. It was therefore decided by General Sir Archibald
Wavell, who had assumed Supreme Command of the Far East
Forces on 15th January, to withdraw all fighters except eight
Hurricanes and the remaining six Buffalos. Any fighter reinforce-
ments—Hurricanes carried in the aircraft carrier H.M.S. Indomitable
were expected—would go to Sumatra. In that island, Air Commodore
Vincent was ordered to form No. 226 (Fighter) Group with head-
quarters at Palembang, and No.151 Maintenance Unit was to be
established in Java, while Air Commodore Silly was to set up a new
air headquarters in Sumatra.

The evacuation of the Air Force proved a task of very great
difficulty. By 7th February, the port and shipping arrangements in
Singapore were in a state of chaos. Few ships were available and
some of their masters were not prepared to take their vessels along-
side the crowded, bomb-riven quays to load equipment and stores.
Moreover the ships had to be dispersed as widely as possible in an
attempt to reduce the size of the targets offered to the Japanese
bombers. As their attacks increased in intensity, so did the disorgani-
zation. Plans were hastily made, and still more hastily abandoned.
Ground units, some of them already shaken by their previous
experiences, became inextricably mixed up with each other and the
loss of efficiency can hardly be exaggerated. Equipment urgently
needed by the bomber force, which had been evacuated to Sumatra,
could not be loaded and was left behind. Some 200 motor transport
vehicles of inestimable value were lost on passage to that island.
More than one ship sailed without her full complement of air force
passengers and equipment ; others were sunk or badly damaged by
the triumphing Japanese Air Force.

The evacuation took fourteen days to complete. During that
period the pilots of the Buffalos and Hurricanes continued to fight
grimly against overwhelming odds. The first to succumb entirely was
the improvised photographic reconnaissance flight of Buffalos which,
under the command of Squadron Leader Lewis, had flown over 100
sorties in aircraft unarmoured and without guns. Though repeatedly
attacked and many times hit, none of them was destroyed in the air.
Hurricane pilots, with an average of only ten aircraft a day at their
disposal, maintained the fight for ten days. They took off without any
adequate ground control and did what they could, first to give cover
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to the troops crossing the causeway, then to deal with dive-bombers
after the Japanese had landed on the island, an event which took
place on 8th February, and finally to protect reinforcements which
were still arriving. With the exception of the Empress of Asia bombed
and set on fire, the Japanese made no very determined attacks upon
the ships conveying them. They knew well enough that the troops on
board would only serve to swell the army of prisoners who would be
theirs as soon as the doomed fortress fell. Instead they concentrated
their blows against the shipping moving away, and not all the efforts
of the Hurricane pilots could prevent heavy losses. Nevertheless, even
as late as 9th February, the day before the last aircraft was with-
drawn, six Japanese bombers were shot down and fourteen damaged,
our own losses being but one pilot. By then all the remaining air strips
but one had been under steady shellfire for four days. At last only
boggy Kallang was left. By almost ceaseless labour, a landing strip
750 yards long was kept in opzration for three days more. Even so,
the pilots had the greatest difficulty in avoiding the numerous bomb
craters. On 10th February, the end came, and the last fighter aircraft
were withdrawn to Sumatra.

They had fought to the end, and had, since the opening of the
campaign, destroyed an estimated number of 183 Japanese aircraft.
Now for a few more bitter days they were to carry on the fight from
the islands of the Dutch East Indies. They left behind them airfields
hastily ploughed up and equipment, for the most part, destroyed or
damaged. They also left behind Air Vice-Marshal Pulford who,
though he had been given leave to go away on Sth February, pre-
ferred to remain with the army commander until the 15th, when he
was at last persuaded to depart. This gallant postponement of his
departure cost him his life, for the motor boat, in which he left with
Rear Admiral Spooner, R.N., was damaged by bombs, and driven
ashore on one of the islands of the Juju group. For two months the
survivors in this malaria-ridden spot evaded capture; then, after
eighteen of them had died, they at length surrendered. Among the
dead were the Rear Admiral and the Air Vice-Marshal.

Long before that day Singapore had fallen. On 15th February,
hemmed in on all sides with no hope left, the troops of a supposedly
impregnable fortress laid down their arms. ‘This episode’, said
Churchill, addressing the House of Commons in secret session on
23rd April, “and all that led up to it, seems to be out of harmony with
anything that we have experienced or performed in the present war’.
The verdict of history can only endorse and enhance this most
restrained judgment.










CHAPTER III

Sumatra and Java

ON 3lst January, 1942, a fortnight before the fall of Singapore,
statements appeared in the London Press pointing out that now
that our forces had retired into the island of that name, they would
be provided with  an air umbrella * and would thus no longer have
to endure the dive-bombing and machine-gun attacks of a dominant
enemy air force. This umbrella would be furnished by fighter
squadrons operating from Sumatra and from the islands south
and south-west of Singapore, some of them less than fifty miles
away. Those who provided the British public with such glib assur-
ances were ignorant of one major fact. Once the army had been
driven out of Malaya, there was no permanent airfield from which
fighters could operate nearer than 130 miles, and this distance was
far beyond their radius. The airstrips on Singapore Island could be
used only as advanced landing grounds. Islands, such as Rangsang
and Rempang were useless, for no airfields could be, or had been,
built upon them. At no time, therefore, was the umbrella of fighters
more than a shadow, a fiction created by commentators 8,000 miles
from the scene of events and possessed of no local knowledge. In
point of fact, the few airfields available in Sumatra itself were already
congested and became more so as reinforcements arrived.

On 30th January, 1942, Air Commodore H. J. F. Hunter took
command of the improvised Bomber Group, No. 225, in Sumatra,
with Group Captain A. G. Bishop as his Senior Air Staff Officer.
Their task was not easy. Sumatra is an island about 1,000 miles long,
running parallel to the west coast of Malaya, but extending far
to the southward. Its roads are few; so are its railways and the
telephone system was primitive. For defence from air attack,
seven airfields, including a secret strip in the heart of the jungle,
known as P.II, twenty miles south of Palembang with its oilfield
and refinery, had been constructed and were more or less in operation.
There were no anti-aircraft defences, and the northern airfields were
within range of Japanese fighters.

While the much depleted bomber and reconnaissance forces,
which had been withdrawn from Malaya, were being reorganized in
D
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Sumatra, the belated air reinforcements originally destined for
Singapore began to arrive. They did so in the worst possible condi-
tions. Equipment of all kinds was woefully short. There was a notable
lack of tents, and this, since the north-east monsoon was then at its
height, was a great handicap to efficiency. At the secret airfield, P.II,
for example, accommodation for 1,500 ground staff was required,
but provision had been made for only 250. Transport hardly existed—
most of it had been lost in Singapore—and even when every bus and
lorry which could be found had been requisitioned, remained scarce
and inadequate.

In the hurried preparations for defence, the local Dutch authori-
ties played a conspicuous part. They gave every help that they could,
and by 7th February, though the Air Force units were still badly
intermingled, some kind of order out of chaos had been established.
By then, however, most of the reinforcements dribbling in from the
Middle East had had to be diverted to Java, for on 23rd January an
attack on Palembang by twenty-seven Japanese bombers showed
that the main airfield in Sumatra, P.I, could not be adequately
protected. This was confirmed when on 14th February a successful
Japanese paratroop descent was carried out on the airfield : hence-
forward bomber operations were conducted from the secret airfield
at P.IL

The general policy was to send as many Air Force ground staff as
possible to Java and to keep in Sumatra only those required to
service such aircraft as remained. The main bombing force was
No. 225 (Bomber) Group which was also responsible for reconnais-
sance northwards from the Sunda Strait, and for the protection of
convoys. These tasks were performed with the greatest difficulty. By
the end of January only forty-eight aircraft remained and most of
these ‘ required inspection and minor repairs °, or were ‘ in particu-
larly poor condition ’. In keeping them serviceable the efforts of two
Flight Sergeants, Slee and Barker, deserve mention.

For twelve days in February the squadrons continued to act as
escorts to convoys and to bomb airfields in Malaya, such as Alor
Star and Penang, held a few short weeks before by the Royal Air
Force. To do so they used the northern airfields of Sumatra as
advanced landing grounds. Here aircraft could be refuelled but could
not remain for any length of time because of Japanese bombers. The
long flights involved in these operations imposed a great strain on
the crews, who had to fly through torrential thunderstorms which
transformed the tropic night into a darkness so intense that many of
the recently arrived pilots, whose standard of night flying was, for
lack of training, not high, found very great difficulty in finding their
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way. At that time the skill and determination of Wing Commander
Jeudwine, commanding No. 84 Squadron, was outstanding. It was
largely owing to his efforts that the force was able to maintain even
a modest scale of attack. Throughout this period, the Malayan
Volunteer Air Force, by then evacuated to Sumatra, proved invaluable
in maintaining communications between P.I and the secret P.II in
their Tiger Moths and other unarmed light civil aircraft.

By 13th February, the headquarters of the Group decided that a
reconnaissance must be made to discover whether or not the Japanese
intended to land on Sumatra. The position in Singapore was known
to be desperate, and it was felt that the enemy would assuredly
attempt to extend the range of their conquests. A single Hudson from
No. 1 Squadron, Royal Australian Air Force, accordingly took off
in the afternoon and presently returned with the report that there
was a concentration of Japanese shipping north of Banka Island.
This seemed to show that an invasion of Sumatra was imminent.
An unsuccessful night attack by Blenheims in darkness and rain was
succeeded at first light on 14th February by an offensive reconnais-
sance carried out by five Hudsons. They discovered between twenty-
five and thirty transports, heavily escorted by naval vessels and
fighter aircraft. The suspected invasion was on the way. The five
Hudsons, subsequently reinforced by all available bomber aircraft,
delivered a series of attacks upon the convoy and achieved con-
spicuous success. Six transports were sunk or badly damaged for the
loss of seven aircraft. The squadrons engaged, Nos. 1 and 8 of the
Royal Australian Air Force and Nos. 27,62, 84 and 211 of the Royal
Air Force, fulfilled their tasks without fighter protection, for the
Japanese had staged an attack by parachute troops on P.I, the
fighter airfield at Palembang. The attackers were able to cut the road
to the south and west of the airfield and to overpower the meagre
ground defences. Wing Commander Maguire, the Station Comman-
der, at the head of twenty men, hastily collected, delivered a counter-
attack which held off the enemy long enough to make possible the
evacuation of the wounded and the unarmed. He was presently
driven back into the area of the control tower, where he held out for
some time, short of ammunition and with no food and water, until
compelled to withdraw after destroying stocks of petrol and such
aircraft as remained.

The fighters which should have accompanied the bomber force
attacking the convoy belonged to No. 226 (Fighter) Group, formed
on 1st February by Air Commodore Vincent. It was made up partly
of the Hurricanes and Buffalos withdrawn from Singapore, and
partly of Hurricanes flown direct from H.M.S. Indomitable, which
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had arrived off Sumatra on 26th January. Forty-eight Hurricanes left
her flight deck and, of these, fifteen went on to Singapore and the
remainder to P.I, where five crashed on landing. The guns of all of
them were choked with anti-corrosion grease, put on as a protection
during the long voyage, and they were not able therefore to go into
action for some time.

Nevertheless, the enemy did not reach Sumatra unscathed. His
convoy coming from Banka Island, already once mauled, was again
fiercely attacked on 15th February by the Hudsons and Blenheims of
No. 225 Group. This time the Hurricanes, though their strength had
by then been seriously depleted in attacks made upon them when on
the ground at Palembang, were with the bombers. The results
achieved were even more successful than those of the day before.
‘The bombers and fighters, operating from the secret airfield P.II to
which they had hastily repaired, attacked twenty Japanese transports
and their escort of warships either in the Banka Strait or at the mouth
of the Palembang River. Between 6.30 in the morning and 3.30 in the
afternoon, a series of assaults were delivered, their number being
conditioned only by the speed with which the aircraft making them
could be refuelled and rearmed. At first, opposition was strong, but
the indefatigable Blenheims of Nos. 84 and 211 Squadrons and the
Hudsons of No. 62 Squadron returned again and again until it
weakened and eventually died away. Before the sun went down, all
movement in the river had ceased and such barges and landing craft
as survived had pulled beneath the tangled shade of the trees lining
its banks. The Hurricanes, too, though flown by pilots most of whom
were fresh from operational training units and had just completed a
long sea voyage, took their full share in this heartening affair. Their
newly cleaned guns did great execution and, as a finale, they destroyed
a number of Japanese Navy Zero fighters caught on the ground on
Banka Island. These were part of a force thought to have flown off
from a Japanese aircraft carrier which had been attacked and sunk
by a Dutch submarine. Thus, when the sun set on 15th February, the
day on which the fortress of Singapore surrendered unconditionally,
the greatest success up till then scored in the Far Eastern War had
been achieved, and achieved by the Royal Air Force and the Royal
Australian Air Force. The landing of the enemy at the mouth of the
Palembang River had been completely arrested, thousands of his men
had been killed or wounded, and his plan of invasion brought
temporarily to naught. The action fought that day on the coast of
Sumatra shows only too plainly what might have been accomplished
on the coasts of Siam and Malaya had an adequate Air Force been
available.
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Sad to say, this highly successful counter-measure had no sequel.
There were no troops or naval craft available to exploit the victory
and the reaction of the Japanese was immediate and violent. They
made another parachute troop landing on Palembang airfield and in
the neighbourhood of the town. It was successful and its success
jeopardized the situation at P.II, the secret airfield, where stocks of
food, ammunition and bombs were running very low. Orders were
reluctantly given for a retreat to Java.

All aircraft were to fly; their ground staff were to go by ship and
to embark at Oesthaven. Here occurred an administrative blunder
which added to the difficulties of the Air Force and considerably
reduced its further capacity for fighting. The Dutch authorities at the
port had already set on fire the bazaar and destroyed all equipment
of a military kind. A dark pall of smoke lay over the town, and
beneath it the airmen striving to carry out their orders and to reach
Java as quickly as possible found themselves faced with an obstacle
created not by the enemy, but by the British Military Embarkation
Officer. He was one of those men to whom an order is as sacred and
inflexible as are the Commandments of Sinai. All officers and men of
the ground staff were to be clear of the port by midnight, but they
were to leave, so he ordained, without their motor transport or their
equipment. In other words, they were to reach Java in a condition in
which they would be quite unable to take any further part in opera-
tions. To every remonstrance he returned the same answer: those
were the orders. It says something for his personality that they were
obeyed. No. 41 Air Stores Park left behind them spare Hurricane
engines and other urgent stores ; so did the Repair and Salvage Unit
of No. 266 (Fighter) Wing, and the anti-aircraft guns and ammunition
brought away with such difficulty from P.I and P.II were also
abandoned.

This departure, in an atmosphere which can only be described as
that of panic, was quite unnecessary, for two days later Group
Captain Nicholetts at the head of fifty volunteers from No. 605
(Fighter) Squadron, returned to Oesthaven by sea from Batavia in
H.M.S. Ballarat of the Royal Australian Navy and spent twelve hours
loading the ship to the gunwales with such air force equipment as
could by then still be salvaged.

By 18th February, the evacuation from Sumatra to Java of air force
pilots and ground staff had been completed and more than 10,000
men belonging to different units, and in a great state of confusion,
had arrived in the island. To add to the difficulties of the situation,
the civilians in Java, who up till the landing of the Japanese on
Singapore Island had shown calmness and confidence, now began to
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give way to despair and were soon crowding on to any vessel they
could find which would take them away from a country they regarded
as lost. The confusion brought about by the mass of outgoing
refugees and incoming reinforcements is more easily imagined than
described, and the scenes enacted a few days before in Singapore
were reproduced on an even larger scale in Batavia. Equipment, motor
transport, abandoned cars, goods of every size, description and
quality, littered its choked quays, and still troops and air force ground
staff poured in, hungry, disorganized and, for the moment, useless.
Inevitably their spirits and discipline suffered, and the climax was
reached when it became necessary to disband one half-trained unit.
These few were the only men for whom the burden proved in-
supportable. The rest rose gallantly to their hopeless task and under
the stimulus of Air Vice-Marshal Maltby and Air Commodore
W. E. Staton, overcame the chaotic circumstances of their lot and in
less than twelve days were ready to renew a hopeless contest.

The fighter strength available had, by the 18th, been reduced
to twenty-five Hurricanes, of which eighteen were serviceable. The
bomber and reconnaissance squadrons were in equally desperate
case. At Semplak airfield, twelve Hudsons, and at Kalidjati, six
Blenheims, sought to sustain the war. Behind them, No. 153 Mainten-
ance Unit and No. 81 Repair and Salvage Unit, together with No. 41
Air Stores Park, did what they could to provide and maintain a
ground organization. On 19th February all the Blenheims available,
to the number of five, attacked Japanese shipping at Palembang in
Sumatra, and this attack was repeated on the 20th and 21st, a 10,000
ton ship being set on fire. On the 19th and 22nd, the Japanese
delivered two ripostes at Semplak which proved fatal. Of the
dwindling force of bomber aircraft, fifteen were destroyed. Yet even
after this crushing blow the Air Force still had some sting left. On
23rd February, three Blenheims claimed to have sunk a Japanese
submarine off the coast.

By then the hopes originally entertained by Wavell and the Chiefs
of Staff in London of building up the strength of the Allies in Java
had been abandoned; Supreme Allied Headquarters had left the
island and handed over to the Dutch Command, to which hence-
forward the remains of the Air Force looked for guidance and orders.
They came from General ter Poorten, who had as his Chief of Air
Staff, Major General van Oyen. Under the swiftly developing menace
of invasion, these officers, with Maltby and General H. D. W. Sitwell,
made what preparations they could to maintain the defence. Despite
the encouraging messages which they teceived about this time from
the Prime Minister, the Secretary of State for Air and the Chief of the
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Air Staff, Maltby and Sitwell knew that no help from the outside
could be expected for a long time.

General ter Poorten had under him some 25,000 regular troops
backed up by a poorly armed militia numbering 40,000. Sitwell could
count only upon a small number of British troops, two Australian
infantry battalions, four squadrons of light tanks and three anti-
aircraft regiments, of which the 21st Light accounted for some thirty
Japanese aircraft before the end came. On the sea, Admiral Dorman
commanded a small mixed force of which the main units were a
British, an Australian, an American and two Dutch cruisers.

No breathing space for the organization of these inadequate and
ill-armed forces was afforded by the enemy. On 26th February, a
Japanese convoy, numbering more than fifty transports with a
strong naval escort, was discovered by air reconnaissance to be
moving through the Macassar Strait southwards towards the Java
Sea. On the next day, Admiral Dorman put out to meet it. Hopelessly
outgunned and outnumbered he fought a most gallant action and
lost his entire fleet, a sacrifice which secured a respite of twenty-four
hours. Subsequent to the naval battle the Air Force attacked twenty-
eight ships of the convoy eventually found north of Rembang on
the night of the 28th February. It was in this action, in which a
small force of American Fortresses took part, that Squadron Leader
Wilkins, the outstanding commander of No. 36 Squadron, was killed.
The squadron claimed to have sunk eight ships ; the Americans, seven.

By 1st March, the position became clear enough after the confusion
of the previous two days. The convoy which No. 36 Squadron had
attacked was one of three all making for Java. What remained of the
Blenheims and Hudsons after the bombing of Semplak, took off
from Kalidjati whither they had been transferred, and did their best
to interfere with the Japanese landing at Eretanwetan, some eighty
miles from Batavia. They went in again and again, some pilots being
able to make three sorties, and accounted for at least three and
possibly eight ships, but they could not prevent the landing. By dawn
on Ist March the bomber crews, who had operated almost without a
break for thity-six hours, were approaching the limit of endurance.
Hardly had they dispersed, however, to seek the rest which had at
last been given them, when the Dutch squadrons sharing their airfield
left without notice. The Dutch aircraft had just disappeared into the
clear morning air when a squadron of Japanese light tanks, supported
by lorry-borne infantry, made their appearance. The exhausted pilots
of No. 84 Squadron, who had by then reached their billets eight miles
away, had no time to return to their aircraft, which were in conse-
quence all destroyed or captured; but the last four Hudsons possessed
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by No. 1 Squadron, Royal Australian Air Force, being close to the run-
way, were taken off under fire and reached a nearby airfield at Andir.
Kalidjati had fallen ; a small ground defence party composed of Army
and Air Force officers and men, ably supported by the local Dutch
defence force, fought with great gallantry to defend it and died to the
last man. Their efforts were, however, of no avail, for they had been
surprised by the swift move of the Japanese who, after landing at
Eretanwetan in the early hours of that morning, had encountered no
opposition on the ground either on the beaches or at the various
strong points covering the river crossings. The fact was that by then
conditions in Java were too confused and desperate to make further
defence anything but local and spasmodic.

Nevertheless the Air Force struggled on for a few more days.
Nos. 232 and 605 (Fighter) Squadrons had remained in action from
the 17th to 27th February doing their utmost to conduct the air
defence of Batavia. The normal odds which they were required to
meet were about ten to one and they had little warning of the
approach of enemy aircraft. Their task would have been eased and
might, perhaps, have been successfully accomplished had they
received as reinforcements the P.40 fighters carried on the U.S. air-
craft carrier Langley. After considerable delays this ship had been
ordered to sail for the Javanese port of Tjilitjap. She set out on what
was a forlorn hope and as soon as she came within range of Japanese
bomber and torpedo aircraft based on Kendari in the Celebes, she
was attacked and sunk.

By noon on 28th February the total strength of the fighters was
less than that of a single squadron, but still the hopeless fight
continued. It was decided to retain No. 232 Squadron, under the
command of Squadron Leader Brooker, since all its pilots and
ground staff had volunteered to remain in Java. Vacancies were filled
by volunteers from No. 605 and on Ist March the reconstructed
squadron, in the company of ten Dutch Kittyhawks and six Dutch
Buffalos, all that remained of a most gallant and skilled Air Force
which had been in constant action beside the Royal Air Force,
attacked the Japanese, who were engaged on two new landings begun
that night at Eretanwetan. Despite intense anti-aircraft fire, twelve
Hurricanes went in low and inflicted heavy losses on Japanese troops in
barges and set on fire six small sloops and three tanks. They also caused
a certain number of casualties and a certain amount of damage to the
Japanese troops going ashore at another point on the west coast of
Java.

Though the Royal Air Force could hamper the landings and
increase their cost in terms of casualties, they could not prevent them,
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and the next day saw the Hurricanes pinned to their airfield at
Tjililitan, whence they were withdrawn with some difficulty to Andir,
near Bandoeng. During the withdrawal they maintained a running
fight with Japanese fighters.

The last remnants of the Air Force maintained the fight for
another three days, attacking the newly captured airfield at Kalidjati
on the nights of the 3rd, 4th and 5th March. These assaults were
made by the remaining Vildebeests of No. 36 (Torpedo Bomber)
Squadron, of which only two were serviceable when the end came.
On the morning of the 6th, they were ordered to seck the dubious
safety of Burma, but both crashed in Sumatra and were lost. At the
same time the gallant remnant of No. 1 Squadron, Royal Australian
Air Force, took its three remaining Hudsons to Australia.

In Java, as in Malaya, the attitude of the local white population
contributed in no small measure to the swift and overwhelming
disaster. The feelings of the Dutch in Java can best be described as
those of confused despair. The island on which they lived and from
which they drew the source of their great wealth had been at peace
for many generations. Now, the prospect of the destruction by fire
and high explosive of all that had been built up and handed on to
them from the past stared them in the face and their hearts misgave
them. If any great show of resistance were to be made, Surabaya and
Bandoeng would burn. Why then make it, when the chances of
success were infinitesimal? When it is remembered that the chief
Far Eastern bastion of an ally far stronger than they were had fallen
after a bare fortnight’s siege, their attitude is understandable. It was,
however, responsible for the grim scenes which were enacted during
the last few hours of resistance. ‘I was in command that morning’,
records an officer of the Royal Air Force writing of the events of the
last day, ‘of a big convoy with all the remaining spare arms, am-
munition and such-like equipment of the Royal Air Force in Java.
We practically had to fight our way through the mess to prevent the
lorries being forcibly stopped, and get them, according to our orders,
up on to the hill roads where we understood—poor mutts—that at
last we would have another go at the Nips’.

- The surrender of Java was thus a foregone conclusion as soon as
the Japanese had set firm foot upon the island. Nevertheless it took
place in circumstances which, to say the least of it, showed little
consideration towards the armed forces, ill-armed and ill-prepared
though they were. On 5th March, ter Poorten convened a conference
in Bandoeng which was attended, amongst others, by Maltby and
the Army Commander, Sitwell. At this meeting, the Dutch Com-
mander-in-Chief painted a picture of the situation which could not
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have been more gloomy. Bandoeng, he said, might fall at any
moment, and if its outer defences were pierced, he did not propose
to defend the town. The native Indonesians were very hostile to the
Dutch and this hostility made it quite impossible to retire to the hills
and there carry on a guerilla war. Nevertheless, though he himself
was prepared to surrender, he would, he said, issue orders to the
local Dutch commanders to maintain the fight. He had, he averred,
instructed his troops not only to do so, but also to disregard any
order which he might be compelled to issue calling upon them to lay
down their arms. In the event, when discussing the final terms of
surrender with General Maruyama, the Japanese Commander-in-
Chief, the Dutch Commander subsequently withdrew this order to
disobey orders.

The attitude of ter Poorten does not seem to have been shared by
General Schilling, commanding at Batavia, who was prepared to
emulate the selfless gallantry of Admiral Dorman, but who did not
possess enough weight to influence the general situation. After some
discussion, the Dutch Commander-in-Chief was induced to name an
area north of Santosa as the spot where British forces should
concentrate for a final stand, but he made no secret of his opinion
that to do so would be folly or worse. That grim evening, therefore,
Maltby and Sitwell were brought face to face with the imminence of
disaster. One slender hope remained. General Schilling, who had not
been present at the conference, was understood to favour a retreat
to the hills in south-west Java whither, it was said, he had already
been able to transfer a certain quantity of stores and ammunition with
the courageous intention of prolonging resistance. Hardly had this
faint flame been kindled, when it expired. Ter Poorten made any
such move impossible by making Schilling responsible for the
defence of Bandoeng while at the same time issuing orders that it was
not to be defended, and forbidding any further fighting.

The two British officers took what counsel they could together.
The surrender of some of those under their command, those for
example at the airfield of Andir, was inevitable. Andir was part
of Bandoeng which had been declared an open town, and the
officers and other ranks at Poerwokerta had neither rations nor
arms. Their position was, in the circumstances, hopeless. For the
rest, Santosa seemed to offer the only chance but, when reconnoitred,
it was found to be quite unsuitable for defence and to be inhabited
by Dutchmen who had obviously no intention of continuing the
struggle. '

Throughout this confused period, matters were further compli-
cated by the efforts made to evacuate as many men of the Royal
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Air Force as could be got away. They left from Poerwokerta, priority
of passage being accorded to aircrews and technical staff. By Sth
March seven out of twelve thousand had been taken off, but by
then no more ships were available for they had all been sunk and
about 2,500 of the air force awaiting evacuation were therefore
left stranded in the transit camp. In these attempts to send away
as many skilled men as possible the Dutch gave but little help.
They could not be brought to realize that our airmen were quite
unpractised as soldiers and would be of far greater value playing
their part as trained members of an aircrew or as technicians on the
ground, in some other theatre of war, than they would be trying,
without arms or food, to stage a last stand.

Santosa being unsuitable, about 8,000 mixed English and Austra-
lian forces, of whom some 1,300 belonged to the Royal Air Force,
were concentrated at Garoet; here, too, the Dutch District Civil
Administrator, Koffman, proved unsympathetic. He feared what he
described as ‘a massacre of the whites’ if any guerrilla warfare
were attempted, and made no effort to collect supplies or to give
any aid to the British forces which had so inconveniently arrived
in his district. They were by then in a sorry plight and by then, too,
the last embers of resistance in the air had expired. By 7th March,
only two undamaged Hurricanes were left and on that day these,
the last representatives of a fighter force which, during the campaign
in Sumatra and Java, had accounted for about forty aircraft, their
own losses amounting to half as much again, were destroyed.

On the next day, 8th, came the inevitable climax. About 9 a.m.,
to their great astonishment, the British commanders received a
translation of a broadcast, made an hour previously by ter Poorten,
in which he said that all organized resistance in Java had ceased, and
that the troops under his command were no longer to continue
the fight. The Dutch land forces, in striking contrast to their Navy
and Air Force, had capitulated almost without a struggle. They felt
themselves to be no match for the Japanese.

This broadcast revoked all previous decisions and was ter Poorten’s
final word. Maltby and Sitwell were placed in an impossible position.
A decision of decisive import had been taken and promulgated
without reference to them. If, however, they decided to disregard
it, their troops, should they continue the struggle, would, under in-
ternationallaw, be subject to summary execution when captured. They
had few arms, and what there were, werein the hands of men untrained
to them; they were surrounded by a hostile native populace, with
little food and, for drinking, they had nothing but contaminated
water. In such conditions and with medicine-chests empty, they were
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in no state to carry on the fight. Moreover their whereabouts and
intentions were well known to the enemy. In these circumstances,
the two commanders had no alternative but to comply with the
Dutch Commander-in-Chief’s order to surrender. Four days later
they negotiated terms with the Japanese commander in Bandoeng,
Lieutenant General Maruyama. He undertook to treat all prisoners
in accordance with the terms of the Geneva Convention of 1929.

How they subsequently fared can be gathered from a description
of the arrival in Batavia two years later of a contingent which had
been sent to one of the numerous islands of the Malayan archi-
pelago, there to work on airfields. It has been set down by a squadron
leader, once a Member of Parliament, who survived the horrors
of Java, horrors which were repeated in Malaya, in Siam, in Korea,
in Japan—anywhere where the Japanese were in control of unarmed
and defenceless men—and is one of the few printable pages of a diary
kept intermittently during his captivity and hidden from his gaolers :

Of all the sights that I would like to forget [he writes] I think I
would put first some of these returning island drafts being driven into
Batavia . . . Imagine a series of barbed wire compounds in the dark
with ourselves a gathering furtive stream of all races East and West,
in every kind of clothing or none ; here an old tunic in rags with a
pair of cut down pyjama trousers, there a blanketed shivering malaria
case or someone with night-blindness groping along with a stick,
blundering over gypsy bundles of still sleeping prisoners. At the side
runs a camp road with one high floodlight and all of us waiting to
see if any of our friends have made the grade and returned. At last
a long procession of stooping figures creeps down the road with
jabbering Nips cracking at their shins with a rifle or the flat of a
sword. Most of them half naked, and they leading those going blind
with pellagra. Others shambling along with their feet bound up in
lousy rags over tropical sores (not our little things an inch across but
real horrors), legs swollen up or half paralysed with beri-beri,
enormous eyes fallen into yellow crumpled faces like aged gnomes.
And then a search—God knows what for after months in a desert
and weeks at sea. Some Jap would rush up and down hurling any-
thing any of them still possessed all over the place, while as sure as
the clock, the dreadful hopeless rain would begin again like a lunatic
helplessly fouling his bed. Everything swilling into the filthy racing
storm gutters; men trying to reach out and rescue a bit of kit and
being picked up and hurled bodily back into the ranks; others
clutching hold of a wife’s photo or suchlike souvenir of home, small
hope for the Nips always liked pinching and being obscene about a
woman’s picture. And at last after two or three hours when everyone
was soaking and shivering with cold, the dreary, hunted column
would crawl down the road out of the patch of light where the great
atlas moths disputed with the bats, away into an isolation compound,
with no light, no food, no knowledge of where to find a tap or latrine,
with wet bedding or none at all. The Nips would disappear laughing
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and cackling back to bed, we faded away to our floor space and all
was quiet again; and the evening or the morning was the eight or
nine hundredth day and God no doubt saw that it was good.

In few respects does a nation show itself in its true colours more
clearly than in its treatment of enemies who have the misfortune to
fall into its hands. To describe as bestial the behaviour of the
Japanese towards their prisoners of war of whatever race or rank is
an insult to the animal world.

Of the thousands of Royal Air Force and Royal Australian Air
Force officers and airmen who fell into Japanese hands in Malaya,
Sumatra, Java and later Burma, 3,462 only were found alive, after
due retribution had fallen from the skies above Hiroshima upon the
sons of Nippon.

Not by any means all the Air Force was captured in Java. Some,
as has been related, were successfully taken by ship to Australia, and
a small number to Ceylon. By a combination of good fortune and
stern courage a still smaller number escaped. Of these, the most
remarkable was Wing Commander J. R. Jeudwine, commanding
No. 84 Squadron, which it will be recalled lost the last of its
Blenheims at the capture of Kalidjati. Such pilots and ground staff
as remained had been sent to the port of Tjilitjap, there to be taken
by ship to Australia. No ship, however, was forthcoming ; the port
was in flames, and the ‘Scorpion’, the only seaworthy vessel to be
found, was a ship’s lifeboat capable of holding at most twelve.
To try to avoid capture by taking to the woods and jungles near the
shore there to await rescue by submarine offered a slender chance.
To seek that help in an open boat seemed certain death. Jeudwine
and ten others chose this course and boarded the *Scorpion’. Flying
Officer C. P. L. Streatfield alone knew the elements of sailing ; Pilot
Officer S. G. Turner could handle a sextant and was chosen as
navigator ; the remainder of the crew was made up of another officer
and seven Australian sergeants. On the evening of 7th March, they
put to sea, bound for Australia which the navigator calculated would
take sixteen days. It took forty-seven. Through all that time they
never lost heart, though as day after day passed in blazing sun or
torrential rain, the chances of reaching land grew smaller and
smaller. They played games, held competitions, but found that the
mental exercise made us very hungry and that talking and arguing
brought on thirst’. Saturday night at sea was kept religiously, a
ration of liquor being issued, which was found on closer investigation
to be a patent cough cure. Their worst experience was the visit paid
to them by a young whale, about twice the size of the ¢Scorpion’, who
came to rest lying in a curve with its tail under the boat. ‘Eventually
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it made off, and when we had regained the power of movement, we
passed round a bottle of Australian *3 Star”” Brandy . . . after which
we did not care if we saw elephants, pink or otherwise, flying over us
in tight formation’. At long last, they sighted land near Frazer Islet,
were found by a Catalina flying boat of the United States Navy, and
taken to Perth. An American submarine sent at once to Java found
no sign of their comrades.

Such men as these typify the spirit of the less fortunate who had
fought to the end in circumstances which, from the very beginning,
made victory impossible, and even prolonged defence out of the
question. It was through no fault of theirs that they did not accom-
plish more. The straits to which they were reduced, flying unsuitable
aircraft in the worst conditions, were soon reproduced on the same
scale farther north. How the Air Force fared in the first campaign of
Burma must nqow be told.



CHAPTER IV
Burma Falls

Two days before Christmas, 1941, and a fortnight after Japan had
entered the war, some eighty of her bombers, with an escort of
thirty fighters, dropped the first bombs on Rangoon, the capital of
Burma. They fell on women in the market places, seated, cheroots
between painted lips, behind their stalls of dried fish and betel-nuts;
upon worshippers on the marble way about the great Shwe
Dagén pagoda ; upon coolies sweating beneath their burdens on the
quays or in the Strand Road; upon British and Chinese merchants
in their clubs or gracious bungalows—in a word upon a people
unprepared for war and in whom curiosity had ousted fear. It cost
them dear. About 2,000 were killed that day by fragmentation bombs.
Forty-eight hours went by and then as the Christian community was
celebrating Christmas the bombers came again in like strength and
killed some 5,000 more.

As at Pearl Harbour and Singapore, so it was at Rangoon. The
Japanese, carefully prepared and ready to the last long-range tank,
struck and the blows were swift and deadly. In delivering them
there were two objects. An attack on Rangoon, causing panic and
disorganization, would make easier the conquest of Burma; but its
immediate effect would be to dam up the thin stream of supplies
flowing from that port to China. Its course was northwards over range
after range of steep, teak-covered hills, along the few but well-built
roads, along the railway which ran past the red walls of the King’s
palace at Mandalay, up the tree-fringed Irrawaddy till all routes
merged into one at Lashio and the winding Burma Road stretched its
looped, interminable length before the radiators of the creaking
lorries. Seize Rangoon and they would come to a standstill or roll
on empty to a China deprived at long last of all foreign aid and
irrevocably doomed.

Rangoon was not only at the head of the route along which
trickled supplies to China, it was also the gateway to Burma itself.
No power invading that country could hope to do so with success
until it had first captured the city and its port. Burma in shape is
somewhat like a man’s left hand with the forefinger and thumb
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extending and pointing southwards from the Himalayan foothills on
the wrist. Rangoon is on the ball of the thumb and is situated in a
plain formed at that point by the delta of the Irrawaddy. The plains
in Burma, not very numerous, all run north and south, being divided
one from another by ridge upon ridge of serrated, jungle-clad hills.
Her invaders have therefore been compelled by nature always to
follow the same route. They can move from south to north or north to
south, the direction taken by the rivers, road and railways, but not
from east to west. Running down from the Himalayas which seal
Burma on the north are two nearly parallel ranges of mountains—
the Arakan Yomas to the west and the Shan Hills to the east.
Thrusting them apart is the jungle valley of the Irrawaddy, and
further east near the Chinese and Tongkanese borders runs the deep
and narrow valley of the Salween River. Below these hills and the
plain between, a long forefinger, the narrow coastal strip of Tenas-
serim, points straight at Malaya.

By reason of its geographical position and its natural defences
Burma is the bastion between India on the west and China and Indo-
China on the east. To seize it meant not only an end of supplies to
China, but also the establishment of a firm base lavishly stocked with
rice and oil, for an invasion of India. Conversely, should the Allies
ever be able to take the offensive, Burma lay on that vital outer
perimeter which it was the first aim of the Japanese to establish in -
order to defend the Pacific with its islands and ultimately their own
homeland. This perimeter their early and swift successes soon
created and within a few months it was running along a line drawn
through the Kuriles, the Marshalls, the Bismarcks, on to Timor,
Java, Sumatra and north again through Malaya and Burma.

The main Allied defensive position in that country was that of the
River Salween, and to assist the army in the holding of it plans had
been drawn up for the construction of eight airfields with their
appropriate satellites. By the time war broke out, thanks to the
energy and determination of No. 221 Group, commanded by an
Australian, Group Captain E. R. Manning, seven of these had been
built and they formed the knots of a string joining Lashio in the
north to Mingaladon in the south. There were also landing strips
still further south at Moulmein, Tavoy, Mergui and Victoria Point,
and still further north at Myitkyina, as well as an airfield on the
island of Akyab on the west coast. Far out in the Indian Ocean
were moorings for flying boats situated for the most part in the
islands forming the Andaman and Nicobar groups.

An air force based on this chain of airfields faced almost due east

against an enemy advancing, as did the Japanese, from Thailand. It
E
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was thus at a disadvantage because owing to the mountainous and
difficult nature of the country very few warning posts could be set up
and the approach of enemy aircraft could in consequence only rarely
be predicted. Had the posts of Toungoo, Heho and Namsang been
situated in the Irrawaddy valley, this would not have been so, but
they were not, and the most unhappy consequences inevitably
followed.

In marked contrast to the difficulties encountered in Malaya, the
construction of airfields in Burma was carried out smoothly and with
the co-operation of the Government. All were soon provided with
one or two all-weather runways able to take modern aircraft of the
largest kind. There was also accommodation for staff and for stocks
of ammunition, but anti-aircraft guns were lacking and the warning
system, as has been said, was defective. The space available in Burma
for the use of a defending air force was considerable ; unfortunately
it was the force itself which was almost wholly lacking. Constituted
in April 1941, it was formed as No. 221 Group with headquarters at
Rangoon and was subsequently to work side by side with the
American Volunteer Group attached to the Chinese Air Force and
with the Indian Air Force. In all, however, only thirty-seven front
line aircraft, British and American, were available in Burma though
the plan of defence stipulated that a figure of 280 was the minimum
necessary to meet the invading enemy. Of these thirty-seven, sixteen
were Buffalos, these being a flight of No. 67 (Fighter) Squadron,
though temporarily under the administrative control of No. 60
(Bomber) Squadron. There was also available a communication
flight of Moth types belonging to the Burmese Volunteer Air Force.
The American aircraft, a squadron of twenty-one P.40’s, were part of
the American Volunteer Group stationed at Kunming for the defence
of the Burma Road. The Squadron had been specially detached by
Generalissimo Chiang Kai-shek for the defence of Rangoon and with
the rest of the force was under the command of Colonel, presently
General, C. L. Chennault, a modern condottiere, who with his
hard-fighting pilots had ‘saved the sum of things for pay’ in China.

Against this small force the Japanese, whose intention it was to
gain control over the Burmese air with the least possible delay,
brought some 400 bombers and fighters. Less than three weeks after
their attack on Pearl Harbour, they opened the assault with the
first of the raids on Rangoon, and they did so comforted by the
thought that the success of their campaign in Malaya was already
virtually certain. The effect of these raids was immediate and wide-
spread panic. All who could, fled or prepared to do so. The number
~of men, women and children who began immediately to stream
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out of the city will never be accurately known, but it was not less
than 100,000. As the campaign proceeded, and more and more of
their country became absorbed by the enemy, this number increased,
until it seemed that half the population were wending their way
towards the inhospitable north, disorganised, panic-stricken, without
hope. Thousands died by the wayside from cholera, malaria, or
the equally deadly assaults of fatigue and hunger. Through the hot
jungles, past the steaming paddy-fields, up into the cruel hills, they
plodded on, making for the dubious safety of India. Those who
eventually reached it made use in the later stages of their flight of
a track previously traversed by none but a few head hunters and
Lord Curzon in a litter. After covering, many of them, a thousand
miles, some 400,000, a broken and disease-ridden remnant, achieved
their goal.

This terrible migration of human beings, one of the grimmest
recorded by history, was still in the future, however, when the
Japanese raiding aircraft drew off from Rangoon on that unhappy
Christmas Day of 1941. They had not retired unscathed. The Ameri-
can Tomahawks (P.40’s) and the Buffalos of the Royal Air Force
claimed to have destroyed thirty-six of them in those two days, some
of their victims being long-range fighters. This was no mean achieve-
ment, if the difficulties under which the defence operated are borne in
mind. Chief among them was, and remained, an almost total lack of
warning. There was only one Radar unit in the whole of Burma, and
this was already obsolete when it was set up to the east of Rangoon to
supplement the chain of observer posts spread thinly along the hills
and connected with Air Headquarters by a precarious telephone
service. The unit did all that was possible, but its efficiency may be
judged by the fact that only on one occasion did the warning which
it gave of the approach of enemy aircraft arrive earlier—and then
only by a few minutes—than that given by the men of the Observer
Corps. In those days, orders to ‘scramble’ were often delivered to
the waiting pilots by messengers riding to them from the operations
room on bicycles. The defence was, therefore, at a great disadvan-
tage, and to have even a slight chance of engaging in"successful
combat, the Buffalos and P.40’s, each flying through the wall of
dust created by its predecessor, had to climb away from the attacking
enemy. Having with difficulty reached the necessary height, they
would then turn upon the Japanese bombers, which they usually
found flying in one or more formations of twenty-seven with fighters
circling round them. Making no attempt to pull out of their dive,
and disregarding all opposition, the British and American pilots
would- head straight for their quarry. If they were not shot down by
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the Japanese fighters, they pulled out of their dive, laboured once
more to gain height and then returned to the fray. Such tactics,
though unorthodox, were singularly successful, and for a time kept
the enemy at bay. After the Christmas Day attack on Rangoon, he
drew off, and a period of precarious calm, lasting almost a month,
followed. ‘Life in the city has returned to normal’ reported a local
newspaper, ‘Daylight robberies have started again.’

The quality of pilots and aircrews was of the highest, but the
ground staff possessed little training in arms, with all that this implies.
They had not passed through the usual processes by which discipline
is built up and maintained in a force of armed men. They were in
consequence subject to all the strains and stresses which bewilder
civilians.

During the brief respite which ensued after the Christmas Day
attack, reinforcements, desperately needed, and which took the form
of a squadron of Blenheims and some thirty Hurricanes, reached
No. 221 Group. By then the Air Officer Commanding the R.A.F. in
Burma, Air Vicé-Marshal D. F. Stevenson, had made his plans.
Such bombers as he had would be used to strike the airfields in
Thailand from which the Japanese Air Force was operating. The
fighters would be sent against the advanced enemy air bases and
would give cover to the army on the banks of the Salween. These
plans were put into execution as soon as the battle was joined and
their soundness immediately proved. By using advanced bases at
Moulmein, Mergui, Tavoy and elsewhere, the Hurricanes achieved a
fleeting but considerable success. They, and the Blenheims of No. 113
Squadron, which had begun their operations only a few hours after
their arrival from the Middle East by dropping 11,000 pounds of
bombs on the chief base of the Japanese at Bangkok, had soon
accounted for some fifty-eight enemy bombers and fighters on the
ground, mainly in the Thailand area, and in so doing had delayed the
achievement by the enemy of air supremacy. The small British force
was well and resolutely handled by Stevenson, who, to use his own
phrase, had decided to ‘lean forward’ with some of his fighters and,
by attacking the Japanese Air Force when it was on the ground, to
relieve pressure on the army.

Such tactics, contrasting as they did with those pursued by the air
forces in Malaya, depended on an adequate supply of aircraft and
on their maintenance, and it was precisely these which were lacking.
The Blenheims, for example, after their attack on Bangkok on 8th
January, 1942, had to be sent for a refit, urgently necessary as the
result of their long flight from the Middle East, to Lashio where
they remained out of harm’s way, but also out of action until 19th
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January. Shortage of tools and spare parts made it impossible for
them to take the air again before that date.

In the meantime, the battle in the air above Rangoon, which
had for some weeks died away, was renewed and thereafter continued
until the city was abandoned. In the eight weeks which elapsed
between 23rd December, 1941, and 25th February, 1942, thirty-one
attacks by day and night were made upon it by enemy heavy bombers
ranging in strength from one to sixteen. The weight of attack may
seem small in comparison with the raids by the Luftwaffe on London
and other English towns in the winter of 1940 and 1941 and with the
huge raids carried out by the Allies in the later stages of the war;
but for a population ill-supplied with shelters and shaken by a form
of warfare to which they were entirely unaccustomed, it was serious
enough. Moreover, to defend Rangoon at night as well as by day was
too much to ask of the Hurricane pilots and their American com-
rades. Some repose was necessary, for each day they had to remain at
constant readiness between dawn and sunset. Nevertheless they made
several successful interceptions at night and succeeded in inflicting
casualties upon the enemy, one Japanese bomber falling in flames
close to the airfield at Mingaladon.

Between 23rd and 29th January the Japanese made a determined
effort to achieve supremacy in the air over Rangoon and to over-
whelm Stevenson’s small force of fighters. To do so they made use
of 200 aircraft or more of which the majority were fighters. They
failed and their failure is a measure of the soundness of the defence
and the resolution of the Allied fighter pilots. In six days of fighting
the Japanese lost a round total of fifty bombers and fighters, a
set-back severe enough to drive them once more to the shelter of
the dark.

About a month later, on 24th and 25th February, the enemy
made his third and last attempt to achieve in the air what his armies
were soon to accomplish on the ground. In those two days he used
166 bombers and fighters in a series of resolute onslaughts. On the
first day No. 67 (F) Squadron and the Americans claimed to have
shot down 37 and seven probably destroyed. On the second day
the pilots of the P.40’s maintained that they had accounted for
twenty-four of the Japanese.! Whatever the accuracy of the claims,
the fact remains that the Japanese made no further attempt to seek
domination in the air above Rangoon until the events on the ground
gave them control of our airfields.

The achievement by the Royal Air Force of air superiority, local

! When fighting over the soil of China each American pilot received the
equivalent of £125 sterling for every Japanese aircraft he shot down.
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and transient though it was, influenced the course of the battle on
the land, for it enabled reinforcements arriving at the last minute
to be put ashore unmolested, and when in the end the army was
compelled to retreat from Rangoon, the demolition parties were
able to complete the destruction of the oil storage tanks and refinery
and the port installations. Even this final withdrawal, both by land
and sea, was carried out without interference from the air, so
shaken were the Japanese air forces.

Though by the skilful and unlimited use of his fighters, Stevenson
was able to postpone the fate of Rangoon, only a predominant
force of bombers could have enabled him to postpone it indefinitely.
This he did not possess. An average of no more than six Blenheims
a day was available for the support of the troops in the field. Handled
though they were with skill and courage, they were quite inadequate
to stem the onslaught. Inexorably, the Japanese pressed on. On 30th
January, the airfield at Moulmein, our main forward airbase, fell,
and as a consequence the main warning system, such as it was, was
disorganized. Soon it was no more than a solitary ‘Jim Crow’
Hurricane which patrolled above Rangoon keeping watch. Thereafter
no bombing operations could be based on the Tenasserim airfield.

Once the Japanese had obtained control of that narrow strip of
territory, through part of which they were soon to construct the
infamous Railroad of Death, the fall of Rangoon could no longer
be delayed. In assaulting the city, their armies, pursuing their usual
tactics, avoided a frontal attack and relied on the penetration of a
flank. Before long their movements were observed by the pilot of
a lone Hurricane, who reported that the enemy were in strength
near Pegu, some seventy miles north-east of the city, and that his
light tanks were close to that marvel of piety and sculpture, the
recumbent Buddha.

Two escape routes still remained precanously open. Stevenson
ordered the remains of his fighter force—three jungle-weary Buffalos,
four American P.40’s and some twenty Hurricanes—to move
northward. Abandoning Mingaladon, which was left strewn with
dummies and broken aircraft, they went to a hastily built dirt air
strip cut out of the paddy-fields at Zigon. So treacherous was its
surface that one landing in five resulted in damage, sometimes
severe, to the aircraft. Invariably the tailwheels were rendered
unserviceable and bamboo skids were fitted as a temporary ex-
pedient in order to fly out the damaged machines for repair. Zigon,
however, was the only operational strip—it could hardly be called
an airfield—from which the Army retiring from Rangoon could be
provided with fighter cover and air support. These operations were
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controlled by ‘X’ Wing Headquarters under Group Captain Noel
Singer, who, by means of a reasonably efficient system of com-
munications, had striven to preserve our hard-won supremacy over
‘Rangoon until the oil installations at Syriam and Thilawa, together
with “the docks, power stations and stores’ had been destroyed, and
the army had withdrawn.

On 7th March, the code word ¢ Caesar’, signal for the final stage
of the evacuation, was broadcast. Sappers began the work of de-
struction, and before long a column of tanks and vehicles some
forty miles in length began to wend its dusty way northward, covered
by the fighters from Zigon. No Japanese bomber attempted an
attack. Their work completed, the Sappers too withdrew, and from
a wrecked harbour, overhung by the black pall of smoke sent up
from burning oil tanks, the last ships moved slowly out to sea.

What remained of No. 221 Group moved by successive stages
towards India, covering the long retreat of the Army as best it
could, and with complete success as far as Prome. No airfields
existed on the Irrawaddy line between Rangoon and Mandalay
except the civil airport at Magwe, which possessed no dispersal pens
and no accommodation. More ‘kutcha’ strips were accordingly
cut in the jungle and in the hard paddy land bordering the Prome
Road.

At Magwe, ‘X’ Wing became Burwing under Group Captain
S. Broughall. It was made up of No. 45 (Bomber) Squadron, No. 17
(Fighter) Squadron, the few surviving American Volunteers and the
staff of the R.D.F. Station. Alexander, the Army Commander,
controlled its use and it continued to do all it could to support the
retreating army. Stevenson with Singer had moved, on 12th March,
to the warm, pleasant island of Akyab and set up Akwing. This
comprised No. 67 Squadron, flying obsolete Hurricanes, a few com-
munication aircraft, and a General Reconnaissance Flight of No. 139
Squadron with Hudsons. On 20th March reconnaissance aircraft of
Burwing reported more than fifty enemy aircraft upon the airfield at
Mingaladon. They were attacked the next day by ten Hurricanes and
nine Blenheims based on Magwe, and a small but heartening victory
—the last of the campaign—was achieved. Sixteen Japanese aircraft
were destroyed on the ground and eleven in the air, two of them
falling victims to the Blenheims. Such an operation provoked
reprisal, swift and all too effective. It was carried out on Magwe by
a total of some 230 Japanese bomber and fighter aircraft operating
in formations of various sizes over a period of twenty-five hours.
This series of attacks accounted for all but six Blenheims and eleven
Hurricanes, which, just able to fly but in no condition to fight,
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struggled to Akyab, while the three remaining P.40’s moved north-
wards towards Lashio and Loiwing. The success of the enemy’s
counterblast at Magwe was due at least very largely to lack of
warning. The only radar unit still available was covering the south-
east, whereas the Japanese attack came in from the north-east.
Flushed with their success at Magwe, the Japanese delivered a final
blow on Akyab on 27th March. They attacked in waves for seventy-
two hours and destroyed seven Hurricanes and a Valentia.

These two disasters virtually wiped out the air force in Burma.
Its pilots had fought with a bitter tenacity equalling that displayed
_ by those of Fighter Command in the Battle of Britain and by the
squadrons in Java. Every day for eight weeks at Mingaladon
and the other airfields and then at Zigon the pilots of the Hurricanes
had remained at two minutes’ readiness. Such a strain, continued for
so long, was almost past bearing. Yet bear it they did and fought to
the end, hopeless but unflinching. One of them caught at last by a
Zero fighter above Akyab was shot down in flames into the sea.
Struggling from the cockpit, he put the nozzle on his Mae West to
his lips and blew. It remained deflated, and continued so until he
discovered that the air which he was trying to force into it was
escaping through a hole drilled by a bullet in his cheek and jawbone.
Unaided by his lifebelt, he kept afloat for three hours till picked up
by natives in a canoe. Of such men were the pilots of Burma.

As the result of the Japanese attacks at Magwe and at Akyab,
Stevenson was compelled to turn his eyes away from Alexander’s
armies back to the hot uneasiness of Bengal and the highly vulnerable
city of Calcutta, where he had arrived on 17th March. To build up
the defences of north-east India and many miles to the southward to
Ceylon, was a primary necessity, and the maintenance, therefore, of
an air force in Burma, where the battle was already lost, was un-
economical and, indeed, suicidal. Nevertheless, despite the disaster
of 21st March, such fighter formations as still possessed aircraft
capable of flying, continued, from Lashio and Loiwing, to give what
limited support they could to the Chinese Fifth Army in action on
the southern Shan front. By the middle of April, however, the
Japanese advance against their bases had developed so rapidly and
in such strength that they were compelled to withdraw and join the
defenders of Calcutta. Not all of them made a successful retreat.
Twenty officers and 324 airmen, of Burwing, all of them ground staff,
were left behind and, in their determination not to fall into the hands
of the Japanese, moved off in some 150 vehicles which they still
possessed along the hazardous road from Lashio to Chungtu, in
China. There, under the name of ¢ Rafchin’, while awaiting the arrival
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of Hudson aircraft, which it ultimately proved impossible to send,
they spent a year in reorganizing, in providing the Chinese with help
at their main air bases, and in training Chinese ground crews. They
were also able to make their hosts familiar, albeit to a somewhat
limited extent, with the mysteries of Radio Direction Finding, for
they had brought with them the Radar Unit from Magwe.

Before their final withdrawal from the battle, the bomber squadrons
of No. 221 Group, operating from Tezpur and Dinjan within the
frontier of Assam, gave all the support they could to the armed forces
still struggling to hold up or at least to delay the enemy. They did so
with the knowledge that a resolute thrust by the Japanese anywhere
in that remote part of the world might pierce the feeble defences of
India and ultimately reach Delhi. For the fact was that India was
almost as weak in defence as had been Malaya. These delaying tactics
in the air might, and indeed did, help to remove the menace over-
hanging the red-domed, buff-coloured magnificence of Viceregal
Lodge; they could not, however, give any very great measure of
support to the army of Alexander, still struggling out of Burma.
The Japanese Air Force was at last in the ascendant, and they spread
themselves in a series of patrols over a wide area in northern Burma,
attacking Lashio, Mandalay, Loiwing and Myitkyina. An assault on
. Mandalay, delivered on 3rd April, was particularly devastating, for
it was carried out against a defenceless city, and one moreover which
had lost its fire-fighting apparatus, destroyed by one of the first
salvos. In a few hours, three-fifths of the houses had been wiped out
by high explosive or fire, and thousands of those who dwelt in them
blasted or burnt to death.

By then the ever-thickening stream of refugees, shuffling through
dust or mud towards the Naga Hills, had reached its climax. Though
conditions were desperate, the Royal Air Force continued to give
them such help as it could. A certain degree of protection was afforded
by Mohawks based on Dinjan, but their range was very limited and
they were no match for the Japanese Zeros. The unarmed and un-
armoured Dakotas of No. 31 (Transport) Squadron of the Royal
Air Force were able, however, to render great and timely aid.
Together with the 2nd Troop Carrier Squadron of the United States
Army Air Force, they removed from such centres as Magwe, Shwebo
and Myitkyina 8,616 men, women and children, of whom some 2,600
were sick or wounded, and they did so in conditions from which no
element of horror was absent. ¢ When Myitkyina fell on the 8th May,
1942, T was the pilot of the last aircraft to get away’, records Flight
Lieutenant Coughlan of No. 31 Squadron, ‘and the press of refugees
surrounding my aircraft was such that we had to hold them off with
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drawn revolvers. One nursing sister, I remember, offered to give up
her place to a favourite dog, and seemed astonished when it was filled
instead by a mother and child’. On 6th May, two of the Dakotas,
landing in a gathering storm upon the airfield at Myitkyina, were
attacked by Japanese dive-bombers. One was hit, the casualties being
two women and a child. The remainder of the passengers scrambled
out of the aircraft and were immediately machine-gunned. In an effort
to defend them, the pilot used his only weapon, a tommy-gun, which
he fired at point-blank range as a Japanese bomber swept low over
his grounded aircraft. A trail of white vapour was observed to be
streaming from one of its engines as it turned away. Among others,
the Governor, Sir Reginald Dorman-Smith, was taken away from
Myitkyina on 4th May by a Hudson sent from India in anticipation
of orders subsequently received from Whitehall.

In this work of rescue it was sometimes necessary to fly as high as
17,000 feet in order to cross the Naga Hills between the Brahmaputra
and the Irrawaddy, and at the same time to find cloud cover in which
to elude Japanese fighters. The number of daily sorties was exception-
ally high, but after the first few days, the crews, having witnessed the
scenes on the edge of the runways in the Burma airfields, asked for it
to be increased.

The second task of the squadron, in which they were even more
successful, was the dropping of supplies to the army and to the
refugees on the road to India. At that time the technique of supply
dropping had not been learnt or even studied. Mistakes were therefore
many. ‘In our first efforts’, reports Flight Lieutenant Coughlan, who
took part in the dropping of supplies as well as the evacuation of
refugees, ‘we tried putting the rice in a bag and free-dropping it, that
is, without attaching a parachute. There were so many burst bags as
a result of this method that we eventually evolved another one by
which the rice was put into three sacks, one inside the other. After
that the losses were not more than 10 per cent. The average load of a
Dakota was 5,000 1bs. In daylight we could get rid of this and 1,500
Ibs. more in eighteen minutes’. Altogether, with the assistance of the
United States Troop Carrier Squadron, 109,652 pounds of supplies
were dropped during this period. There is little doubt that the troops
of Alexander, and such refugees as survived, owe their lives to this
assistance. One of the Dakotas of No. 31 Squadron was able to remove
the British Garrison of the small advanced post of Fort Hertz,
together with their wives and children. A few months later, aircraft
of the same squadron took back to the fort another force which,
relying entirely on supplies from the air, successfully maintained itself
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there and conducted much fierce guerrilla warfare against the
Japanese.

Mention must also be made of the Lysanders of No. 28 Squadron.,
Royal Air Force,and of No. 1 Squadron, Indian Air Force. Their
normal function was Army Co-operation, for which the aircraft they
flew, out-of-date though they were by then, had been specifically
designed. Many uses were found for them and pilots of the Indian Air
Force did not hesitate to turn them into improvised bombers. It was
during these days of stress and effort that Wing Commander G.
Marsland, whose first acquaintance with war had been as a pilot in
the Battle of Britain, developed the habit of throwing hand grenades
at the Japanese ground forces from the air gunner’s seat.

By May 1942 the part played by the Royal Air Force in the first
Burma campaign had ended. Overwhelmed by weight of numbers,
strong in nothing but courage, they held throughout most resolutely
to their duty, and each one of them might have exclaimed with
Portius, in Addison’s tragedy of Cato

¢Tis not in mortals to command success,
But we’ll do more, Sempronius, we’ll deserve it’.
What they did say was shorter, more idiomatic and unprintable, but
it conveyed the same meaning.

By the time the last of the army had reached Imphal, capital of the
State of Manipur, where they arrived just before the monsoon broke
in full fury, the air force retreating with them had accounted for
fifty-four enemy fighters and bombers in the air and twenty on the
ground. The American Volunteer Group during the same period
claimed 179 and 38 respectively.

In their triumphant sweep to the north and north-west towards the
confines of India, the Japanese did not forget the extreme south and,
before the war was many days old, began to turn their attention to the
island of Ceylon. As far back as July 1940, the British Chiefs of Staff
had laid down that at least three General Reconnaissance squadrons
for the protection of shipping in the Indian Ocean should be based in
that island, and.two flying boat squadrons were to be stationed in the
Andaman and Nicobar Islands. Fifty-four aircraft would thus be
available out of the 336 authorized, for the defence of the Far East ;
but even this modest figure had not been reached by the time war
broke out. Reconnaissance of the Gulf of Martaban and of the Bay
of Bengal was controlled by No. 221 Group. From the beginning of
December 1941, anti-submarine and coastal patrols were flown over
the Gulf, and shipping sailing towards Rangoon was given air cover
by No. 4 (Coast Defence) Flight of the Indian Air Force Volunteer
Reserve, based on Moulmein, and equipped with Wapiti and Audax
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aircraft. Our withdrawal under pressure from the Japanese transferred
them for a few days to Bassein, on the west coast of Burma, and in a
short time to Calcutta. This Flight formed part of a small Coastal
Defence Wing, manned by a mixed group of Indian and European
business men, which was stationed at the six main ports of India and
Burma.

The main work of reconnaissance in the Bay of Bengal fell upon
No. 139 (later to be renumbered as No. 62) Squadron which dis-
posed for this purpose of six Hudsons. Of these, one flight was
stationed at Port Blair in the Andaman Islands, where a runway
800 yards in length had been built with the greatest difficulty. On
11th February, 1942, this flight was reinforced by Lysanders fitted
with long-range tanks, and these aircraft, together with the Hudsons,
maintained reconnaissance in the sea approaches to Rangoon and
later escorted ships fleeing from that port to the refuge of Calcutta.
By the last week of March their base in the Andamans had become
untenable, and on the 23rd it was occupied by the Japanese.

By the second week in March, Calcutta, where a quarter of a
million tons of Allied shipping was concentrated, was within range of
attack from the air. Moreover a Japanese Fleet was in the Bay of
Bengal where it was escorting a number of transports carrying rein-
forcements which arrived at Rangoon on 6th April. Should this fleet,
together with the Japanese long-range bomber squadrons based on
the newly captured airfields of Mingaladon and Magwe, decide to
attack the port of Calcutta, much of, perhaps all, this shipping,
of which the value at that stage of the war was particularly great,
might, and probably would be lost. The nakedness of the defence,
the magnitude of the prize were - patent, spread wide for all to see—
all including a Japanese reconnaissance aircraft should one choose to
fly above the crowded roadstead. Twenty-four hours went by and
none appeared. Was it possible that the enemy was unaware that so
large a collection of shipping lay in that port? Orders for its
immediate dispersal to anchorages on the eastern coast of India were
hastily issued ; but some days would have to elapse before the fulfil-
ment of them could be completed and in the meanwhile it was
essential to prevent the enemy from discovering the state of affairs.
An attempt by long-range Fortress bombers of the United States
Army Air Corps to damage the Japanese Air Forces in the Andaman
Islands was unsuccessful. The five and a half tons of bombs dropped,
straddled, but did not hit the targets. There remained the three
Hudsons of No. 139 Squadron, which had been driven from Port
Blair originally, and which, by refuelling at Akyab, could reach the
target. As a forlorn hope, two of them were despatched to attack
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their former base and both did so. In the first attack on 14th April,
two Japanese twin-engined flying boats were set on fire, a four-
engined was sunk, and the remainder, eleven in number, damaged by
gunfire. Not content with this achievement, the Hudsons returned
four days later and, battling their way through a screen of Zero
fighters, made a number of runs at a height of only thirty feet to
destroy two more and severely damage three others. One Hudson was
shot down, and the other returned in a badly damaged state. Their
mission had, however, been successful, and for the moment the enemy
were blind. Unmolested, some seventy British merchant vessels
quitted the Port of Calcutta and dispersed themselves among other
Indian ports. So successful, in fact, were these two attacks that no
enemy flying boats attempted any reconnaissance flight until the
following July.

In Ceylon itself, such preparations as were possible had been made-
No. 222 Group, together with a joint Naval and Air Operations
Room, was established at Colombo and two new airfields constructed
at Ratmalana and China Bay, near Trincomalee. At the outset, this
Group consisted only of No. 273 Squadron and part of No. 205
(Flying Boat) Squadron, which had left Singapore before the out-
break of war. It was stationed at Koggala, and moorings with
refuelling facilities had been laid out off the Cocos Islands, Christmas
Island, the Maldives, the Seychelles and the island of Mauritius.
These advanced bases, if they can be so described, were established
by the crews of the flying boats themselves, who carried out long
flights over vast expanses of sea, in an effort to provide for the
defence of the Indian Ocean.

The fall of Rangoon and the imminent loss of Burma changed the
situation. The approaches by sea to India and Ceylon were now open,
and it became more than ever imperative to provide the Royal Navy
in those waters with adequate air protection. Without it, a raid
similar to that which had laid low the American Pacific Fleet in Pearl
Harbour might well be staged against our naval base in Trincomalee.
As Commander-in-Chief India, Wavell, while determining to
strengthen Ceylon, wished to concentrate his main force of aircraft
in north-east India. Their presence there was necessary to win and
maintain air superiority should the Japanese, as was thought most
probable, attempt the conquest of that country as soon as they had
achieved that of Burma. He was, however, overruled by the Chiefs of
Staff in London, who considered that Ceylon was of vital importance
in preserving communications between East and West, and that
island was accordingly reinforced by Hurricane Mark I's and
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Mark II’s, belonging to No. 30 and No. 261 Squadrons taken thither
from the Middle East in the aircraft carrier H.M.S. Indomitable.
On 6th and 7th March they arrived and were presently joined by
No. 11 Squadron, and No. 413 Squadron, Royal Canadian Air
Force.

‘Until it is possible to increase our strength in the Middle East’,
said the Chiefs of Staff in a signal to Wavell dated 12th March, ‘you
must do everything possible to use to the maximum extent the aircraft
and crews available in Ceylon’. Wavell did his best, and by the end
of the month fifty serviceable Hurricanes, fourteen Blenheims, six
Catalina flying boats and a small number of Fleet Air Arm Fulmars
and Albacores were ready and waiting to go into action. Small though
these numbers were, the congestion both at Ratmalana and Trinco-
malee was serious, and one of the Hurricane squadrons was moved
to Colombo, where a well-camouflaged runway was hastily con-
structed on the racecourse. In their subsequent attacks, the enemy
never discovered it.

The presence of air reinforcements in Ceylon made it possible to
strengthen our Far Eastern fleet which, by the last week in March,
when Admiral Sir James Somerville assumed command, was made
up to a strength of five battleships, three aircraft carriers, seven
cruisers, fifteen destroyers and five submarines. This was no mean
force and those in authority began to breathe more freely, when the
news was received through a naval intelligence source that a Japanese
naval force, made up mostly of carriers, intended to attack Ceylon on
or about 1st April. The carriers would be accompanied by a number
of 8-inch cruisers with attendant destroyers, and battleships of the
Kongo class might also be in support. On 31st March, Somerville put
to sea from Colombo and later the same day made rendezvous with
a portion of his force which had been detached to Addu Atoll. After
two days spent off the south coast of Ceylon in a vain attempt to
locate the enemy, Admiral Somerville proceeded to Addu Atoll,
having detached the cruisers Dorsetshire and Cornwall to Colombo
and the carrier Hermes to Trincomalee.

In the meantime, the Catalina flying boats of Nos. 205 and 413
Squadrons had carried out patrols more than 400 miles out from

-Colombo in an effort to discover the elusive Japanese. Only three of
these boats could operate at any one time. A little after four o’clock
on the afternoon of 4th April, Squadron Leader Birchall, captain
of one of them, belonging to No. 413 Squadron, reported sighting a
large enemy force about 350 miles south-east of Ceylon. He sent but

_one message, and then silence fell. The Catalina has never been seen
or heard of since ; but its last reconnaissance flight provided just that



72 ROYAL AIR FORCE 1939-1945

short period of warning essential to avoid disaster. Another Catalina
made contact with the enemy a little before midnight some 250 miles
south of Ceylon.

It was now clear that the Japanese were making for Colombo and
would certainly stage a heavy air attack at dawn or soon after. They
could not be brought to battle by our Eastern Fleet, for it was 600
miles away, refuelling in the Maldives. Admiral Sir Geoffrey
Layton, Commander-in-Chief, Ceylon, gave immediate orders for
the dispersal of all merchant shipping in the harbour, and some
forty-eight seaworthy vessels put out to sea, some sailing west, some
north towards anchorages previously chosen, 80 to 130 miles distant
from the port. There remained at Colombo twenty-one merchant
vessels and thirteen of the Royal Navy, most of them unfit for sea. -
Among the seaworthy vessels there were the cruisers Dorsetshire and
Cornwall, which were immediately ordered to rejoin the fleet at Addu
Atoll.

The expected air attack developed at 7.40 on the morning of Easter
Sunday, Sth April, and ended an hour and twenty minutes later. It
was carried out by about fifty Japanese Navy Type 99 bombers,
escorted by Zero fighters, and they dropped their bombs upon
shipping and the dock installations from a height of between 1,000
and 2,000 feet. A high level attack on Ratmalana and Colombo
harbour was also made. The workshops there were seriously damaged,
but only two naval vessels were sunk, and one merchant ship set on
fire. The damage done at the airfield was negligible. Thanks to the
timely warning received from the two Catalinas—there were no radar
units in Colombo yet ready to operate—the Hurricanes of Nos. 30
and 258 Squadrons, thirty-six in all, together with six Fulmars of the
Fleet Air Arm were awaiting the enemy. On sighting them they
took off and went into action at once, destroying eighteen, for a
loss of fifteen Hurricanes and four Fulmars. The anti-aircraft
defences claimed five more Japanese.

The Blenheims of No. 11 (Bomber) Squadron were less fortunate.
Sent to bomb the Japanese naval force, they were unable to find it
and returned with their bombs still on the racks. Their failure on this
occasion must be ascribed primarily to their briefing, which had sent
them to an area of sea virgin of the enemy. That these orders were
incorrect was due to a mistake made by the wireless operator of one
of the Catalinas. He had relayed an SO S sent out by another
Catalina in such a manner as to cause it to be mistaken for his own.
The flying boat which had appealed for help was further to the west-
ward, under fire from the Japanese warships which the Blenheims had
been detailed to assault.
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The Japanese air attack on Colombo had failed to achieve the
result for which the enemy had hoped. He had not, however, been
altogether unsuccessful. The Dorsetshire and Cornwall on their way
to Addu Atoll and far beyond the range of shore-based aircraft were
intercepted by some thirty-six Navy Type 97 reconnaissance bombers
which dive-bombed them from down-sun and from dead ahead; a
blind spot which could not be covered by the anti-aircraft guns of the
cruisers. The accuracy of the Japanese was exceptionally high, nearly
ninety per cent of the bombs either scoring direct hits or falling close
enough to the warships to damage them. Both sank, but of 1,550 men
on board them, more than 1,100 were picked up by H.M.S. Enterprise
and two destroyers, summoned by a reconnoitring aircraft of the
Fleet Air Arm.

This achievement by the enemy’s carrier-borne aircraft was
followed by further success. Between 5th and 9th April, fifteen
merchant ships were sunk by air attack and eight by surface craft,
a total of 98,413 tons of valuable shipping being sent to the bottom.
At that time, merchant vessels were instructed to sail close in-shore,
but since no fighter aircraft were available in southern India, they
could be given no air protection. The only aircraft in that part of the
world were some half a dozen Vickers Valentias, in which the Indian
Air Force Volunteer Reserve were carrying out training and coastal
patrols against submarines.

On 6th April, two small raids were made by the enemy against
Vizagapatam and Coconada but little damage was done by these
the first bombs to fall on the soil of India. Three days later the
naval base at Trincomalee, on the north-east coast of Ceylon, was
heavily attacked. Once more the Catalinas, of which one was shot
down, had discovered the enemy a sufficient number of hours in
advance to make it possible to clear the harbour of shipping. By then,
in contrast to what had happened in Colombo, Radar units had been
installed and the approaching enemy aircraft were picked up. They
were engaged by seventeen Hurricanes of No. 261 Squadron and six
Fulmars of No. 873 Squadron, put ashorefrom the aireraftwcarrier~4 .-:
Hermes. Flying at 15,000 feet some sixty enemy bombers, escorted
by the same number of Zero fighters, made for the China Bay airfield
and the dockyards, and dropped their bombs. A considerable amount
of damage was done, but fifteen of the enemy were shot down and
seventeen probably never returned to the carriers. A further nine
were accounted for by anti-aircraft fire. Our own losses were eight
Hurricanes and three Fulmars. As at Colombo, the Blenheim
bombers of No. 11 Squadron were sent out against the enemy. On
this occasion they found them, and made an unsuccessful high level
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attack, losing five of their number to Zero fighters, of which they
shot down four.

While this assault was being made against Trincomalee, two enemy
reconnaissance aircraft, turned away by anti-aircraft fire from
Colombo, discovered the aircraft carrier Hermes, some sixty miles
from that port. She was shortly afterwards attacked, and fought
unaided by cover from the sky, for the Hurricanes were engaged in
repelling the assault on the airfield at China Bay. The attack was
carried out perfectly, relentlessly and quite fearlessly, and was
exactly like a highly organized deck display’, reported Captain
Crockett, R.M., a gunnery officer on the carrier. ‘The aircraft peeled
off in threes, coming straight down on the ship out of the sun on the
starboard side’. Hit repeatedly, the Hermes sank in twenty minutes,
and the destroyer Vampire of the Royal Australian Navy with her was
also sunk. i

This action was the last to take place in Indian waters in that year
The results were summed up by the Commander-in-Chief, Ceylon.
‘As a naval operation’, he wrote, ‘the Japanese raid must be held to
have secured a considerable success. It revealed the weakness of the
Eastern Fleet, and induced the latter to withdraw from the Ceylon
area, and it did this without the necessity of engaging that fleet in
battle. Although the Japanese did not follow up with further attacks
on Ceylon, it enabled them to disregard the Eastern Fleet for the
time being. The information they gained appears to have convinced
them that the Ceylon area itself was not likely to be sufficiently
fruitful to warrant attacks on shipping there, and these were dis-
continued. It would have been a very different story if information
of their approach had not allowed us to disperse shipping’.

Admiral Nagumo, the Japanese commander, might indeed have
felt proud, as he withdrew eastwards to refuel. Though his carrier-
borne aircraft had not inflicted irreparable hurt on Colombo and
Trincomalee, his fleet had nevertheless in the course of four months
sunk five battleships, one aircraft carrier, two cruisers and seven

~ destroyers-and this witheut less or even damage to any of his ships.

Yet, as fate so willed it, he would have served his Emperor better had
he made no move against Ceylon. For in so doing he lost so many of
his aircraft to the guns of the Hurricanes and Fulmars that, a month
later, only two out of his five carriers were able to take part in the all-
important battle of the Coral Sea. The other three had had to return to
Japan there to renew their complement of aircraft and pilots. Their
presence at that battle might, it is at least permissible to conjecture,
have tipped the scale in favour of Japan. Nor was this all. When the
Battle of Midway Island came to be fought on 4th June, the new



76 ROYAL AIR FORCE 1939-1945

pilots replacing the veterans lost at Colombo and Trimcomalee were,
if Japanese witnesses interrogated after the War are to be believed, of
inferior quality.

To all appearance, however, the beginning of the summer of 1942
saw the Japanese well launched on a career of victory. They had
overrun in succession Malaya, Hong Kong, Borneo, Java, Sumatra
and Burma. Their armies were established upon the frontiers of
India, amid the broken Naga Hills, prevented from advancing more
by the heavy rains of the monsoon than by any opposition which our
forces could offer. On the sea their fleet in Indian waters had not been
brought to action, and was capable of doing much damage to our
merchant shipping. The Japanese attack on Burma and India had,
like the dawn in Kipling’s poem, come up like thunder out of China.
Yet even at that moment, plans were maturing, slowly but inexorably,
which in the short space of three years would bring the armies of
Nippon to their knees. The success of them depended on a novel
and daring use of air power.



CHAPTER V
Coastal Command

and the Strqggle at Sea:

The North Russian Convoys, Photographic
Reconnaissance, and Air-Sea Rescue

HITLER’S unconscious admiration of the British Commonwealth
was at no time to be seen more clearly than in the opening months of
1942. While the Japanese were stripping us of our possessions in the
Far East he continued to believe that we were about to invade
Norway. Undeterred by the fate of the Scharnhorst, Gneisenau and
Prinz Eugen he therefore proceeded with his plans, and by 20th March,
1942 the Tirpitz, the Scheer and the Hipper were all at Trondheim.
This was harmless enough from the point of view of an operation which
was never more than a figment of the Fiihrer’s imagination. It was
not so harmless from the point of view of ourNorth Russian convoys,
the story of which must now be told.

The first British convoy had sailed to Russia on 21st August, 1941.
The second had followed in September, the third in October. From
then on the PQ convoys, as they were called, had left Iceland three
times a month. Normally they passed west of Iceland through the
Denmark Strait, rounded Northern Norway as far to the north as the
presence of ice and the land-mass of Spitsbergen allowed, and then
turned south for Archangel or Murmansk. Over the first 150 miles of
this route they enjoyed the support of Nos. 330 (Norwegian) and 269
Squadrons from Iceland. Thereafter, as all aircraft carriers and long-
range coastal aircraft were fully occupied elsewhere, their air support
consisted only of occasional patrols flown to detect U-boats off
Northern Norway. Like all other convoys, however, the Russian
convoys were greatly helped by Coastal Command’s constant watch
and ward over German warships.

The most dangerous part of the voyage began with the passage
north of Norway. From that point, for the rest of the long journey
through the Barents Sea, the vessels were mostly within easy range of
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German aircraft, U-boats and destroyers based in Northern Norway
and Finland. Unfortunately this liability to attack continued even
after the arrival of the ships in port, and it was for this reason that the
first convoy included Royal Air Force fighters intended to operate
from Russian soil. As one of the very few examples of successful
co-operation with our Eastern ally, the story of this venture deserves
recording in some detail.

No. 151 Wing comprised two newly formed squadrons—Nos. 81
and 134. The instructions of its commander, Wing Commander
H. N. G. Ramsbottom-Isherwood, a sturdy, hard-bitten New
Zealander, were to help in the defence of Murmansk until the weather
stopped intensive flying in October or November. He was then to
hand over what remained of his aircraft to the Russians. The force
placed under his command numbered thirty-nine Hurricanes, of
which twenty-four travelled more or less intact, the rest dismantled.

In due course the twenty-four flew off the Argus and touched
down at Vaenga airfield, seventeen miles outside Murmansk. German
air attacks, however, caused the ships containing the fifteen crated
Hurricanes to be diverted to Archangel, some four hundred miles
further east. The first task was thus to erect these aircraft at a spot
where no arrangements existed for the purpose. Hard work, willing
co-operation, and clever improvisation on the part of the ground
crews and the Russians overcame all the various local handicaps—
including a shortage of airscrew-spanners and a surplus of minor
insect life—and the fifteen aircraft were assembled within nine days.
The subsequent flight to Vaenga on 12th September was accomplished
with only one undue incident. At the refuelling point Russian
hospitality proved too much for a couple of the pilots, who found it
advisable to postpone their departure until the following morning.

At Vaenga the aircraft from the Argus were already installed and
operating, ammunition having arrived from Archangel by train the
day before. The airfield, which the Wing shared with a Russian
medium bomber squadron, was large and reasonably satisfactory,
though in wet weather the surface of rolled sand became “very cut-up
and bumpy’. A metalled road about a mile long connected the main
points inside the camp, but outside there were only country tracks
full of deep ruts and pot-holes. Accommodation in the main brick
blocks was good, but the wooden out-buildings were dirty. No
complaint could be levelled against the bedding, which was new, and
the plentiful food, which was described, according to taste, as ‘rich’ or
‘greasy’. The one really bad feature was the sanitation, which was
unhygienic to a degree which revolted the British airmen. It did not,
however, destroy their sense of humour. Their main latrine, sited
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directly over a cesspit and exposed on all sides to the Arctic blast,
they at once dubbed ‘ The Kremlin’.

On the whole our men were pleasantly surprised with their condi-
tions, for they had been warned to expect far worse. The Russians,
too, proved extremely helpful, and Isherwood was soon on good
terms with the local commander. This officer, at once a general, a
skilled pilot and a man of considerable charm, even parted with a
set of local military maps—something for which our Military Mission
in Moscow would certainly have pleaded in vain. Despite contrary
proposals from the Russians, Isherwood was also able to carry out
his own plans for making the squadrons operational and escorting
the bombers. Indeed, the Wing Commander’s most awkward
moments were to come not from any obstruction on the part of our
allies, but from the difficulty of keeping his own airmen usefully
employed after the aircraft had been handed over, and from Slavonic
exuberance at, or after, official celebrations. On one occasion, for
instance, an extremely drunk Russian Colonel seized the blue-
chinned and ultra-masculine Wing Commander in a fierce embrace
and endeavoured to smother him in kisses.

Less than twenty-four hours after beginning patrols the Wing
scored its first victory. In the afternoon of 12th September five aircraft
of No. 81Squadron intercepted a Henschel and five Me.109’s on recon-
naissance from Petsamo. Despite the fact that the Hurricanes were as
yet carrying only six of their eight guns, they damaged the Henschel
and destroyed three of the escort at the cost of one of their own
number. No further casualties were suffered in later combats, and at
the end of its five weeks’ spell of operations the Wing was able to
claim, for the loss of this single machine, sixteen enemy aircraft
destroyed, four probably destroyed, and seven damaged?.

The first snows fell on 22nd September, and by mid-October it was
time to begin handing over the Hurricanes to the Russians. The
keenness of the local military commander, who insisted on being
the first to handle the aircraft, was matched by that of his pilots.
‘They would turn up’, wrote the Commanding Officer of No. 134
Squadron, ‘and demand training in the most appalling weather. I
remember one pilot doing his first solo in a snow-storm that would
have shaken any of us. It took him three shots to get down, and each

1 The Wing suffered only two fatal casualties after the combat of 12th September
These occurred in an unusual and unfortunate manner. The bumpy surface
of the airfield made it necessary for a couple of airmen to hang or sit on the tuail
plane of each Hurricane while the aircraft taxied into position. On 27th September,
In a ‘ scramble ’ to intercept an enemy machine, a pilot of No. 134 Squadron
took off without realizing that his two men were still on the tail. The aircraft
crashed from 50 ft., seriously injuring the rilot and killing both airmen.
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time he went round again he disappeared completely from sight. I
never expected to see him again. However, he made it’. Equal
enthusiasm was displayed on the ground, though the Russians’
maintenance standards were much less strict than our own, and their
technical staffs consisted of a few competent engineers diluted with
large numbers of unskilled labourers. No undue difficulties arose in
completing the programme of instruction and transferring the air-
craft, and at the end of November the Wing was withdrawn to
England with its tasks successfully accomplished. Only a few of the
signals staffs then remained behind. Equipped by the Russians with
sheepskin coats, they afforded great amusement to their departing
comrades. ‘Their entry into a cinema’, records No. 81 Squadron’s
diary, “was always the signal for a storm of *““Baas™’.

Up to the end of 1941 the PQ convoys and their westbound counter-
parts (which consisted mostly of empty ships) suffered no damage.
Relying on a rapid collapse of Russian resistance the Germans made
little attempt to interfere with the traffic, and in any case the long
Arctic dark of November and December told in our favour. In the
opening months of 1942, however, the enemy set about repairing this
omission. In anticipation of the better weather and the longer hours
of daylight, reinforcements of German aircraft, U-boats and
destroyers were despatched to Northern Norway and Finland. The
result was seen at the end of March, when casualties to Allied vessels
sharply increased. Worse was to come. In May, when Hitler at last
dismissed the bogy of a British invasion, the whole tiroup of twenty
U-boats between Norway and Iceland, as well as the three capital
ships, became available for action against the convoy route. The
seriousness of this new situation came fully home in the closing days
of the month, when greatly extended support by Sunderlands and U.S.
naval flying boats from Iceland failed to prevent heavy losses in
PQ.16. Of the seven ships sunk, six fell victim to attack from the air.

The ordeal of PQ.16 was bound to be re-enacted with other con-
voys unless we could arrange stronger air protection over the eastern
half of the route. But the Navy were still unable to supply an
aircraft carrier and our hard-pressed allies could not provide enough
support from Russian bases. This led Air Chief Marshal Sir Philip
Joubert at Coastal Command to offer three suggestions. The first,
that Coastal Command should establish flying-boats at Spitsbergen,
proved impracticable : part of the island, from which the Norwegian
and Russian mining communities had been withdrawn in August
1941, had just been reoccupied by an intrepid little band of Nor-
wegians, but German forces were also present and the expedition
had lost both its ships and all its stores to attack from the air. Other



61 ‘sayoreoiddy uId)SOp 9yl Ul AOAUOD Y
aivnyo Sdd33 AdNVTIdANNS V



LOW-LEVEL ATTACK ON U-BOAT
by Coastal Command Liberator from Iceland, 1942




COASTAL COMMAND 81

obstacles of remoteness and unsuitable flying weather, as will
appear later, were not less formidable. Fewer difficulties attended
Joubert’s second proposal, to base flying-boats near Murmansk,
and it was accordingly arranged that eight Catalinas of Nos. 210
and 240 Squadrons should operate from the Kola Inlet, and from
Lake Lakhta, near Archangel, during the passage of the next
convoy. The third proposal, to hold the enemy capital ships in
check by sending a torce of torpedo-bombers to Vaenga, was ruled
out by the Admiralty on the grounds that we had at home only
two fully trained squadrons of these aircraft.

PQ.17 sailed from the Iceland anchorage of Hvalfiord on 27th June.
We were aware that the Germans intended to strike in strength with
their capital ships. On 1st July the convoy was picked up by enemy
aircraft and U-boats ; on 2nd July it began to come under heavy air
attack; and on 3rd July Tirpitz, Hipper and attendant destroyers
headed north from Trondheim. The next day the Admiralty, fearing
the annihilation not only of the merchantmen but also of the
comparatively weak escorting forces, instructed the former to
disperse and proceed independently and the latter to withdraw. This
gave the Germans what they wanted. Cautiously ordering their big
ships back to the shelter of the Norwegian fiords, they directed their
aircraft and submarines to hunt down the unprotected merchant
vessels. The Catalinas in North Russia, which had thus far been
searching for U-boats, accordingly soon found their task transformed
into rounding up survivors. In this they did admirable work, and it
was in part through their help that fourteen of the thirty-seven
merchant ships which had left Iceland eventually reached Archangel.

This disaster, one of the worst suffered by the Allies during the
whole course of the war at sea, spurred Joubert to press once more
for the despatch of torpedo-bombers to North Russia; for the
Coastal chief was quick to point out that had his suggestion been
adopted the Admiralty might not have felt impelled to give the
order for dispersal. In the two months’ interval before the sailing of
the next PQ convoy—an interval caused not by our losses but by the
demands of the great August convoy to Malta—plans were accord-
ingly made for the temporary transfer to North Russia of a balanced
force of search-and-strike aircraft. Under the command of Group
Captain F. R. Hopps, this was to consist of four photographic recon-
naissance Spitfires, a squadron of Catalinas (No. 210), and two
squadrons of Hampden torpedo-bombers (No. 144 and No. 455,
R.A.AF.). The Catalinas were to operate from Grasnaya, on the
Kola Inlet ; the Spitfires and the Hampdens from Vaenga.

The task of flying these aircraft to distant destinations across
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enemy territory was in itself formidable. Moreover, the Catalinas
were required to operate from their home bases until the last possible
moment, which meant that their ground staff and stores had also to
be carried by air. The greatest difficulties, however, arose from the
limited range and navigational facilities of the Hampdens. The result
was a very heavy casualty roll merely in getting the aircraft to their
operational bases. One Hampden was shot down by a Russian fighter
while coming in over a prohibited area. It ‘ditched’ off-shore and
sank before the wounded air gunner could be released : the rest of the
crew were then ‘shot up’ in the water, but managed to struggle
ashore, where they were greeted with rifle fire until their cries of
‘Angliski’ earned recognition. Two other Hampdens, one of
which was damaged beyond repair, ran out of petrol and made
forced landings on Russian soil. Worst of all, no fewer thansix crashed
in Norway or Sweden. Those crews who reached their goal received
a well merited tribute from the Prime Minister for having—in the
words of one pilot—*got there without wireless, in very bad weather,
with very poor maps, and having as our only means of identification
the undercarriage, which we put down as a friendly gesture when the
quick-fingered Russians started to shoot’.

Equally strenuous efforts to safeguard the forthcoming convoy
were made by the Royal Navy. Stronger surface escort, including for
the first time an auxiliary aircraft carrier—H.M.S. Avenger, with
twelve Hurricanes and three Swordfish—accompanied the vessels;
arrangements were made for a destroyer group to refuel at Spits-
bergen and maintain close escort right through to Archangel; and
the main battle fleet stood ready off North Iceland to engage the
enemy’s heavy ships. Thus protected, PQ.18 sailed from Loch Ewe
on 3rd September. At dawn it came under Coastal Command
escort and anti U-boat cover, first from North Scotland and then
from Iceland, and this continued uninterruptedly for nine days.
During this period the convoy suffered no loss, though on 8th Septem-
ber it was sighted by a Focke-Wulf and from the 10th it was trailed by
U-boats. Later that day a report came through that the German
heavy cruisersand destroyers were putting out from Narvik, and the
Catalinas of No. 210 Squadron at once prepared to carry out their
task. Between 11th and 13th September the eight flying-boats took off”
one by one from Invergordon and scoured the waters off Northern
Norway for any sign of the enemy warships. Eighteen hours later,
each in turn became waterborne at Grasnaya.

On 12th September, a few hours after the last Coastal Command
patrol from Iceland had turned for home, the U-boats claimed
their first victim. The next day the German torpedo-bombers appeared
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in force and sank six vessels while the 4venger’s fighters were repelling
high-level attacks. On 14th September the naval pilots, flying with
desperate gallantry and resolutely supported by the ships’ gunners,
beat off four furious assaults with the loss of only one vessel. On
15th September they improved on this performance, entirely
frustrating a prolonged attack by seventy bombers. Not even the
personal intervention of Gdring, who signalled that the destruction
of the convoy was of decisive importance and demanded attacks by
all available aircraft, could now mend matters for the enemy. Bad
weather had settled in, and though the German pilots got through
to deliver three further attacks, they sank only one more ship. PQ.18’s
losses during the whole voyage, at thirteen out of forty ships, were
grievous enough; but the effort had cost the enemy three U-boats
and thirty-five aircraft, including no fewer than thirty-one torpedo-
bombers.

During all this time Group Captain Hopps was making full use of
his aircraft in Russia. The Catalinas of No. 210 Squadron continued
their watch for U-boats and surface vessels, the Spitfires strove in
vile weather to photograph the German anchorages, the Hampdens
carried out a long, vain search for major units which in fact had
remained in Norwegian waters. Under the cover of these movements
and of the German pre-occupation with PQ.18 the westbound convoy
QP.14 got through the first stages of its journey unscathed. Later it
lost four ships in a fierce battle with U-boats. One of these attackers
shot down a Catalina from Iceland, but accounts were more than
squared when another of the pack was sunk by a Catalina from
Scotland.

With PQ.18 in port and QP.14 well on the homeward leg of the
journey, it remained to dispose of the aircraft in Russia. For the
Spitfires and Hampdens the return flight against the prevailing wind
would have been dangerous, if not impossible. These were accordingly
handed over to the Russians. The Catalinas, however, were long-
range aircraft, and all the pilots save one were able to fly their
machines home. The exception was Flight Lieutenant D. E. Healy,
whose previous exploits in visiting Spitsbergen are a story in them-
selves.

The importance of Spitsbergen in the North Russian convoy route
has already been mentioned. When the Allies proposed to reoccupy
the island in the spring of 1942 it became essential to discover how
far south the ice extended, and whether the enemy was in possession.
After Flight Lieutenant D. E. Hawkins of No. 240 Squadron had
made the initial reconnaissance on 4th-5th April, 1942, carrying as
observers Major Sverdrup, the leader of the projected Norwegian
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expedition, and the Arctic explorer Lieutenant A. R. Glen, R N.V.R,,
the task of visiting Spitsbergen and tracking the ice-edge along the
convoy route had fallen largely to Healy. Hawkins’ flight from
Sullom Voe, a matter of some 2,500 miles and twenty-six hours out
and home, had been undertaken exceptionally early in the year for
high latitude flying, but Healy’s first reconnaissance on 3rd—4th May
was little less exacting. Fierce headwinds of up to a hundred knots,
huge belts of fog, heavy ice formation endangering the controls,
inability to make more than the most occasional use of wireless or
astral fixes as an aid to dead reckoning, utter weariness of mind and
body from the long hours of flying—these were the perils surmounted
on the first two flights, to say nothing of the danger of en€my
opposition.

Then followed a period in which the weather made further flights
impossible, the expedition sailed and was attacked from the air while
landing supplies, and the Admiralty waited in vain for news. It was
Healy who broke the suspense. Flying a Catalina specially equipped
with long-range tanks, long-range A.S.V., and an extensive selection
of compasses, on 26th May he discovered the survivors of the
expedition (who had meanwhile existed largely on a “find’ of frozen
pork and Russian sweets), and by an interchange of signals on the
Aldis lamp learned of the presence of enemy patrols and aircraft.
By 29th May he was back again with food, medical stores, arms and
ammunition, which he dropped by parachute when his efforts to land
on the fiords were defeated by ice. ‘The full glory of the scene that
followed’, recorded Licutenant Glen, ‘could not be properly
appreciated from the air. Dirty, bearded ruffians darted out on skis
to seize half-buried kit bags, tearing them open and thrusting mixtures
of chocolate and boracic powder into their mouths with one hand
while with the other they pulled off their tattered bed-sheets to parade
back in the full glamour of an Irvin suit. Perhaps the best of all was
the sight of a most respectable colonel of the Royal Corps of Signals,
sitting on a coal heap oblivious to all else as he devoured large
spoonsful of apricot jam and coal dust out of a 4 1b. tin which had
burst open on impact’.

Two days later, on the third of these long and immensely exacting
trips within a week, Healy was compelled by bad weather to abandon
his mission after 174 hours, but on 7th June his efforts to alight were
at last rewarded. Stores were unloaded, and six wounded men were
taken on board. Other trips followed in the next two months, that on
27th June being notable for the destruction of a Ju.88 on the ground
at Spitsbergen and a sea-fog all the way back to the Shetlands. Finally,
after the award of a richly deserved D.S.O. to himself and a D.F.C.
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to his navigator, Flight Lieutenant E. Schofield, Healy proceeded
with his comrades of No. 210 Squadron to North Russia. He com-
pleted his flights for the passage of PQ.18, then took off from Grasnaya
for a final visit to Spitsbergen. His instructions were to collect Glen
and proceed home. Unfortunately bad weather forced him to abandon
the trip, and he decided to return to Murmansk and try again the
next day. Some two hundred miles from the Russian coast the clouds
cleared and the crew saw a Ju.88 approaching rapidly from astern.
The alarm was sounded on the hooter, the crew took up their action
stations, and as the enemy drew closer the starboard gunner of the
Catalina opened fire. Some of the shots apparently went home, and
the enemy, disliking his reception, tore rapidly past and away. This
brought him within the arc of fire of the Catalina’s front gun; but
the weapon jammed, and as the German machine sped off its rear-
gunner got in a parting burst. The shells smashed through the wind-
screen of the Catalina and fatally wounded one member of the crew—
the pilot who had done so much to preserve our hold on Spitsbergen,
and with it the safety of our convoys.

The death of Healy and the return of the remaining Catalinas from
North Russia brought the episode of PQ.18 to a close. All told, the
support of the convoy and its westbound counterpart had occupied
111 aircraft from fourteen different squadrons of Coastal Command
Between them these aircraft had put in 279 sorties and 2,290 flying-
hours. But by far the greater part of this time had been taken up
getting to and from the area of operations. The obvious remedy of
stronger escort from aircraft carriers could not yet be applied ; and
in view of this and the large part to be played by British surface forces
in the forthcoming landings in North Africa it was decided for the
time being to discontinue the Russian convoys. During October and
November several ships sailed to North Russia independently, with
a fair measure of success; and convoys were then resumed in
December under cover of the winter darkness. They were discontinued
during the spring and summer months of 1943, and a similar halt,
though for a much shorter period, was made in 1944. By that time
the development of the supply line through Persia had made the
Northern route less important, while the regular employment of
auxiliary carriers had obviated the need for shore-based support by
Coastal Command in Arctic waters. The Command continued, how-
ever, to help the Northern convoys by reconnaissance, escort and
anti U-boat sweeps from Scotland and Iceland. Many gallant actions
remained to be fought during these later years, but the Northern
route was never again threatened as it had been in 1942. To the crews
of the Royal Navy, the mercantile marine and Coastal Command,



86 ROYAL AIR FORCE 1939-1945

who in that dire season braved and overcame the worst that the enemy
could do, the whole Allied cause thus owed an immeasurable debt of
gratitude. The ‘iron curtain’ has now descended, and on one side of
it the deeds of our sailors and airmen are ignored, forgotten, or held
in despite and contempt. That is the more reason for honouring them
on the other.

* * *

During 1942 Coastal Command continued to execute two essential
tasks somewhat aside from its main work. One of these was photo-
graphic reconnaissance, the other air-sea rescue. The progress of
these two highly important activities must now be briefly recounted.

Long-range photographic reconnaissance over Europe was, as
earlier related, the function of the high-level Spitfires of No. 1
Photographic Reconnaissance Unit.! To these the fast and versatile
Mosquitos had now been added. From the Unit’s base at Benson,
near Oxford, from the neighbouring satellite of Mount Farm, and
from the outlying detachments at Leuchars, Wick, St. Eval and
Gibraltar, these unarmed aircraft took off on their hazardous and
vital missions. As their numbers grew, and the longer range of the
Mosquito enabled still more ambitious tasks to be attempted, so our
acquaintance with events in enemy territory improved. ‘By May 1942,
ten sorties a day, as against four a year earlier, were returning with
their precious spools of precise and irrefutable evidence. By that time,
too, the Mosquitos were ranging as far afield as Narvik in the north,
the Skoda Works at Pilsen in the south.

With the increase in the aircraft resources of No. 1 P.R.U. went
many parallel developments. On the technical side, the new F.53
camera, introduced in January 1942, gave a much larger print than
the old F.24; its scale of 1 in 10,000 at 30,000 feet at last made
possible a completely detailed and accurate interpretation. At the
same time larger magazines, capable of taking up to 500 exposures,
helped to give better cover. On the organizational side the most
striking feature was perhaps the growth of the Central Interpretation
Unit. Medmenham, which in earlier days had witnessed the frolics of
the Hell Fire Club, now saw earnest figures peering intently through
stereos at prints which would have aroused no glimmer of interest
among John Wilkes and his cronies. Here was done that ‘second
phase’ and ‘third phase’ interpretation which would amplify and
systematize the information obtained from the immediate interpreta-

1No. 2 P.R.U. operated in the Middle East. No. 3 P.R.U. had previously
served Bomber Command, but had been absorbed into No. 1 in June 1941 1t
was later re-formed in India. No. 4 P.R.U. was formed in October 1942 for work
in French North Africa.
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tion at the operational stations. By the end of 1942 there were at this
centre over a thousand men and women of the Royal Air Force ; and
specialized sections—naval, military, airfields, industries, damage
assessment, night photos, and many others—existed to deal with
every aspect of the work. Some idea of the size of the organization
may be gathered from the year’s output, which totalled 204 models,
5,437 reports, and 1,454,742 prints. This last figure was possible only
through the introduction of film-processing machines which developed,
dried and spooled film at a rate of four feet per second, and of multi-
printers which produced a thousand prints to the hour.

The photographic aircraft, it is important to remember, served
many masters. Though part of Coastal Command it was as much
their duty to obtain information for the Admiralty or the Ministry of
Economic Warfare as for the Air Ministry. Among the multitude of
their achievements in the period from June 1941 to December 1942
it is perhaps sufficient to mention the discovery of the He.177 and a
new class of German destroyer ; the constant vigil over the Scharn-
horst, Gneisenau and Tirpitz—T729 photographic sorties, or on some
occasions as many as seven a day, were flown over Brest during the
stay of the two battle cruisers ; the revelation of what Bomber Com-
mand was, or was not, achieving in Germany ; the location of some
seventy enemy radar stations; and the preliminary reconnaissance
for the raids on Bruneval, St. Nazaire and Dieppe, as well as for the
invasion of French North Africa. By October 1942, when the
continued expansion of No. 1 P.R.U. brought about its division into
five separate squadrons (Nos. 540 to 544), strategic photographic
reconnaissance was unquestionably among the most vital and
rewarding of all our many activities in the air.

* * *

Some account was given in Volume I of the origins of the air-sea
rescue organization, and the assignment of Lysander aircraft in
Fighter Command to this distinctive task. In the months that followed
the Battle of Britain much progress was made, but responsibility
continued to be divided among a large number of authorities. In
August 1941 it was accordingly decided to concentrate executive
control over all air-sea rescue operations in a single person. The
choice naturally fell upon the Air Officer Commanding-in-Chief,
Coastal Command, and from this date Coastal Command became
primarily responsible for the work of rescue. At the same time the
Directorate of Air-Sea Rescue at the Air Ministry, which had already
done much to develop and co-ordinate methods, was merged in a
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larger Directorate-General of Aircraft Safety; and over this a
distinguished ex-Chief of Air Staff, Marshal of the Royal Air Force
Sir John Salmond, was invited to preside. These decisions were a
reflection of the increasing interest in work the ever-growing import-
ance of which may be seen from the fact that between February and
August 1941 some 1,200 aircrew had crashed into the sea. Thanks to
the still-undeveloped rescue services, 444 of these had been saved to
fight again.

The increased responsibility of Coastal Command, it should be
made clear, in no way lessened the dependence of the rescue services
on outside help. The Post Office Radio Stations, the Royal Observer
Corps, the Coastguards, the Royal National Lifeboat Institution, the
Merchant Navy and even amateur wireless enthusiasts all continued
* to play an essential part. And behind the rescue services proper—the
high speed launches, seaplane tenders and pinnaces of the Royal Air
Force, the naval craft, and the ‘search’ Lysanders and Walruses—
still stood the general resources of the Royal Navy and the Royal
Air Force.

In September 1941 the Lysanders and Walruses were formed into
four squadrons—Nos. 275 to 278. These were the first squadrons to
be assigned specifically to air-sea rescue. They remained in Fighter
Command, distributed at suitable points around the coast, but their
limit of search was extended to 40 miles from the shore. Three other
air-sea rescue squadrons—Nos. 279-281—were formed before the
end of 1942. The first two, intended for deep search and equipped
with Hudsons and Ansons, became units of Coastal Command ; the
third, another “close-in’ squadron for Fighter Command, was formed
on Defiants, then nearing the end of their life as night-fighters.

Together with this growth in the rescue squadrons and a corres-
pondingincrease in the number of marine craft went ceaseless progress
in devices to sustain life and attract attention to the crashed crews.
Such devices, however, were by no means the only points to consider.
For the actual rescue was the end of a long chain of circumstance
which stretched right back to the design of the aircraft—its reliability,
its strength to resist the impact of the water, its facilities for stowage
and exit. Equally important, too, was the training of the air crews—
the readiness with which they absorbed and practised the drills for
ditching and abandoning aircraft laid down by the Air Ministry and
tirelessly preached after March 1942 by an air-sea rescue officer at
every station. Only if due attention had been given to all these points
could the crew survive to take advantage of the safety equipment
provided. The great importance of this training may be seen from the
fact that of those who crashed into the sea considerably more Allied
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crews were rescued than British, in proportion to the numbers in-
volved. This was undoubtedly because the Czechs and Poles, knowing
the fate that awaited them in the hands of the enemy, were determined
if possible to ‘ditch’ rather than bale out over German territory, and
so took the rescue-drills more seriously.

Once the plane had ditched and the crew emerged, then the long
list of safety aids came into play. By 1942 all crews were provided,
either personally orin their dinghies, with emergency rations, drinking
water or fruit juice, chocolate, a first-aid kit, distress signals, Verey
cartridges, fluorescine, paddles, a telescopic mast, a flag, balers, leak
stoppers, weather-covers, a skull cap, a whistle, a floating torch and
a floating knife. With the issue of the one-man, or fighter-pilot’s,
dinghy to bomber crews, the latter, if forced to bale out, were able
to survive when their multi-seater dinghy went down with the
aircraft.! Other devices issued to crews during 1942 included a mini-
ature wireless transmitter, packed in a waterproof floating case—a
piece of equipment, like fluorescine and the one-man dinghy, copied
from the Germans ; while a further aid, in production but not yet in
use, was ‘Walter’—an automatic oscillator which registered on the
A.S.V. of searching aircraft. As for aids dropped from the air when
the distressed crew was discovered, there were the comprehensive
packs already well known as the Bircham Barrel, the Thornaby Bag,
and the Lindholme Apparatus; and in production there was that
masterpiece of ingenuity, the airborne lifeboat.

Thanks to all these devices, to the unstinted co-operation of the
outside authorities, and to the unfailing gallantry of the crews of
aircraft and launches alike, 1,016 of the 3,000 or so airmen known to
have crashed into the sea in 1942 were recovered. Of the many re-
markable incidents that occurred there is space to mention only two.
The first received some publicity at the time, as it brought into
prominence an unusual means of rescue—the carrier pigeon. Such
birds were, of course, carried as an emergency aid for communication ;
but as they do not fly by night, or in bad visibility, or when wet, they
were not expected to play any useful part once anaircraft had ditched.
The following episode led to their capacities in this respect being
taken more, seriously.

On the afternoon of 23rd February, 1942, six Beauforts of No. 42
Squadron left Sumburgh for a sweep against enemy shipping. They
reached the Norwegian coast, but saw no vessels, and on the return
journey the aircraft became separated. Suddenly Beaufort M, piloted

11n some aircraft the dinghy was carried in a valise; in others it was stowed
in the wings or the outside of the fuselage. In most of the latter types the dinghy
‘v;vas automatically ejected on impact with the water.
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by Squadron Leader W. H. Cliff, went into an uncontrollable dive
and hit the sea. Cliff and his crew, who only a fortnight before had
led No. 42 Squadron’s attack on the Scharnhorst and Gneisenau,
thought that their last moment had come; but by some miracle all
survived the impact and scrambled out, or were thrown clear, as the
aircraft went down. Fortunately one of them was able to secure the
dinghy, and this all four men eventually succeeded in boarding. Very
soon they were joined by one of the two pigeons carried in the aircraft.
They at once captured this welcome arrival, attached to its leg a note
of the approximate position of the crash, and launched the bird into
the air. But the creature was wet, and darkness was already coming
on. After performing a few perfunctory circles the pigeon merely
alighted back on the dinghy; and no amount of cajoling, or beating
about the head, could persuade it to resume its flight. Its fixed
intention was obviously to make a fifth passenger. In disgust the
crew therefore abandoned their attempts to drive it off, and huddled
together against the rigours of the February night.

By this time the search had begun. The last known position of the
aircraft was 150 miles east of Aberdeen, and throughout the night a
Catalina sought in vain for the distressed crew. At first light other
aircraft went out from Leuchars, Dyce and Arbroath, but several
hours’ search yielded no sign of the missing men. Meanwhile a pigeon
had arrived back at base—not the obstinate creature of the previous
evening, but its companion from the same basket. Unknown to the
Beaufort crew, ¢ Winkie’—as the unfortunate bird was called—had
made his escape from the aircraft. He of course carried no message ;
but this did not defeat the acute intelligences at the station. Since he
could not have flown in the dark, he must obviously have found
somewhere to rest; and an examination of his feathers revealed
unmistakable traces of oil. Someone hazarded the guess that he had
spent the night on a tanker ; enquiry revealed that such a vessel had
in fact been passing off the North East Coast ; and from a knowledge
of its course, and a calculation of the time taken by the pigeon to
reach base, the area of search was readjusted to some fifty miles
nearer shore. The next aircraft sent out, a Hudson of No. 320
Squadron, flew almost straight to the spot where the dinghy lay
tossing on the waves. The crew wirelessed a message to base, then
dropped a Thornaby Bag. Three hours later a high-speed launch
arrived, and the sufferings of the four bruised and frost-bitten airmen
were over. ,

The second incident was marked by less good fortune, but it
exemplifies that determination to succeed without which all the most
elaborate preparations would have been in vain. In this case the cost
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of saving a distressed crew proved heavier than that of leaving them
to their fate. Nevertheless the moral value of the episode, in the
confidence it inspired in crews that no effort would be spared to save
them, far outbalanced any material loss.

On the night of 11th August, 1942 a Leigh Light Wellington of
No. 172 Squadron, piloted by Flying Officer A. W. R. Triggs, was on
anti-submarine patrol in the Bay of Biscay. In the small hours of the
following morning the tail gunner suddenly saw ‘excessive sparks
passing behind like a cluster of stars’, the oil pressure fell to zero, the
aircraft lost height, and in a few minutes the pilot was forced to ditch.
The crew carried out their drill correctly, including the transmission
- of an S O S, but when the aircraft struck the water the dinghy failed
to blow out of the stowage. This the pilot remedied by prising off the
lid of the stowage with his bare hands, while the rest of the crew stood
on the wing up to their knees in water. The dinghy then began to
inflate and despite the high seas the drenched crew managed to climb
aboard.

For the next three hours all six men baled furiously. Then the
search aircraft began to appear. No less than eleven of them passed
over or near in the course of the morning, but all the efforts of the
distressed crew could not attract their attention. There were only two
marine signals in the dinghy, and both of these were fired in vain.

The morning turned to afternoon, and at last a Whitley of No. 51
Squadron spotted the sixairmen. The Whitley dropped a spare dinghy
and a Thornaby Bag, and saw the crew retrieve the latter. It then sent
off a signal giving the survivors’ correct position and turned for home.
Within a short time a Sunderland of No. 461 Squadron, Royal
Australian Air Force, escorted by three Beaufighters, was hastening
towards the scene. The flying-boat survived an encounter en route
with a Focke-Wulf Condor ; but another Whitley, which spotted the
dinghy and signalled ‘Sunderland coming’, was shot down on its
way home.

The instructions of the Sunderland’s pilot were to alight and pick
up the survivors if the state of wind and water permitted. The con-
ditions, in fact, were far from good. Nevertheless he decided to make
the attempt. As he touched down, the flying-boat hit a wave, bounced,
hit the water again, and at once lost the tip of the starboard wing.
A second later a starboard engine burst into flames and the aircraft
nosed into the sea. The crew just had time to launch one of their
dinghies before the Sunderland sank. They had barely clambered
aboard when a bulge appeared on the side. Within a few seconds this
swelled up and the whole dinghy burst, scattering the crew into the
water. The navigator then swam towards the spare dinghy dropped
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earlier by the Whitley, intending to propel it back towards his
comrades. But the dinghy was 400 yards away, and in such seas it was
all the utterly exhausted survivor could do to reach it and scramble
aboard. The other members of the crew were soon engulfed by the
waves.

So 12th August passed. Wet, cold and uncomfortable the six men
from the Wellington now faced another night. The next day two more
Whitleys arrived over the spot, only to be intercepted and driven off
by German aircraft. A French fishing vessel also passed near, but the
distressed aircrew pinned their faith to the efforts of their comrades,
and made no move to attract its attention. Then the weather closed in.
Throughout August 14th and 15th most of the search aircraft were
grounded. Meantime on August 14th the six men took their first
meal—a biscuit, a Horlicks tablet, a square of chocolate, and a
mouthful of water. They also beat off a shark which showed an un-
welcome interest in them. Towards the close of the following day
they staged a Friday night celebration by drinking a can of tomato
juice. On this day, too, they tried to make some progress towards
home with an improvised sail—for it was not until later in the year,
after a number of fighter pilots had been picked up dead in their
dinghies, that proper sails were included in the packs. While the
Wellington crew thus kept up their spirits the single survivor from the
Sunderland in the other dinghy was without food. He consoled
himself by drinking water and chewing at the strap of his wrist-watch.

On 16th August, four days after the first crash, the weather cleared.
At midday a Beaufighter of No. 235 Squadron appeared and
signalled to the Wellington crew: ‘contact other dinghy—injured
man aboard’. Guided by the aircraft the six men began to paddle the
half mile or so which separated them from the survivor of the
Sunderland. While they were doing so a Hudson of No. 279 Squadron
arrived over the scene and dropped a Lindholme gear. After five
hours’ intense effort they reached the other dinghy and pulled the
solitary occupant aboard their own. They then rubbed him down and
gave him a malted milk tablet and half a can of tomato juice. His
first words were: ‘I’m all for the open air life, aren’t you ?” This the
crew of the Wellington countered with another question: ‘You
wouldn’t be an Australian, would you?’

By then a British destroyer, accompanied by launches and Beau-
fighters, was fast approaching. But so were German aircraft. Soon
the Beaufighters were shooting down a Ju.88, only to be attacked by
F.W.190’s. Night fell. The seven men were still in the two dinghies,
now lashed together.

Early the next morning a German motor launch, escorted by three
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" Arado 196’s and two F.W.190’s, was seen heading towards the
dinghies. But the Beaufighters were back on the scene, and they at
once dived at the enemy. Under cover of their attacks two of our own
launches were then able to approach the dinghies and take aboard
the exhausted survivors.

Their adventures were not yet over. On the return voyage German
aircraft shadowed and attacked the launches. But the Beaufighters
and the gunners on deck held all attempts at bay, and in the evening
of 17th August the little convoy reached the safety of Newlyn
Harbour. So ended an outstanding rescue which, despite fierce
opposition and great mischance, not only snatched seven skilled air-
crew from the very jaws of the enemy, but also inspired all others
with the knowledge that, in like misfortune, they too would be
assured of that ‘last full measure of devotion’ which is the tradition
of the Service.



CHAPTER VI

Coastal Command

and the Struggle at Sea:

The Offensive against German Shipping
and U-Boats in 1942

THROUGHOUT 1942 Coastal Command continued its routine work
of reconnaissance and convoy escort. At the same time it steadily
pursued and developed those offensive operations against German
shipping and U-boats which in the end contributed so powerfully to
the Allied victory.

By the beginning of 1942 the anti-shipping offensive had been
waged for over a year. Already Coastal Command was ceaselessly
attacking sea-reaches so vital to the enemy as the coastal waters of
Norway, the Southern North Sea and the Bay of Biscay. With Bomber
Command’s Bostons—successors to the heavily-smitten Blenheims—
joining in at need, and Fighter Command operating the ‘Channel
Stop’ and supplying escort, there were few occasions on which
German vessels could sail completely unchallenged. Unless, of course,
they cared to confine themselves to the Baltic.

The year began disappointingly. During the last quarter of 1941
Coastal Command had sunk fifteen ships for the loss of forty-six
aircraft, but in the first four months of 1942 it sank only six for the
loss of fifty-five aircraft. This was largely a seasonal decline’. Better
weather, coupled with increased resources in the form of four
Hampden squadrons converted to torpedo bombers, soon gave rise
to renewed hopes. By May the Command was attacking more fiercely
and more frequently than ever before.

Much the larger part of this work against enemy shipping fell to
the Hudsons. With the help of the Hampdens, those of No. 18 Group
(Nos. 48 and 608 Squadrons) were responsible for strikes off Norway ;
those of No. 16 Group (Nos. 53, 59, 320 (Dutch) Squadrons, and
No. 407 Squadron, Royal Canadian Air Force) concentrated on
the traffic between the estuary of the Elbe and the Hook of Holland.
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With iron determination the pilots of these squadrons dived through
the flak and released their bombs from mast-height—or so near it
that damage from impact with ship or sea was distressingly frequent.
On 28th May, for instance, No. 59 Squadron recorded that one of its
aircraft ‘struck the sea with port prop—badly bent and homed on
one engine at 60 m.p.h.’. The next day No. 407 Squadron reported
a still more telling incident. ‘For the second time in two nights Pilot
Officer O’Connell successfully bombed enemy shipping. After this
last episode he is seriously thinking of taking up paper-hanging after
the war. He went in so low to attack that he struck a mast and hung
one of the bomb-doors thereon’. As material for an impressive
‘line’ this was probably surpassed only by an incident two years
later, when a pilot of No. 455 Squadron, Royal Australian Air
Force, returned from a shipping attack near the Dutch coast with
several feet of mast attached to his aircraft.

Tactics—and courage—of this kind reaped their reward, and
during May alone Coastal Command claimed twelve ships, ten of
which have since been confirmed. Many others were damaged.
Unfortunately attacks at so low a level also involved severe losses ;
and at forty-three aircraft for the month these were greater than the
Command could possibly continue to accept. The war diarist of No.
407 Squadron, while justifiably stressing the achievements of his
comrades, leaves no doubt about their cost. ‘Since this squadron
became operational again on Ist April we have lost twelve crews,
in all fifty persons either missing or killed. During the past month six
crews have been designated missing or killed on operations with the
loss of twenty-seven lives. This does not take into consideration the
fact that after every major operation of this nature at least two or
three aircraft are so very badly damaged that they are of no use to
this, or any other, squadron’.

In work of this nature even the cloak of semi-darkness was no
protection. Whether the strike took place in moonlight or twilight
or daylight made little difference—the proportion of aircraft lost
steadily increased. By the end of June the grim fact emerged that
during the previous three months, out of every four aircraft attemp-
ting to attack, one had been shot down. The Germans were applying
the obvious remedy. They were arming their merchantmen more and
more heavily, surrounding them with more and more escorts—some-
times they now employed as many as four or five warships for a single
merchant vessel. This impressive tribute to the work of our crews
unfortunately spelled, for the time being, the end of our success;
for with his resources stretched to the utmost Joubert could not
afford losses of anything like this order. In July he instructed his
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crews to abandon the low attack, and to bomb from medium level.
- The resulting fall in casualties was equalled only by the decline in
sinkings.

The ineffectiveness of medium-level attack arose partly from the
lack of a good bomb-sight for the type of work, partly from the drain
of experienced crews—including two of the four Beaufort Squadrons
—to the Middle East. The Hampdens, too, were not fast enough for
work against the more powerfully escorted convoys—a fact which
sometimes led their pilots into desperate expedients. ‘ There was’,
records a member of No. 455 Royal Australian Air Force Squadron,
‘a very keen type who earned himself the nickname ‘Hacksaw”,
because whenever he had the opportunity he sawed off some of the
many appendages the old Hampden acquired, to try and squeeze the
extra half-knot out of her’. i

None of these handicaps was likely to be overcome in the near
future. Joubert, however, was far from beaten. Impressed by the
remarkable combination of adaptability, speed, strength and endur-
ance to be found in the Beaufighter, he had already suggested that
some of these admirable aircraft should be modified to carry
torpedoes; and to this suggestion, which was approved by the Air
Ministry in June, he now added another—that special Beaufighter
‘strike wings’ should be formed. These, he urged, should consist
partly of the ordinary cannon Beaufighters or Beaufighter-bombers
(which would concentrate on the ships’ crews and guns) and partly of
the new Torbeaus. The whole wing, being composed of the same
type of aircraft, could be expected to attack at high speed with
cohesion. This proposal also won acceptance, and in September the
decision was taken to equip Coastal Command with five Beaufighter
squadrons of each type by April 1943.

The first of these new wings, consisting of Nos. 143 (Beaufighter),
236 (Bomber-Beaufighter) and 254 (Beaufighter and Torbeau)
Squadrons was assembled in November 1942. It was stationed at
North Coates, in No. 16 Group, for work against the heavily
escorted traffic along the Frisian coast. On 20th November Spitfires
of No. 12 Group, Fighter Command, reported a convoy of twelve
to sixteen ships steering south west towards Rotterdam. Two of the
Beaufighter squadrons—Nos. 236 and 254—were at once ordered
off; but the weather was bad, the formations lost touch, and the
convoy was protected by FW.190’s. The result was, to say the least,
discouraging. The largest merchant ship and two escort-vessels
were hit, but only at prohibitive cost to the Beaufighters, three of
which were lost and four so seriously damaged that they crashed or
made forced landings on return, Concluding that the wing was not .
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yet properly trained as a working unit, Joubert at once withdrew it
from the line of battle, leaving the Hudsons and Hampdens to sustain
the burden of the offensive.

From the purely statistical angle, anti-shipping operations during
'1942 thus showed disappointing results. Over the whole year 42 ships
(61,028 tons) were assessed as sunk by the three home Commands.
All these sinkings—and three more—have since been confirmed.
The total cost was 251 aircraft. These figures are unimpressive,
but it would be wrong to conclude from them that the offensive was
misconceived or that its effects were insignificant. The Germans
were forced to protect their convoys with fighters, guns and minor
warships which they could certainly have used to advantage elsewhere.
They were driven into adopting rigorous methods which were
temporarily effective in repelling attack but greatly reduced the
volume of goods they could carry. They were made to haggle about
payment with nervous, grasping, or merely sensible Scandinavian
crews. In sum, the offensive kept the Germans under pressure on
their sea routes, just as other operations kept them under pressure on
their land routes. Attacks on shipping by our coastal aircraft were in
fact the necessary complement of attacks on ports and marshalling
yards by our bombers and ‘train-busting’ by our fighters. Release the
pressure at any point, allow the ships or the trains or the barges to
proceed with immunity, and traffic would at once flow from the more
to the less threatened routes, with benefit to'the whole of the enemy’s
hard-driven transport system.

These were what Joubert called the ‘hidden assets’ of the offensive.
But even in terms of bare statistics there were some aspects of the
campaign which were highly and obviously profitable. There was, for
example, a small class of traffic of unique importance in the German
war economy—the cargoes of urgently needed primary products
carried by blockade-runners from the Far East. The safe arrival of
one of these venturesome craft was an occasion for tremendous
rejoicing among the enemy. It was the privilege of Coastal
Command’s No. 19 Group to help the Navy make such occasions
few and far between.

The blockade-runners were speedy vessels whose captains were
well versed in all the arts of maritime deception. Despite this they
rarely managed to avoid the vigilance of the Navy in the outer seas.
If luck or good judgment brought them safely past our ships they
were almost invariably picked up by Coastal Command as they
approached the Bay of Biscay; for though No. 19 Group was on the
hunt for U-boats it did not disdain other prey. In January 1943, for
instance, there was the case of the Rhakotis. Spotted by a Hampden
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of No. 502 Squadron and shadowed by a Sunderland of No. 10,
R.A.AF., she was finished off by a cruiser which ‘homed’ on to the
flying boat. This single stroke deprived Germany not only of useful
quantities of fats, vegetable oils, quinine bark, tea, tin, rice and
wolfram, but also of 4,000 tons of rubber—enough to supply four
armoured divisions for a year. And the fate of the Rhakotis was by no
means untypical ; in the first four months of 1943 only one blockade-
runner out of seven reached the French coast. After that, until the
end of the year, the Germans even gave up trying.

By the spring of 1943 the Beaufighter wing at North Coates was
ready for action. On 18th April ittook off on its first ¢strike’ since the
unfortunate episode of November. The target, located earlier in the
day by one of the wing aircraft, was a heavily escorted convoy off the
Dutch coast ; and the attacking force consisted of nine Torbeaus of
No. 254 Squadron, six Beaufighter bombers of No. 236 Squadron and
six Beaufighters of No. 143 Squadron, all covered at high level by
Spitfires and Mustangs of Fighter Command. ¢ The role of the escort-
ing Beaufighters®, records No. 236 Squadron, ‘was to attack the
escort vessels with bombs, cannon and machine guns and silence
. their fire whilst the torpedo carrying ““Beaus™ attacked the large
merchant vessel. Rendezvous with single-engine fighter escort was to
be made over Coltishall. The operation went entirely according to
plan except that the convoy was encountered some ten miles further
north than had been expected (off Texel). Two ‘M’ class mine-
sweepers were hit with- bombs, cannon and machine-gun fire, and
left on fire, and an armed trawler was also hit. Two certain torpedo
hits were made by No. 254 Squadron on the largest merchant vessel
(the target vessel of the strike), which was left on fire listing heavily,
and thought to be sinking. Many excellent close-up photographs of
the attack were secured. The whole operation was outstanding not
only in the success of the attack but also in the fact that between 1535
and 1550 hours every one of the 21 Beaufighters engaged landed
safely back at North Coates. Only very slight damage due to enemy
fire was sustained by two or three aircraft, and no casualties whatso-
ever to crew’.

Before the end of April a similar operation resulted in the destruc-
tion of two merchant vessels and a trawler, besides damage to
several escorts, all at a cost of one Beaufighter. The key to success
thus seemed within our grasp. A notable indication of this was soon
to come. In May 1943 a tally was made of the active shipping in
Rotterdam, the most convenient port for the great industrial area of
Rhenish Westphalia. It amounted to only 37,000 tons, as against
106,000 tons a year earlier. The work of the strike-wing, coupled with
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our raids on the port and our ceaseless mining, had forced the
Germans to halt most of their traffic at Emden, where handling and
transport facilities were greatly inferior.

By the spring of 1943 the anti-shipping offensive thus promised
great things. Unfortunately these were not to be achieved as quickly
as we had hoped. The demands of the Mediterranean theatre had by
then shattered our plan of building up five strike-wings in this country
and many difficulties remained to be overcome before our aircraft
could seal up Rotterdam and subject the ships’ crews off the Dutch
and Norwegian coasts to a veritable reign of terror. But if the
great days of the offensive were still beyond the horizon, already
the clouds were tinged with their approaching light.

Moreover, in the minelaying carried out night after night by
Bomber Command, and to a much lesser degree by Coastal Com-
mand, there was a weapon at work far more deadly than we realized.
Between April 1940 and March 1943 Bomber and Coastal Commands
laid nearly 16,000 mines at a cost of 329 aircraft. We now know that
these mines sank 369 vessels, totalling 361,821 tons. During the same
period Bomber, Coastal, and Fighter Commands delivered some
3,700 attacks on ships at sea at a cost of 648 aircraft. We now know
that these attacks sank 107 vessels, totalling 155,076 tons. In other
words, it was costing us six aircraft to sink one ship by direct attack,
but less than one aircraft to sink one ship by mining. Here was some-
thing unappreciated then, and little known now. Taken in conjunc-
tion, the two forms of attack were already doing great damage to the
enemy, and would soon do much more.

* * *

It is recorded in the first volume of this history that as soon as the
United States became involved in the war six of Germany’s biggest
U-boats were ordered to North American waters. These vessels
reached their new hunting-grounds during the second week of
January 1942. Within three weeks they had destroyed no less than
forty Allied and neutral ships, totalling 230,000 tons.

Well satisfied with this experiment, Donitz decided to strike while
the iron was hot, or rather, while the American defences were still
luke-warm. He at once ordered all U-boats lying westward of the
British Isles and several lying off the Azores to take up station on the
North American seaboard. Shortly afterwards he sent five large boats
to operate off Central America. He also began to organize a system
of refuelling from other U-boats at sea. One important element in
his plan, however, was frustrated. By Hitler’s express command
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twenty-four U-boats—over a quarter of the total operational force
in the Atlantic—remained on guard against the expected British
invasion of Norway.

For the next four months the German vessels wrought havoc.
With a brief exception in April, when sailings were suspended in the
most dangerous areas, the sinkings off the American coast grew ever
more frequent. For May the figure reached 531,000 tons, or 109 ships,
including thirty tankers. All this the Germans achieved at an average
cost of less than two U-boats each month.

Such blows, if not mortal, were indeed staggering. Yet there were
two facts which offered some consolation. The enemy’s easy run of
success must surely end as soon as the Americans could develop
systematic air and surface escort ; and if U-boats were fully occupied
in the western Atlantic their capacity for mischief must be smaller
elsewhere. During most of the spring the convoys between North
America and Great Britain thus sailed relatively unscathed, while in
waters covered by Coastal Command only nine merchant ships were
sunk within five months. All this enabled the Command, despite the
drain of resources overseas and the frequent calls for operations
against the German capital ships, to give more attention to the
U-boat ‘transit areas’.

Two of these transit areas—the northern and the Bay of Biscay—
were of particular importance. The former, between the Shetlands
and Norway on the one side and the Shetlands and the Faroes on the
other, was traversed by new U-boats on their maiden voyage from
Germany ; the latter was crossed every time a U-boat approached or
left the main operational bases in Western France. The most ardent.
efforts on the part of No. 15 Group in the first area and No. 19 Group
in the second at first produced few ‘kills’ in either zone, but in June
1942 there came a perceptible improvement in the Bay. The reasons
for this were very numerous. There was an increase in the anti-U-boat
air forces, largely at the expense of Bomber Command?; fixed mirror-
cameras for recording attacks became more plentiful ; new depth
charges were introduced, filled with Torpex—thirty per cent more
powerful than the old Amatol—and fitted with the Mark XIIIQ
pistol. The latter ensured detonation at 34 feet below the surface—

! No. 58 Squadron (Whitleys) and eight Liberators were transferred from
Bomber to Coastal Command in April, and six Lancasters of No. 44 Squadron
followed for temporary work in June. From July onwards a Whitley squadron
for coastal duties was also maintained by No. 10 (Bomber) O.T.U. This squadron,
to which crews were attached in turn towards the end of their training, did most
gallant work, flying some thirty-five anti-U-boat sorties each week until July
1943, In the course of these operations it destroyed one U-boat and damaged
four, but only at the very heavy cost of thirty-five aircraft.



THE BATTLE OF THE ATLANTIC (IV), JANUARY-JULY 1942

Note (i) i);tenslon of patrols over S.W. approaches and off W.
rica.

(ii) Aircraft now operating from Newfoundland and Nova
Scotia up to 250 miles from shore.

facing page 100]



Digitized by GOOgle



COASTAL COMMAND 101

better than preceding marks, but still deeper than the desired ideal
of 25 feet. The effect of all these things, however, was much less than
that of another innovation—the Leigh Light.

As is not unusual with inventions of great importance, the origins
of the Leigh Light were unorthodox. The need for a good illuminant
had been realized very early at Coastal Command ; and the idea that
anti-submarine aircraft should carry a searchlight, instead of depend-
ing on unreliable and swiftly-consumed flares, was born in the mind
of Squadron Leader H. de V. Leigh during the summer of 1940.
Leigh, who was no specialist in these matters but who had any amount
of initiative and common sense, was at that time engaged on personnel
duties at Coastal Command Headquarters. He was, however, a pilot
of the First World War ; and by a fortunate chance the Coastal chief
in 1940, Air Chief Marshal Sir Frederick Bowhill, had been his
Squadron Commander in the old days. The two men were thus on
closer terms than those normally obtaining between the Air Officer
Commanding-in-Chief and a squadron leader on ‘P’ staff.

From the start Bowhill encouraged Leigh to develop his idea. At
~ the end of October 1940 he obtained for him a D.W.I. (mine-
detonating) Wellington, complete with generator. The task before
Leigh was to fit a 24-inch searchlight into the under-turret of this
aircraft, so mounted that the A.S.V. operator could direct it by
remote control. The problem, already delicate enough, was compli-
cated by the question whether the weight of the equipment would
prevent the aircraft carrying long-range A.S.V., without which it
would be useless, besides a full load of fuel and depth charges. But
on this score the inventor felt high confidence from the beginning.

By hard work, ingenuity, and help from various sources, among
which H.M.S. Vernon and the searchlight engineering firm of Messrs.
Savage and Parsons take pride of place, Leigh had his prototype
installation complete by January 1941. Two months later he carried
out his first trials, against an illuminated corvette ; and as soon as his
A.S.V. equipment was complete, in May, he proceeded to the great
test against an unlit submarine. His success was complete. Switching
on the light at the last moment just as the A.S.V. reaction was
disappearing—for the ‘blip’, which grows clearer up to about  mile
from the detected object, then becomes merged in the general returns
from the sea surface—the operator almost instantly trapped and held
the submarine in the beam. Long before the vessel could submerge,
the pilot had carried out his dummy attack. A new weapon of decisive
effect was within our grasp.

The task now appeared to be one of production—of expanding a
single prototype into a force of Leigh Light aircraft. By substituting
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batteries for the generator Leigh had already overcome any difficulty
of weight in the Wellington, while for aircraft without under-turrets,
such as the Catalina, he was developing a special nacelle-type light to
be clamped on the wing. The technical side was well in hand ; and for
a device of what promised to be revolutionary importance the
problems of production should not have been insoluble.

At this stage there occurred an unexpected setback. After the
successful trials Bowhill wrote to Joubert, then Assistant Chief of Air
Staff (Radio) at the Air Ministry, suggesting that Leigh should be
officially entrusted with the task of bringing searchlight A.S.V. air-
craft to an operational condition. The reply was discouraging.
Joubert had been closely in touch with the development of Group
Captain Helmore’s ¢ Turbinlite’; and he considered that Helmore’s
invention—intended, it will be remembered, for night-fighting—
would meet the anti-submarine requirement. So, too, did Helmore.
In reality the two lights had little in common; for Helmore’s was
extremely heavy and not very manceuvrable, gave a strong diffused
light instead of a beam, was fitted into the nose of the aircraft, and
was used to illuminate the target so that another aircraft could attack.
The fundamental differences between the two inventions, however,
were not fully appreciated at the Air Ministry ; and knowing Helmore
to be an expert in his particular field, Joubert met Bowhill’s suggestion
by assigning responsibility for further trials to the Coastal Command
Development Unit (with whom Leigh was already working), and
responsibility for further technical progress to Group Captain
Helmore. ‘

Events did not stand here. In mid-June Joubert succeeded Bowhill
at Northwood. Within a few days he had both recalled Leigh to full
‘P’ Staff duties and asked for the Helmore light to be fitted in two
A.S.V. Wellingtons. At this juncture a lesser man than Leigh might
have given up in despair ; but the Squadron Leader merely proceeded
with his personnel duties at official times, and the development of his
invention at others. In particular he persuaded Messrs. Savage and
Parsons to carry on with the production of the prototype nacelle and
controls, though they had no sort of contract to do so. His quiet
persistence was rewarded two months later, when a combined Coastal
Command-Admiralty investigation reported that the Turbinlite’
was quite unsuited for work against submarines.

Joubert, as befitted so acute and agile a commander, now changed
his tack right about. He at once became Leigh’s firmest supporter.
On 7th August he asked for six Wellingtons and six Catalinas to be
fitted with the Leigh Light as a matter of urgency; and in November,
before delivery had begun, he extended his demand by another thirty
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Wellingtons. This was too fast for the Air Staff, who insisted on
further trials. When these confirmed the merits of Leigh’s device, the
Air Ministry then approved an order for twenty more searchlight
equipments ; but it refused to have these fitted to aircraft until the
success of the first six Wellingtons had been demonstrated in
operations. Only in response to Joubert’s repeated pressure did the
Ministry so far relent, in February 1942, as to agree that the im-
mediate aim should be a full squadron (No. 172) of Leigh Light
Wellingtons, instead of a flight.

By now, some seven months after Joubert’s initial request, the first
Wellington had reached Chivenor, a Coastal airfield on the Bristol
Channel. There followed a disheartening period during which the
aircraft arrived at the rate of about one a month. By May, when there
were still only five, Joubert lost patience. Realizing that the laggards
and sceptics would be convinced only by a successful operation, he
decided to sacrifice the very great advantage of a first appearance in
force. On the night of 4th June, 1942, over a year after successful
trials, he ordered four of the five Leigh Light Wellingtons to patrol
over the Bay of Biscay.

The result was highly gratifying. Three of the Wellingtons found
no U-boats, but the ease with which they illuminated A.S.V. contacts
which turned out to be fishing vessels left little doubt of the merits of
Leigh’s invention. The fourth aircraft gave further witness in the best
possible way. It contacted, ‘homed’ on to, and successfully illuminated
two enemy submarines. Both fired recognition signals and made no
attempt to dive. The first, an Italian vessel, was heavily damaged by
the Wellington’s depth-charges, and was finished off three days later
by No. 10 Squadron, Royal Australian Air Force. The second,
profiting from the fact that the Wellington had used all its depth-
charges in the first attack, escaped with nothing worse than slight
damage from the aircraft’s machine-guns.

This was well enough for a start, and the Squadron diary very
reasonably recorded: ‘the first operational effort was hailed with
great enthusiasm throughout the Squadron as it had proved the
whole “outfit” to be an outstanding success’. Joubert, equally im-
pressed, within a few hours of receiving a report on the night’s
activities again demanded an increase in the Leigh Light production
programme. Operations during the rest of June fully confirmed the
wisdom of his request. One aircraft was lost by flying into the sea—
there was still no reliable low-reading altimeter—but between them
the five Leigh Light Wellingtons sighted seven U-boats during 230
flying hours over the Bay. In the same period the ordinary night-flying
Whitleys, using flares, put in 260 hours without a single sighting.
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The new weapon, even though its first use was on so small a scale,
had an instant effect on the German crews. Liable to be suddenly
transfixed by a dazzling glare which was the sure harbinger of a salvo
of depth-charges, they found darkness no longer a protection ; and
their growing reluctance to break surface at night soon presented our
daylight patrols with increased opportunities for attack. Reacting
swiftly to the double threat, on 24th June D&nitz ordered all U-boats
in the Bay of Biscay to proceed submerged both by day and night.
If they surfaced, it must be only to recharge batteries. The result was
that life for the German crews became not only more dangerous but
more uncomfortable. Their morale, shaken by the British efforts in
1941 and then boosted by their success off the American coast, took
a sharp turn for the worse.

During July 1942 the Leigh Light Wellingtons scored their first
“kill’, and in August the Air Ministry approved the formation of a
second squadron. At the same time nacelle-type lights were ordered
for all Catalinas and trial installations for the Liberators and
Fortresses. By then some of the secondary effects of the new weapon
were becoming clear. One of these was that the U-boats, forced to
travel great distances submerged, could now spend much less time
on patral. Another was the reinforcement of the Luftwaffe in Western
France. On 2nd July Dénitz accused Goring of allowing British air-
craft to operate in the Bay with ‘absolutely no opposition’, and soon
twenty-four Ju.88’s, which could ill be spared from other fields, were
being added to the forces of the Fliegerfiihrer Atlantik.

By the summer of 1942 the Bay was thus becoming a scene of
danger for the U-boats. By then, too, increased Allied resources and
better organization were having their effect along the North American
coast. In the air, British as well as American and Canadian units
played their part, for in July the Hudsons of No. 53 Squadron began
operating from Rhode Island. As the U-boats were driven out of the
northern reaches to the Caribbean and the Gulf of Mexico, so No. 53
Squadron followed them south. By August it was based on Trinidad,
with detachments in British and Dutch Guiana. The German heyday
in American waters was over. A

Though Dénitz could still find “soft spots’ to exploit in the
Caribbean and off Brazil, the time had now come for a general re-
deployment of his forces. Of where the U-boat chief would strike
next there was little doubt. Whatever the attractions of the waters off
Capetown, West Africa and North Russia, where merchant ships
were many and Allied aircraft few, the main offensive must continue
in the North Atlantic. And as there was now no safety for U-boats
within five hundred miles of Anglo-American air bases, the attack
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must perforce be concentrated in mid-ocean. The Allied air patrols
from Newfoundland, Donitz was gratefully aware, had not yet been
stretched to meet the Allied air patrols from Iceland and Northern
Ireland. Those from Gibraltar failed to link up with those from
Cornwall. The ‘Greenland Gap’ in the north, the ¢Azores Gap’ in
the south : here were waters still bright with promise for the German
cause.

‘Wolf pack’ attacks in the Greenland Gap began in the opening
days of August 1942. The fierce battles of the next three months
displayed at least two consistent features. One was the gallantry and
skill with which the surface-escorts harassed the attackers ; the other
was the fact that the attacks began when systematic air escort ended
and ended when systematic air escort began. A good example
occurred on Ist September. On that morning the westbound convoy
SC.97 was under attack from nine U-boats towards the westward
edge of the Greenland Gap. At midday, British and American
Catalinas from Iceland began to appear on the scene. Before nightfall
they had sunk one U-boat, attacked two more with depth-charges,
and forced all the rest to dive. Thereafter the convoy sailed on un-
molested. ‘I decided to break off the operation’, wrote Ddnitz in his
War Diary, ‘as experience had shown that further pursuit in an area
under constant air patrol would be useless’.

There was no single answer to the problem of the ‘gaps’. On the
naval side there was still much that could be done by strengthening
surface escorts. Special naval forces, too, could be formed to hunt
U-boats rather than protect convoys. The first such group, under that
redoubtable destroyer of U-boats Commander Walker, began
operations on 22nd September, 1942. In regard to the air forces, our
attacks on transit areas or the U-boat operational bases would affect
events in the ‘gaps’ just as much as elsewhere. But the prime need
was simply to abolish the gaps. This could be done either by naval
aircraft from carriers, or by V.L.R. (very long range) aircraft from
shore. But in August 1942 we had no aircraft-carriers to spare for
transatlantic convoys; no auxiliary carriers; and only five V.L.R.
aircraft in the whole of Coastal Command.! Until these things could
be supplied our losses at sea were bound to remain grave. From
August to October, in fact, an average of nearly half a million tons
went down each month in the North Atlantic alone. Worse still, new

1 These were the five Liberator I’s (operational range 2,400 miles) of No. 120
Squadron. Long-range aircraft, as distinct from V.L.R., at this time included
the remainder of No. 120 Squadron’s Liberators (Mark II 1,800 miles, Mark III
1,680 miles), together with the Catalinas (1,840 miles), the amphibian Catalinas
(1,600 miles) and the Sunderlands (1,300 miles). All other aircraft in Coastal

Command were medium or short range.
H
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U-boats continued to come into operation very much faster than the
old ones could be destroyed.

Despite all this, Donitz was alarmed at the prospect ahead. ‘The
number of British aircraft in the East Atlantic’, he wrote at the
beginning of September, ‘has increased, a great variety being seen.
They are equipped with excellent location devices against U-boats.
U-boat traftic round Scotland and in the Bay of Biscay is gravely
endangered by daily, even hourly, hunts by aircraft. In the Atlantic
the enemy’s daily reconnaissance covers out as far as 20° W., which
forces U-boat dispositions far out into the centre of the Atlantic with
consequent higher fuel consumption, shorter operational periods, and
greater difficulty in finding the enemy convoys in the open Atlantic.
‘There are also some types of aircraft of particularly long range which
are used for convoy escort. Such escort has been flown as much as
eight hundred miles from English bases. If development continues at
the present rate, these problems will lead to irreparable losses, to a
decline in ship sinkings, and consequently to reduced chances of
success in the U-boat warfare as a whole’. In view of all this Donitz
once more staked a claim on the four-engined He.177’s, ‘the only
aircraft which have a range and fighting power capable of acting as
reconnaissance against the Atlantic convoys and of combating the
English aircraft in the Biscay area’. In support of this demand he
quoted the opinion of his U-boat captains that ‘successful operations
were perfectly possible against convoys even heavily escorted by
surface craft, but only as long as Allied aircraft were not in evidence’.

Admiral Dénitz did not get his He.177’s; but it was some time
before his worst fears came true. Meanwhile those in charge of Royal
Air Force policy and operations made further efforts in two important
directions. The first was extremely profitable. The Air Staff—in the
person of Air Vice-Marshal J. C. Slessor, who undertook a special
mission to Washington—managed to speed up the supply of Liber-
ators. The second was attended with less success: Joubert tried to
bring the struggle against the U-boats under a unified Anglo-
American direction.

Dissatisfaction with the existing organization on the upper levels
was no novelty. It bad, for instance, already been voiced by the
Rt. Hon. S. M. Bruce. In memoranda to the War Cabinet in June and
July 1942 the Australian Representative urged that a small high-level
committee, wider than the existing Defence or Chiefs of Staff Com-
mittees, should be appointed to assess the relative importance of the
war at sea and the air offensive against Germany. Having cleared our
minds on that difficult and complex matter, Bruce suggested, we
should then approach the United States with proposals for a common
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policy to be carried out by a common effort. In September Joubert
carried this idea a stage further. He proposed a single supreme control
for the whole anti-U-boat war, with a central planning staff to co-
ordinate the separate and often conflicting policies of the British,
Canadian and American naval and air authorities, together with
those of the various Service authorities in such areas as the Mediter-
ranean, West Africa and Australia. The scheme was attractive in
theory, if liable to give rise to difficulties in practice; and it was
pursued for some months before being finally abandoned. In the
meantime a concession was made to the critics by the formation in
November of the War Cabinet Anti-U-boat Sub-Committee.
Under the chairmanship of the Prime Minister, this was normally
attended by the political and Service chiefs from the Admiralty and
Air Ministry, the Minister of War Transport, some distinguished
scientists (such as Lord Cherwell, Sir Robert Watson-Watt and
Professor Blackett), and political and naval representatives of the
United States. If not what Joubert had hoped for, this body certainly
managed to determine priority and secure departmental sanction
with great speed, leaving the Admiralty-Coastal Command Anti-
U-boat Committee to concentrate largely on technical and tactical
matters.!

In conformity with the spirit of these proposals for the higher
direction of the struggle, Joubert also achieved greater centralization
at a lower level. From the end of July details of sorties by V.L.R.
aircraft were decided by Coastal Command Headquarters, in
accordance with information supplied by the Admiralty, instead of
by the Coastal Group Commander in concert with the local naval
Commander-in-Chief. At the momentary cost of the Group Com-
manders’ feelings this made the most economical use of exceedingly
scarce aircraft.

While these matters of organization were under discussion the
struggle had once more taken a sharp turn in favour of the enemy.
The offensive in the Bay, which had promised so well with the advent
of the Leigh Light in June, was now petering out in failure.

This sombre development was not the result of greater activity by
the Luftwaffe, though that was real enough. In June German aircraft
had managed to intercept only three of our aircraft over the Bay, but
with the arrival of the twenty-four Ju.88’s which Donitz had wrung
from Gdring, opposition warmed up. In July our patrols had to fight
some twenty-five combats, in August thirty-three, and in September

! The War Cabinet Battle of the Atlanﬁc (,ommntee, after a burst of |mportant
decisions in the spring of 1941, had settled down into reviewing progress rather
than initiating fresh dcvelopments
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forty-four. But though our losses increased from eight aircraft in July
to sixteen in October, those of the enemy rose far more abruptly.
In July we destroyed over the Bay one German aircraft ; in August,
four ; in September, twelve ; and in November (when our own losses
were only seven), twelve again. All this was not accomplished without
sacrifices in other directions, for the whole effort of two Beaufighter
squadrons (Nos. 235 and 248) had to be directed against the enemy.
But it was worth diverting squadrons to new tasks when they could
record episodes like the following :

No. 235 Squadron. St. Eval. 18.9.42. Beaufighters N, C, A, H,E, P, J
and O. At 1755 hours, aircraft sighted F.W.200 Kurier on easterly
course, height 200 ft., over arm<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>